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Dear friends,

Even in 2021, the coronavirus pandemic remained the number one topic. However,
unlike the year before, people started focusing on its long-term impact and adjusting
to the so-called "new normal”. As a company, we focused on helping our employees
overcome the pandemic with the least possible negative impact on their physical and
mental health. Throughout 2021, we gave employees the opportunity to work from
home as much as they wanted, and our regular Health Week event was adapted to
focus on the impact of the pandemic on the health of our employees. We provided
all our employees with access to free consultations with psychologists, and we
reimbursed PCR tests for employees who needed to come to work.

From the perspective of the global economic situation, 2021 was more stable than
the year before. Even though many countries had to reimplement anti-pandemic
measures of varying strictness, companies were more prepared and markets
responded to them better than at the start of the pandemic. Because of this, we
managed to avoid last year's quarterly swings in revenue that we experienced in
some markets. This is one of the reasons why the ESET Group's consolidated revenue
saw a year-on-year increase of 4 % to €548 million.

In 2021, we continued recruiting people and by the end of the year our global number
of employees came close to two thousand. We managed to make progress in regard
to our planned priorities and innovations. For business customers, we added new
functionality to our flagship ESET PROTECT Cloud ecosystem. We prepared a cloud
version of our EDR (Endpoint Detection and Response) solution ESET Inspect. We
brought the option to also manage iOS devices, thus completing our support of all
important platforms. We also significantly improved our ESET LiveGuard technology,
which serves as extra protection against targeted attacks. We also focused on
improvements in our server protection product line, which was renamed to ESET
Server Security. We managed to expand ESET Endpoint Encryption with a new
supported platform, namely macOS. In October, we released new versions of our
products for home users with Windows OS, specifically ESET Internet Security, ESET
NOD32 Antivirus, and ESET Smart Security Premium. Together with these products,
we introduced the ESET HOME platform, which replaces the original myESET
customer portal. We also released new ESET HOME mobile apps for Android and
iOS, which are used for home device security management. We also introduced a
new version of ESET Mobile Security for Android.

Even last year, our researchers came up with important findings about complex
security threats. At the very beginning of the year, our researchers helped discover a
vulnerability of the Microsoft Exchange servers, which came as a shock to the global
IT community. In their follow-up research, our colleagues discovered a group of 10
undocumented malware families, which are implemented as malicious extensions
for the Internet Information Services (11S) web server software. These primarily
spread by abusing Microsoft Exchange email servers. Our researchers were also
among the first to inform about the critical vulnerability Log4Shell, and they provided
recommendations on how to fix it. They also helped uncover cyberattacks that
abused spyware developed by Candiru, and they discovered another UEFI threat,
which they named ESPectre.

In 2021, we organized the third edition of the ESET Science Award for outstanding
scientists. What made this edition special was our guest — world-renowned
physicist, Nobel prize laureate, and co-producer of the Hollywood movie “Interstellar”,



Professor Kip Thorne. On this occasion, we also organized Global Science Week in
Slovakia. This series of science lectures and discussions also included the science
event of the year — a discussion between Professor Kip Thorne and world-renowned
astrophysicist Brian Cox. At a very special fundraising dinner with Professor Thorne
Slovak entrepreneurs donated €220,000 to provide support to two exceptional
Slovak scientists applying for ERC grants. Global Science Week concluded with the
ESET Science Award Gala event, which was attended by prestigious personalities
from the world of science, as well as Slovak President Zuzana Caputova and Slovak
Prime Minister Eduard Heger.

In November, after several years of preparations, we presented the future form
of ESET Campus, our new headquarters. Even for this occasion, we managed to
invite a prestigious guest to Slovakia. ESET Campus was presented to the media by
world-renowned architect, founder, and director of the prestigious architectural
studio BIG, Bjarke Ingels. His team is the one we have tasked with taking our ideas
about our future headquarters and turning them into reality.

In the past year, we also finished preparing a change in ESET's global brand
proposition, which will be accompanied by a global marketing campaign. Our new
brand proposition (Progress. Protected.) was presented on individual markets in
early 2022. Our excitement about this change, which we had been preparing for
several years, turned into shock after Russian troops invaded Ukraine, an event
that shook the entire world. In response to the war, we decided to stop sales of
all of ESET's products in Russia and Belarus, withdrawing from these markets. We
also gave our Ukrainian business customers the option to upgrade their security
solutions to the top tiers, and we also extended licenses for home and business
customers that were about to expire. Our researchers helped uncover a whole series
of complex cyber threats targeting Ukrainian critical infrastructure. In addition to
all this, we also contributed to humanitarian aid. The ESET Foundation created a
fund for helping Ukrainian citizens, where it has so far allocated €700,000. Many
of our employees in several countries have participated in volunteering activities
to help people fleeing the war.

2021 was supposed to be the year when the world would slowly start to recover
to its pre-pandemic state. While these expectations were partially fulfilled, the
coronavirus is still here with us. Moreover, by the end of the year, we could already
see the first indications of threats in the form of economic problems caused by
growing inflation rates and an impending war conflict directly in Europe. Making
predictions is difficult, especially in regard to the future. However, as a representative
of ESET | can proclaim that in every situation we will do our best to mitigate the
effects of global crises on our employees, partners, and customers, and we will focus
on fulfilling our mission — creating a positive digital future and protecting progress.
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Net cash flows
Operating result z

Revenues from operating

€548 million (EB‘.U. activities
€86 million €98 million
+4% -7% +10%
Number of Number of
employees users
Over
1930 110 mil.

ESET achieving a company’s valuation of several billion euros is
the result of three key factors: the application of science, which
has led to the implementation of visionary technological leaps; a
global network of enthusiastic and loyal partners; and luck. Out
of these three ingredients, luck is the most important one. Having
the luck to form a team of skilled and dedicated people who share
a common dream is what turned this miracle into reality.




1.1. COMPANY CHARACTERISTICS

ESET is a global leader in the field of digital security and the largest supplier of
security solutions in the European Union. It is also the biggest and most reputable
IT company in Slovakia.

Its beginnings came in 1987, when Miroslav Trnka and Peter Pasko discovered one
of the first computer viruses in the world and they decided to write a program that
could detect it. This resulted in the very first version of the legendary NOD Antivirus.
ESET, spol. s r.o., was founded in 1992 by Miroslav Trnka, Peter Pasko, and Rudolf
Hruby, who are still the company’s co-owners. They were later joined by Richard
Marko, Maro$ Grund, and Anton Zajac. The company has been headquartered in
Bratislava ever since it was first established.

Since the early 1990s, the company has experienced dramatic growth and expansion
to foreign markets, while also establishing a network of exclusive partners,
distributors, and its own subsidiaries. Thanks to this network, ESET currently
operates in more than 200 countries and territories. Globally, the company employs
nearly 2,000 people, spread across 24 offices in 16 countries, out of which 13 are
research and development centers.

For more than 30 years, ESET has been developing leading-edge software and services
focusing on IT security and the protection of businesses, critical infrastructure, and
households all over the world from increasingly sophisticated digital threats. Offering
a wide range of solutions for endpoints and mobile devices, including services like
encryption and two-step authentication, ESET provides its customers with high-
performing and easy-to-use products that offer unintrusive protection 24 hours
a day. The company's security mechanisms are updated in real time so that users
are always safe and companies can operate without interruptions.

We consider education in the field of cyber security and digital skills to be a key
activity of ESET's responsible business in every country in which we operate. ESET
is a leader in corporate social responsibility in Slovakia. This area is managed by
the ESET Foundation, which primarily focuses on providing support in the fields of
science, research, and education. Since it was established in 2011, it has supported
612 projects with a total value of €3,434,475*.

* As of 31 December 2021
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1.2. ESET GROUP STRUCTURE

The ESET Group comprises of ESET, spol. s r.o. — the parent company headquartered
in Slovakia — and all its subsidiaries, which are involved in the distribution of antivirus
software, providing services as well as research and development activities (R&D

centers).
7,
[ oronto Y
RC  R&D San Diego .
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/ /"'
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/ /
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Ll Buenos Aires  R&D | RC

Headquarter

Bratislava (SK)

Regional Center

Bratislava (SK)

Europe

Bratislava (SK)

Global

San Diego (US)

| ez
o -

Research & Development

Bratislava (SK) Buenos Aires (AR)

san Diego (US) Kogice (SK) Buenos Aires (AR) Kogice (SK) Krakow (PL)
Buenos Aires (AR) Zilina (SK) Singapur (SG) Zilina (SK) Singapur (SG)
Singapur (SG) Brno (CZ) Toronto (CA) San Diego (US) Taunton (GB)

Jablonec nad Nisou (CZ)

Prague (CZ), 2 offices

Montreal (CA)

Melbourne (AUS)

Brno (CZ) Montreal (CA)

Jablonec nad Nisou (Cz)  lasi (RO)

Jena (DE) Sydney (AUS)
Munich (DE) Mexico City (MX)
Krakow (PL) Sao Paulo (BR)

Bournemouth (GB)

Tokio (JP)

Taunton (GB)
Milan (IT)

lasi (RO)
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PARENT COMPANY
ESET, spol. sr.0. (SK)

Regional Center (RC) and Research and Development Center (R&D)

SUBSIDIARIES

CORE BUSINESS

ESTABLISHED

EQUITY PARTICIPATION (%)

ESET, LLC

ESET Canada Recherche Inc.

ESET Canada Inc.

ESET Deutschland GmbH

ESET software spol. s r.o.

ESET Research Czech
Republic s.r.o.

ESET Polska Sp. z 0.0.

ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited ®

PGNB Limited @

ESET RESEARCH UK Limited

ESET Romania S.R.L.®

ESET ITALIAS.r.l.

Nadacia ESET

ESET ASIA PTE. LTD.

ESET Software Australia, PTY,
LTD.

ESET Japan Inc. @

ESET LATINOAMERICA S.R.L.®

ESET DO BRASIL
MARKETING LTDA ©

ESET MEXICO S.de R.L. de
CV.D

Antivirus software distributor

Research and development

Antivirus software distributor

Antivirus software distributor

Antivirus software distributor

Research and development

Research and development

Antivirus software distributor

Research and development

Research and development

Antivirus software distributor

Foundation

Service provider + Antivirus software
distributor

Antivirus software distributor

Service provider

Service provider

Service provider

Service provider

1999

201

2015

2012

2001

2012

2012

2016

201

2016

2019

2011

2010

2013

2017

2009

201

2017

2021

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

2020

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

90 %

100 %

100 %

100 %



1. ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited is a 100 % subsidiary of the
Parent Company as of 30 December 2020.

2. PGNB Limited did not carry out any business activity during the year
2021. In November 2021, an application was submitted for the voluntary
deletion of PGNB Limited from the commercial register. PGNB Limited
was struck off the UK Commercial Register on 19 April 2022.

3. The Parent Company owns 99.9963 % of the shares and ESET Research
Czech Republic s.r.o. owns 0.0037 % of the shares.

4. The parent company owns 90 % of the shares and Canon Marketing
Japan Inc. owns the remaining 10 % of the shares.

5. ESET, LLC owns 90 % of the shares and the Parent Company
owns the remaining 10 % of the shares.

6. The Parent Company owns 90 % of the shares and ESET,
LLC owns the remaining 10 % of the shares.

7. The Parent Company owns 90 % of the shares and ESET,
LLC owns the remaining 10 % of the shares.



MANAGEMENT

Richard Marko joined ESET in the early 1990s as a software developer while he
was still a university student, becoming one of the company'’s first employees. He
gradually became one of the authors of the ESET antivirus system and its scanning
engine. In 1998, he became the company’s main software architect and in 2008
he became its CTO. In 2011, when ESET's co-founders left their positions in active
management, Richard Marko became the company'’s first global CEO. He is also one
of the company's co-owners and a member of the procuration. In an independent
survey conducted by PwC and Forbes magazine, he has been voted the most
respected CEO of the year three times now.

Palo Luka studied software engineering at the Faculty of Electrical Engineering
and Information Technology at the Slovak University of Technology. While he was
still a student, he started working at ESET as a developer of the second-generation
16-bit NOD antivirus system for MS DOS, sold under the name NOD iCE. In 2008
he joined the company’s top management as its Chief Information Officer. From
this position, he managed the development of infrastructure and internal systems.
Since 2011, he was ESET's Chief Technology Officer, responsible for development
and research as well as product and service quality. Since January 2017, he has been
the company'’s Chief Operating Officer. In addition to management, he also focuses
on strategic investments.
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Juraj Malcho joined ESET as a computer virus analyst in 2004, when he was still
studying at university. Gradually, he came to focus on the recruitment and training
of new employees, and he also contributed to the establishment of ESET's Virus
Lab, which he led since 2008. In 2011, he became the company’s Chief Research
Officer. In addition to being responsible for the detection and research of threats,
he was also put in charge of the development of key technologies. He moved to
his current position of Chief Technology Officer in 2017. He is a member of several
research and working groups, including CARO, IEEE ICSG, and AMTSO. He has held
lectures at numerous specialized conferences organized by Virus Bulletin, AVAR,
and ISOI, and even for NATO.

Ignacio Sbampato joined ESET in 2004 as the company's Vice President for Latin
America, contributing to the establishment of this regional ESET headquarters,
which he later led as its CEO. He also helped establish branches in Argentina, Brazil,
and Mexico, while also expanding our network of partners in individual markets
in this region. Since 2017, he has been ESET's Chief Business Officer, leading sales,
marketing, and customer care all over the world. He has also helped establish ESET
branches in Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, Australia, and Japan.
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Martin Balusik is a graduate of accounting and auditing from the Faculty of Economic
Informatics at the University of Economics in Bratislava. In early 2019, he joined
ESET as its Deputy CFO, only to become the company’s Chief Financial Officer a
year later. In addition to supervising the financial condition of the company, he
also participates in strategic planning and the evaluation of investments across
the ESET Group.

Vladimir Paulen graduated from Clemson University in South Carolina, and in 2004
he joined ESET North America as its Tech Support and IT Manager. He spent seven
years in ESET's North American branch, where he later also held the positions of
Operations Manager and Vice President of Operations. In 2011, he came to the
company's headquarters in Bratislava to work as ESET's Chief Information Officer, a
position he has held ever since. His task is supervising the company’s IT infrastructure
all over the world.
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STATUTORY BODY

REGISTERED EQUITY CAPITAL STRUCTURE BY PARTNERS IN THE
REPORTING PARENT COMPANY

EUR % %
Miroslav Trnka 31850 22,750 22,750
Rudolf Hruby 30 800 22,000 22,000
Peter Pasko 30 800 22,000 22,000
Maro$ Grund 16 975 12,125 12,125
Richard Marko 16 975 12,125 12,125
Anton Zajac 12 600 9,000 9,000
Equity capital registered in the Commercial Register: 140 000 EUR

Equity capital not registered in the Commercial Register: -

17/ESET GROUP PROFILE



1.3. VALUES, VISION, AND MISSION

Showing an interest in the things going on in society and
promoting values such as decency, ethics, and fairness brings
companies prosperity. Systematic philanthropic support
and getting involved in public matters gives companies the
power to truly influence the progress of society.
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THE ESET VALUES

COURAGE

We don't take the easy
way. We constantly
push boundaries and are

determined to make a
difference.

RELIABILITY

People need to know that
they can count on us. We
work hard to live up to our

promises, and to build trust

INTEGRITY

We encourage honesty
and fairness in everything
we do. We have an ethical

approach to business.

PASSION

We're passionate, driven,
and determined to make
a difference. We believe in
ourselves and what we do.

and rapport.

X

These brand values are based on the vision of the company’s founders and
co-owners, which has remained unchanged for almost 30 years. ESET's goal
is to make sure that everybody can enjoy the breathtaking opportunities that
technology offers.

THE ESET VISION

Nasim pouzivatelom umoznime vyuZivat cely ich potencial a moznosti technolégii
v bezpecnom digitalnom svete.

THE ESET MISSION

Working with ethical and passionate people, we are building a safer technology
environment for everyone to enjoy. We are doing this through education and our
commitment to research and development.

OUR PLEDGE

We believe in technology — and we want to make sure that you can enjoy it in safety.
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2. KEY EVENTS AT
ESET IN 2021




AWARDS

ESET Internet Security recognized
with Qutstanding Product Award by
AV-Comparatives

ESET named a “Strategic Leader” in
AV-Comparatives' EPR test

ESET receives Top Product awards

AVATEST for ESET Endpoint Security and ESET

Internet Security

ESET recognized as a Top Player in
T i B T Radicati APT Protection Market
& D e Sl § i Quadrant 2021

ESET cements its “Champion” status
in the Canalys Global Cybersecurity
Leadership Matrix 2021

’)M -)IA ESET named a “Challenger” in Omdia
Mobile Security Management Solutions
Report

ESET earns top award in SE Labs’
&4 SF | abs Enterprise Endpoint Protection test

-lR TrustRadius ESET earljs a 2021 Tech Care.s 'Award from
TrustRadius for its CSR activities

= ESET named a “Major Player” in
;IDC two Modern Endpoint Security IDC
MarketScape reports
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CORPORATE NEWS

The ECSO “Cybersecurity Made in Europe” label
is awarded to ESET

ESET Science Award Laureates announced, led
by Nobel Prize Laureate Kip Thorne

ESET brings together experts from European
institutions to jointly address current cyber
threats in ESET European Cybersecurity Day
event

ESET and BIG-Bjarke Ingels Group present
plans for ESET Campus: innovation and
technology hub in the heart of Europe
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3. CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY AT
ESET




In 2021, ESET started preparing its global environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) strategy. In cooperation with the Boston College Center for Corporate
Citizenship, we conducted a peer review and benchmark analysis of our competition.
Based on a survey conducted among internal stakeholders, we identified key areas
and programs that will serve as the key pillars of our strategy. In the upcoming
period, these topics will be validated by both internal and external stakeholders
and used to formulate strategic goals. Creating a long-term global ESG strategy
will allow us to track, continuously measure, and improve our company culture,
decrease our environmental impact, develop programs focusing on education in
the field of cybersecurity, and provide long-term support and development for
science, research, and innovation, thus ensuring their positive impact on society.
The goal of ESET's ESG strategy is to build a world with strong digital competence.

ESET'S ESG STRATEGY IS DIVIDED INTO FOUR PILLARS:
1. Education

2. Science and research, innovation, and technology

3. Company culture, diversity, and inclusion
4

Environmental sustainability

Q Volunteering and ethical values are tightly intertwined with all four pillars of this

@ strategy.

BUILDING DIGITALLY RESILIENT WORLD

T SCIENCE, INNOVATION
= FPUCATION 5‘% & TECHNOLOGY

. o IT Security technology & data protection

o Cyber security awareness Al v gy P '
o Digital skills education : R
o Science popularization

o Safer Kids Online . . S .
o Cooperation with scientists and academia

o We Live Security

o

o
@g COMPANY CULTURE |E@|' ENVIRONMENTAL

\\/4 ﬁ? & DIVERSITY SUSTAINABILITY

o Internal processes and policies o Energy efficiency

(recruitment procedures, career

. ) o Waste management
progression, leadership)

: G o Carbon footprint

o Internal capacity builiding and P

awareness o Employee engagement & volunteering

o Employee resource groups
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ETHICS AT THE CORE OF OUR BUSINESS

ESET considers ethics to be the foundation of its business. We have managed to gain
the respect of our partners and the general public by being a company with a firm
set of ethical values ever since being first established. In addition to upholding moral
and ethical standards, we have also implemented numerous rules and guidelines, and
we monitor compliance with legislation so that our activities not only comply with
the laws of the countries where we operate, but they go beyond what is required.

The values, principles, and company culture we follow on a daily basis are formalized
and written down in our Code of Conduct, which has been in effect since 1January
2019. All employees have been familiarized with its principles by the company CEO.
In 2020, we committed to create a custom online training focusing on the principles
of our Code of Conduct and ethical business, one that all employees from the Slovak
ESET headquarters would undergo. Due to the pandemic crisis of 2020, when we
had to prioritize providing the necessary infrastructure, conditions, and support
for working from home, we decided to move this goal to 2021 instead. Another
goal of ours is the preparation of our Global Code of Conduct, which will unify the
ethical principles and company culture of all ESET branches, replacing all existing
guidelines on ethical conduct and business throughout the whole ESET Group. The
release of our Global Code of Conduct is planned for 2022, and it will be followed by
a training session focusing on ethical conduct and compliance for the employees
of all ESET Group branches.

We have a zero-tolerance approach to corruption when dealing with employees and
contractual partners. We are only interested in working with contractual partners
who share the same values. In Slovakia, we have not recorded any incidents of unfair
practices or corruption among our employees or business partners. In this context,
no employees were dismissed and no business partner contracts were terminated
due to corruption in the previous year.

In recent years, ESET has had to deal with attacks from public officials who were
spreading falsehoods and disinformation regarding the private activities of ESET's
owners, who had contributed to the fight against corruption, transparently endorsed
candidates for public offices, and supported independent journalism. In some of
these cases, ESET filed defamation charges.

3.1. EDUCATION

At ESET, we consider cybersecurity education and digital skills vital for the
development of not only Slovakia, but every country where we operate. By supporting
high-quality education, together with long-term and persistent efforts to increase
the public's interest in these topics, we try to contribute to a better, innovative, and
modern country that will be successful and able to attract talent.

ESET AROUND THE WORLD

SUPPORTING DIGITAL SECURITY EDUCATION

Safer Kids Online (SKO) is a global initiative that is currently active in the United
States, Europe, the Middle East, and Asia-Pacific. In 2021, the program included the
following countries: Italy, Australia, the Netherlands, Romania, Turkey, Singapore,
Germany, the United Kingdom, the United States and Canada, Slovakia, Slovenia,
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Argentina, Brazil, and New Zealand. An alternative initiative under the title Digipadres
has been active in the Latin American region since 2017, and since 2019 it has also
been available in Portuguese. It is a platform with resources for children, parents,
and teachers that focuses on creating a safer online environment for children. Its
website and newsletter include blogs, videos, advice for parents, and expertise,
helping children to safely make use of the full potential of the internet. Our ultimate
goal is to become a valuable resource, especially for parents and teachers. In many
countries including Slovakia, we strive to support communities and schools and
multiply the reach of our initiative through direct instruction by teachers. In the
coming years, we will continue to localize outputs of this initiative to the other
markets where ESET operates

Thanks to its activities in 2021, the Safer Kids Online initiative managed to reach 11 % of
all parents with children aged 5 to 15 in the countries where the program was active.

As part of the SKO initiative, in the United Kingdom we launched a project that
focuses on sponsoring an educational app created in cooperation with the non-profit
organization Internet Matters. This cooperation is planned to last a minimum of three
years, its goal being to meet the requirements of the new UK national curriculum and
also to offer tools that will allow the curriculum content to be effectively distributed
to children and their parents. ESET and Internet Matters will use a web application
to cover several important topics, such as Online Relationships, Privacy and Security,
Online Harassment, and Managing Online Information. This app represents another
tangible product with a real educational impact created as part of the Safer Kids
Online initiative.

In Slovenia, we launched a campaign starring Pika, the daughter of former ski jumping
world champion Robert Kranjec. The campaign also took place on Facebook. Every
Thursday in July, ESET organized a summer school for 20 children. We also organized
a competition for primary school pupils 7 to 9. Selected teams created short videos
focusing on the topic of cybersecurity. All these videos were then published on
Facebook, and those that received the most likes were rewarded with a snowboarding
trip with Zan Kosir, one of the best alpine snowboarders. In 2021, two classes with
a total of 44 students received this reward.

w

In Romania, back in December 2020 we launched a social media competition with
the goal of gaining new followers and increasing the reach of our content. Conducted
in cooperation with our media partner Computerblog, in 2021 the initiative gained
381 new followers.
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Since October 2020, ESET Netherlands has been working with HackShield, a Dutch
cybersecurity game, in which children aged 8 to 12 train to become Junior Cyber
Agents. In addition to sponsoring the HackShield Foundation, ESET Netherlands also
provides its expertise to the project by creating content for this educational game.
The game increases children’s resilience against online crime and teaches them
everything about online security, aiming to raise a generation fluent in cybersecurity.

In 2021, ESET successfully participated in Hackshield, a large event with approximately
500 visitors, allowing us to form 200 new business relationships and launch a
successful competition with as many as 64 children competing, which resulted in
a total of 6,000 levels played.
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The ESET branch in Australia has a long-term cooperation with the K-Zone magazine.
In October, they conducted an extensive survey focusing on digital security for Safer
Kids Online. As many as 2,383 Australian children aged 6 to 13 participated in the
survey. The survey measured the children’s cyber well-being, their online behavior,
their understanding of cyber threats, and their attitudes towards popular social
media and games.

In the North Americaregion, during Cybersecurity Awareness Month we organized
a series of activities and competitions that resulted in more than 260 new followers.

As part of the Digipadres project in Latin America, we were invited to actively
participate in two events: “TED Entramar: Teachers to Teachers, Without Borders”,
where we presented “Practical Advice for a Safe Virtual School” and a workshop
titled “I'm a Cybermom”, which was organized by Asociacion Iberoamericana de
Proteccion de Datos (the Ibero-American Association for Data Protection). We
mainly talked about how to prevent digital violence and guide children online.

WE ALSO CREATED NEW CONTENT FOCUSING ON THE FOLLOWING TOPICS:
1. How accessible are various layers of the internet to children?

2. Modern classrooms: How to protect our children from technology?

3. Is technology making you feel distant from your children?

4. Parent sharing: How it influences your children’s future

5. Smart watches: How to pick the right one for your children?

6. Are your children gamers?



7. ldentity theft also concerns children

8. The danger of false information and how to help children to recognize it
9. Zoom and webcams: How to protect underage children

10. Online harassment: What is cyberbullying and how to stop it

11 Back to school: Allies in your organization

12. How safe are your sons and daughters when gaming?

13. How to create strong passwords?

The Digipadres platform had more than 642,538 sessions from 783 users.

ESET ANTIVIRUS TOUR

The most important educational activity in the region of Latin America is the ESET
Antivirus Tour. Since 2004, our experts on online security in various countries of the
region have been organizing a series of free seminars at universities that focus on
technology and information systems, the goal being to offer up-to-date information
about malware analysis and information security. Since 2004, the project has had
more than 10,000 participants at 102 universities in 15 Latin American countries,
and the seminars have reached over 90,000 students.

SUPPORTING THE EDUCATION OF CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE

In the region of North America, we have been closely cooperating with the non-
profit organization Promises2Kids for several years now. The organization utilizes
various means of supporting local foster youths in San Diego County. One of its
programs, titled Guardian Scholars, focuses on young people who have already
left the foster care system, supporting them throughout their college studies. The
children in foster care participating in this program have a more than 80 % success
rate in finishing their college studies, compared to a mere 8 % success rate among
students from foster care who are not participating. In addition to other recipients
of the Guardian Scholarship, ESET sponsored Brooklyn Lopez throughout her entire
college studies.
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ESET SLOVAKIA

BEZPECNE NA NETE (SAFE ON THE WEB)

2021 marked the second year when the global Safer Kids Online initiative was
implemented in Slovakia through an educational project titled Bezpecne na nete
(Safe on the Web) and an online platform of the same name - bezpecnenanete.sk. The
main goal of the project is to present online safety topics in an easy-to-understand
way, while also producing content and carrying out communication activities to
increase awareness about these topics among the Slovak public.

In 2021, in addition to the original target groups (the general population aged 15+,
parents, and children), our content also focused on teachers.

THE EDUCATIONAL ACTIVITIES CARRIED OUT AS PART OF THE BEZPECNE
NA NETE PROJECT IN 2021 FOCUSED ON THREE MAIN AREAS :

1. Content creation

Every month, we worked on one large security topic for a general target audience.
We brought educational content in the form of articles, interviews with experts,
infographics, and podcasts. We also prepared special video series for children,
namely Zvieracia galaxia Animalia (Animal Galaxy Animalia) and Elias medzi dvomi
svetmi (Elias Between Two Worlds). In October, a new section specifically meant
for teachers was added to the website. In 2021, we created as many as 118 unique
articles as part of the bezpecnenanete.sk platform. This number is even higher if
we include the editorial content that was created in addition to the core content as
part of the media collaborations mentioned in section 2 and the specialized activities
aimed at promoting the educational content mentioned in section 3.

2. Communication and cooperation with the media

We used ESET's own channels for distribution, such as its social media profiles, as
well as widely targeted paid formats (online/offline advertising and native formats).

The strength of our communication activities lay in our continuous cooperation
with several media outlets in Slovakia, which brought one specific topic from the
Bezpecne na nete platform to their readers every month, presenting it in their unique
editorial style. A total of 11 media outlets published almost 130 media outputs. In
2021, the bezpecnenanete.sk portal itself had more than 165,000 unique visitors.
Our supporting social media activities for the Bezpecne na nete initiative had a total
organic reach of more than 1 million users and a paid reach of 2 million unique users.

3. Supporting educational content

In October 2021, we launched a special section for teachers on the Bezpecne na nete
portal. In addition to articles, this section also includes comprehensive educational
materials that have been prepared by ESET experts in cooperation with experts on
psychology and teaching with the goal of contributing to a better education about
digital threats. Together with the Digital Security Handbook for primary school
teachers, teachers can also make use of practical exercises that will teach students
about the pitfalls of the digital era in an interactive form. In order to allow as many
teachers and students as possible to make use of these educational materials, ESET
also distributed physical copies of the handbook and exercises to all primary schools
and eight-year grammar schools in Slovakia.

Until November 2021, we continued to work with the SME daily on a specialized
podcast titled Klik (Click), where we collaborated with the editors and used attractive
content to present one security topic every month. Not only did the podcast include
guest experts from ESET, but also professionals from a variety of other fields.

After providing financial support and our expertise to help publish a book titled
Viete, €o robia vase deti? Velka prirucka rodi¢a (Do You Know What Your Children
Are Doing? The Big Handbook for Parents) in 2020, in 2021 we provided follow-up
support with communication surrounding the book. We also provided a 50 %
discount for this well-produced book to customers who had bought ESET's home
security products.



SUPPORTING TEACHERS IN THE AREA OF DIGITAL SKILLS

In 2021, as a member of the Digital Skills initiative organized by Business Leaders
Forum (BLF), we and other partners continued to show Slovak teachers how to
teach digital skills.
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The Digital Skills project

In 2021, ESET's experts helped organize three Code.org trainings (with as many as
1,700 teachers trained since 2016) and three Digital Security trainings (with a total
of 1,400 teachers trained since 2019).

In August 2020, we launched a pilot project of digital competence coordinators
at schools, with the goal of improving the digital maturity of schools and making
more effective use of digital technology in the educational process. As one of the
project partners, ESET organizes trainings on digital security.
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The Digital Competence Coordinator project

In 2021, a total of 181 participants attended trainings led by expert volunteers from
ESET.

COOPERATION WITH UNIVERSITIES

Since 2015, ESET has been working with the Slovak Technical University in Bratislava
and Comenius University in Bratislava. The ESET Research Center has top ESET
experts teaching subjects such as Reverse Engineering and Programming in C++,
which are available to students of three faculties (FIIT and FEI at the Slovak Technical
University, FMFI at Comenius University). In 2021, our experts spent a total of
336 hours remotely teaching Programming in C++. In the winter semester of the
2021/2022 academic year, 8 experts from ESET helped with the other course, Reverse
Engineering Fundamentals.

As part of our cooperation with the Faculty of Business Management at the
University of Economics in Bratislava, as a leader in ethical management among
Slovak universities, our financial division helps to prepare lectures for the Corporate
Controlling course at the university. In the summer semester, second-year master's
students could take this elective directly at the ESET headquarters, thus enabling
them to see a modern, practice-oriented system of corporate controlling.

In 2020, ESET joined the ENLIGHT university network as one of two associated
partners of Comenius University. The ENGLIGHT network has received support
from European Universities, an initiative of the European Commission. It is part of
the wider Erasmus+ program and its goal is to support the formation of “European
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universities”, a term referring to universities that will enable students to gain a
university education by combining studies in several EU member states. The network
connects nine universities from nine different countries all over Europe.

ENLIGHT's mission is to create new models and methods of education and research
with the goal of solving global challenges. The project examines the complexissues
of sustainability that many cities and communities are currently facing.

In 2021, ESET identified 5 challenges in regard to “the digital revolution and the
impacts of digitization”, out of which the project coordinators selected one challenge
and initiated further discussion about it on a global level. In May 2022, an event
titled ENLIGHT European Dialogue will take place in the Swedish city of Uppsala,
where associated partners and academicians from partner universities will look for
global solutions to these issues.

SUPPORTING KEY PROJECTS IN EDUCATION

ESET is an active member of the Slovensko.Digital association, which aims to simplify
the state’s digital services and make the use of public resources for these services
more transparent and efficient. Expert volunteers from ESET are helping with the
digitization of public administration processes through two projects — Navody.
Digital and Red Flags. The Navody.Digital project aims to help people navigate the
confusing complex of e-government services by creating simple manuals. The Red
Flags project focuses on systematically evaluating computerization projects in
public administration and identifying critical spots and potential risks.
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Slovensko.Digital

In 2021, activities organized by the Slovensko.Digital association as part of the Red
Flags and Navody.Digital projects received the help of 7 expert volunteers from
ESET, who spent more than 102 hours in total volunteering.

Led by mentors, the First Lego League (FLL) is the most accessible worldwide
competition in the field of robotics. The program is based on challenges with various
topics, aiming to engage children and young people aged 4 to 16 in research, problem
solving, programing, and technical skills. The goal is to get as many children and
young people as possible excited about science, technology, and mathematics (STEM).
In the upcoming period, the project will primarily focus on increasing the number
of teams, including teams from disadvantaged environments and regions, as well
as eliminating the barriers that prevent potential new teams from participating in
the competition.

ESET supports the First Lego League in Slovakia through the ESET Foundation. In
2021, the provided financial support was used to buy LEGO sets for schools and
educational organizations. Sets were donated to 66 school teams, and 34 sets were
used to develop and organize regional tournaments. In 2021, ESET's own First Lego
League team suspended its activities due to the pandemic, but it aims to participate
in the tournament in the 2022/23 school year.
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3.2. SCIENCE AND RESEARCH, INNOVATION,
AND TECHNOLOGY

3.2.1. SCIENCE AND RESEARCH

The support and popularization of science is one of the key topics that ESET also
focuses on through its foundation. For the third year in a row, the main pillar of
this area has been the ESET Science Award, an annual award for outstanding
scientists in Slovakia that raises awareness about the benefits that excellent
scientists bring to Slovakia and the international community, while also showing
the public the irreplaceable importance and impact of scientific work. The project's
activities — organized throughout the year and culminating in the award ceremony in
October — aim to popularize science and research, while also highlighting the work
of outstanding scientists in Slovakia. Every year, we also support science through
regular calls for grants aimed at the scientific community. In 2021, we established
a new endowment fund that focuses on supporting science in Slovakia.

ESET SCIENCE AWARD

The ESET Science Award serves to recognize the work of leading-edge scientists
who are symbols of excellence in science both in Slovakia and on an international
scale. Their scientific work and results are beneficial for various parts of society. The
third ESET Science Award ceremony took place on Saturday, 16 October 2021in
the Slovak Philharmonic in Bratislava. Once again, the ceremony served as a link
between art and science, providing both an intellectual and an artistic experience.
What made it possible for the event to run smoothly even during the COVID-19
pandemic was the fact that all anti-pandemic measures in place were followed.
This edition marked the first time the event was broadcast by the RTVS public
broadcasting service, thus even allowing TV spectators to be part of the ceremony.
A recording of the ceremony can be found on the award'’s website.

In 2021, ESET Science Award was once again organized under the auspices of Slovak
President Zuzana Caputova. The awards ceremony was attended by the Slovak
president, Slovak Prime Minister Eduard Heger, foreign ambassadors, and other
important representatives of the government, science, and academia.

Laureates in three categories — Outstanding Scientist in Slovakia, Outstanding
Scientist in Slovakia Under the Age of 35, and Outstanding Academic in Slovakia
- were selected based on a demanding evaluation process that took into account
a whole complex of criteria, such as the contribution of their scientific research to
society, measurable scientometric data and scientific performance, participation
in significant international research projects, making Slovak science and research
more prominent abroad, or — in the case of university teachers - their teaching
skills, teaching innovations, and student feedback.

The award in the main category — Outstanding Scientist in Slovakia - for 2021
went to Jan Dusza, who works at the Institute of Materials Research of the Slovak
Academy of Sciences in KoSice, where he focuses on researching and developing
progressive ceramic materials. The award in the Outstanding Scientist in Slovakia
Under the Age of 35 category went to Ladislav Valkovi¢. He conducts research
at the Institute of Measurement Science of the Slovak Academy of Sciences in
Bratislava, as well as at the Oxford Center for Clinical Magnetic Resonance Research
at Oxford University, working on the development and application of non-invasive
methods of measuring tissue metabolism using magnetic resonance imaging. The
Outstanding Academic in Slovakia award went to Jozef Zajac from the Faculty
of Manufacturing Technologies at the Technical University in KoSice, whose main
area of scientific research is progressive manufacturing technologies, including the
possibilities and ways of using them in practice.

32/CORPORATE SOCIALRESPONSIBILITY AT ESET



Winners of the 2021 ESET Science Award From left to right: Jozef Zajac, Jan Dusza,
Ladislav Valkovic. Photo: Linda Kiskovd BohuSovd

AN EXCELLENT INTERNATIONAL JURY

After last year's online announcement of the winners, this year the ceremony was
attended in person by a complete and exclusive international jury. The jury selected
laureates in two categories: Outstanding Scientist in Slovakia and Outstanding
Scientist in Slovakia Under the Age of 35

For the second year in a row now, the jury was headed by Professor Kip Thorne,
a world-renowned expert on gravitational physics and astrophysics, who had
received the Nobel Prize in Physics in 2017 for the first direct detection and
observation of gravitational waves.

Other members of the international jury were also internationally known scientists

- biologist Fiona Watt, the director of the Center for Stem Cells and Regenerative
Medicine at King's College in London; chemist and philanthropist Hana Dvorakova,
who has helped create one of the most effective drugs against HIV and currently
works at the University of Chemistry and Technology in Prague; Ralf Riedel, professor
of inorganic chemistry at the Institute of Materials Science at the Technical University
of Darmstadt; and Tibor Krisztin, a professor of mathematics at the Bolyai Institute
of the University of Szeged.

The laureate in the Outstanding Academic in Slovakia category was selected by a
committee consisting of representatives of Slovak universities.

During the ESET Science Award ceremony, Slovakia was also visited by several
other important personalities from the world of international science, who also
help increase awareness about Slovak science all over the world. These were
the ambassadors of our award: Michal Valko, a renowned expert on Al research
who works in the prestigious Paris-based laboratory DeepMind; Pavel Cheben, a
world-renowned expert on integrated optics, silicon photonics, nanophotonics,
and biophotonic sensors who works at the National Research Council in Canada;
husband-and-wife duo Hana and Dalimil Dvorak, founders of the Experientia
Foundation, which supports young scientists working with organic chemistry. Due
to the pandemic, the first ambassador of the award, a legend in robotics and Al
from the University of California, Berkeley, Professor Ruzena Bajcsy had to watch
the ESET Science Award ceremony online.
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SCIENCE WEEK SLOVAKIA

Before the Science Week event, we organized a writing competition with the topic:
“Is science the solution to all of humanity’s challenges?” Almost 80 people submitted
short essays presenting their opinions. The winning essay was selected by the head
of the international committee for the 2021 ESET Science Award and laureate of
the Nobel Prize in Physics, Professor Kip Thorne.

We kicked off Science Week with a press conference where Professor Kip Thorne
met with talented young physicists. On 12 October, Science Week continued with
a scientific discussion on the topic: “Is science the solution to all of humanity’s
challenges?” wProfessor Thorne discussed this topic in the historical building of
the Slovak National Theater in Bratislava together with famed Professor Brian
Cox, physicist, English science popularizer, and star host of BBC series and science
shows. This discussion was livestreamed to the public and watched by people all
over the world. Anyone, anywhere in the world could ask questions.
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Professor Thorne received the Grand Gold Medal at the Comenius University in
Bratislava. On this occasion, the scientific community could listen to his lecture
titled My profound relationship with the curved universe: from black holes
and wormholes to time travel and gravitational waves. After the lecture,
professors Kip Thorne and Brian Cox held a gala lunch with members of the
academia and the scientific community.

THE ESET FOUNDATION'S ENDOWMENT FUND FOR SUPPORTING
SCIENCE

ESET and its owners realize how important science is for the country’s progress.
Connecting private donors with outstanding scientists is a new and much-needed
format of supporting science and research in Slovakia. Therefore, in late 2021, the ESET
Foundation established the Endowment Fund for Supporting Science.

The creation of this fund is a continuation of our previous activities aimed at supporting
science, and it brings us another useful tool for developing the science and research



ecosystem. Its goal is to support groundbreaking projects of Slovak scientists that can
contribute to significant scientific results and increase their competitiveness within
the international scientific community. The endowment fund strives to connect
individual private donors and responsible companies with exceptional scientists
active in Slovakia.

Individual donors to this endowment fund were given the opportunity to have a
discussion with astrophysics legend and Nobel Prize laureate Professor Kip Thorne.
At this first fundraising event organized by the ESET Foundation’'s Endowment Fund
for Supporting Science, ESET's co-founders and other successful Slovak entrepreneurs
contributed with a total sum of €220,000.

Afterwards, the endowment fund was used to support two leading-edge scientists
whose research may yield them prestigious ERC grants: Mgr. Martin Venhart, PhD.
from the Institute of Physics of the Slovak Academy of Sciences, and Mgr. Miroslav
Balaz, PhD. from the Biomedical Research Center of the Slovak Academy of Sciences.
Support from the endowment fund will help them become competitive in the
demanding international environment.

ETHICS IN SCIENCE AND RESEARCH

Back in 2019, ESET joined a working group established by the Slovak Center of Scientific
and Technical Information (CVTI SR) as part of the SK4ERA project with the goal of
preparing a national document reflecting the current needs of scientific culture and
integrity. After the process had been slowed down by the pandemic, in October 2021
a signing ceremony took place at the Bratislava Castle, adopting the Declaration on
Strengthening Scientific Integrity in Slovakia. By signing the document, 30 signatories
pledged to follow the outlined ethical standards. The event was organized under the
auspices of Slovak President Zuzana Caputova.

In 2022, the implementation of these standards will become an integral part of the
evaluation process for the ESET Science Award.

3.2.2. INNOVATION

Last year, we continued strengthening our cooperation with the Kempelen Institute
of Intelligent Technologies (KInIT). Our cooperation was primarily successful in regard
to classifying binary files, as well as online threats. We also fostered our cooperation
in researching machine learning applications with the Technical University in
Ostrava. When applying and researching machine learning and artificial intelligence,
we do not just limit our activities to computer security, but we also try to utilize our
expertise in the field of medicine. We successfully cooperated with the National
Institute of Children’s Diseases, in particular with the Clinic of Children’s Pneumology
and Phthisiology. The results of this cooperation were also presented at a conference
organized by the British Machine Vision Association in Manchester. We also started
a successful professional collaboration with the Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology
at the General University Hospital in Prague.

3.2.3. TECHNOLOGY
PRODUCTS FOR BUSINESS CUSTOMERS

In 2021, we increased the frequency of adding new functions to our flagship product
for business customers — ESET PROTECT Cloud, our console for managing corporate
endpoints. In the first half of the year, we brought the option to also manage iOS
devices, thus completing our support of all the relevant platforms. We increased the
maximum number of devices connected to one console to 25,000, which came as a
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pleasant change for many large customers. We also brought support for automatic
endpoint updates with the goal of simplifying device management, while also always
providing the newest functionality. We significantly improved support for ESET
Dynamic Threat Defense (an extra layer of protection against targeted attacks) in
the console by providing a simpler way to turn on the functionality, the option for
new customers to try out this layer, and a dedicated control panel for this function.
Last but not least, we significantly simplified the way protection is first applied to
endpoints, thus making the console easy to use even for the smallest customers.

In addition to all this, throughout the year we also brought many smaller improvements
and performance optimizations.

Our product line for business customers with Windows OS - ESET Endpoint
Antivirus/Security - came with a long-prepared change in the way the whole app
and product are updated. It is a significant change, since version 9 the product is
now pre-configured to dynamically install new versions, as long as the administrator
wishes to allow this function, of course. In a business environment, great emphasis
was placed on finding a balance between stability and the release of updates, as
well as specific requirements — administrators can now make use of a more reliable
installation method, and even automate the whole process, which has a key impact
on the regular maintenance of the product and the time consumption associated
with it. In a time when remote work was especially important, we focused on special
protection for remote access (RDP — remote desktop and the SMB protocol), as well
as the resilience of these services against password guessing, something that often
used to be a function only offered by specialized tools and firewalls. With the arrival of
Windows 11, we also tried to offer full support for this updated operating system. The
Windows operating system, but this time using the new ARM processor architecture,
is also related to another development in our business solutions, which have entered
a new segment and now offer fully native support along with remote management.
This allows customers to try a new category of devices without having to compromise
on security since they can make use of services from a tried-and-tested supplier.

In ESET Endpoint Security for macOS, we focused on supporting the new macOS 11
operating system, which comes with a significant change in how apps interact with
the system itself. We also continued developing a new generation of our products
for macOS, based on the microservice architecture, which opens several possibilities
for improving our products for the macOS platform more quickly and efficiently. Our
first next-gen product will be released in March 2022.

Customers using endpoints running Linux can now make use of an integration with
ESET LiveGuard designed to mitigate new threats, and we developed the Secure Boot
mechanism, which focuses on authenticating and securing the trustworthiness of
code launched using firmware. We also focused on improving the app, which now
offers the option to view the state of new updates.

In 2021, we also focused on improvements in our server protection product line. We
changed the name of ESET File Security products and gave them a more fitting title:
ESET Server Security. Our security products for Windows Server and the SharePoint
platform were updated with the new Micro Program Component Updates technology,
which makes it possible to automatically distribute product updates if new security
packages are available, without the need for any user interaction. We also brought
the new Network Isolation function, which gives users the option to isolate a server
from the network in certain critical situations as a preventive measure. We also
added support for the new Windows Server 2022 operating system, as well as the
new version of SharePoint Subscription Edition. Similarly to our product for endpoints,
ESET Server Security for Linux also received integration with ESET LiveGuard. We also
developed protection for containers that can detect threats and suspicious activities
in Docker containers, blocking them in real time.
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In mid-2021, we integrated ESET Dynamic Threat Defense (EDTD) with our other
products on the Linux platform. Towards the end of the year, we added support for
ESET Cloud Office Security and ESET Smart Security Premium. In our ESET PROTECT
console, we expanded the dashboards, which now provide a better overview of how
EDTD is being used around the world. We also provide users with more information
about the way our cloud analysis functions and how potentially dangerous samples
are evaluated by the individual detection layers.

When it comes to the world of encryption, in 2021 we focused on several topics.
In November 2021, we managed to add macOS as a new supported platform for
ESET Endpoint Encryption, where users can utilize the native FileVault2 encryption
method. We released Client for macOS endpoints, and we also brought compatibility
with Client for macOS to our Server product. In ESET Full Disk Encryption, we added
automatic module updates, the option to run an installer with a predefined password
and keyboard map, as well as the ability to generate passwords to reset encryption
directly in the ESET PROTECT console. Last but not least, we added a long-requested
function that allows users to repeat the encryption process with one click directly in
the ESET PROTECT console.

When it comes to our EDR (Endpoint Detection and Response) tool ESET Inspect,
2021 was mainly about the implementation of our long-term visions — whether it was
the development of a cloud version, which will allow us to meet the needs of newly
available customers, or analyzing and planning the next evolutionary step — XDR
(Extended Detection and Response). Both of these directions and our work on them
bore fruitin 2022. However, we also brought new, improved functions for our existing
on-premise solution, providing version 1.6 to our customers. This version introduced
avariety of functions, such as an environment for incident management and better
options for setting user privileges — both with the goal of improving cooperation in
teams of cybersecurity professionals. Other significant improvements focused on
the database system and reducing the feeling of being overwhelmed by too many
detections by implementing automation and intelligent systems. Other things worth
mentioning include our successes in ratings by analytics companies and our excellent
results in independent tests.

2021 could be considered the first year when we launched the sale of our service
offer. Having learned from pilot programs in Germany and the Netherlands, we were
willing to launch the sale of our services in these two countries on a national scale.
We were able to deliver monitored security services (and others) to our customers
and we received positive feedback. Since we make use of our local branches and
partners when providing services, we focused on providing better training to these
entities in order to secure the highest quality of services possible. Internally, we made
great progress in developing an IT portal for our services, which will allow ESET to
ensure more efficient cooperation with branches and partners, who, in return, will
be able to work with customers better, thus ensuring an even greater added value
for our service customers. We also started preparing our technical capabilities and
capacity in order to be able to launch our service offer in France, America, Japan, and
the United Kingdom. The launch, which is planned for 2022, will also serve as a test
of our portfolio.

When it comes to cloud security, we successfully integrated ESET Cloud Office
Security (ECOS) with ESET LiveGuard Advanced (originally known as ESET Dynamic
Threat Defense), which gave our customers the option to better protect their email
accounts from advanced threats. We also added protection to the collaboration and
communication platforms Microsoft Teams and SharePoint Sites. Lastly, we added the
option to generate reports to ECOS. With every new version, we utilized feedback from
our partners and users to improve the functions available in the management console.
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In 2021, we improved access management, user management, and settings for ESET
Business Account and our security platforms, which can be activated in ESET Business
Account. The ESET MSP Administrator portal received the option to activate ESET
PROTECT Cloud, as well as new types of products that IT and security service providers
can use to protect their customers. The ESET MSP Administrator console now includes
the option to upgrade or downgrade one’s product type without needing to reactivate
it on endpoints, as well as improvements of the ESET MSP Administrator API.

In late 2021, we added APT reports as a new service in ESET Threat Intelligence.
In these reports, our research team provides our customers with comprehensive
information about the newest advanced threats, their technical analysis, and a
summary of their activities.

In ESET Secure Authentication, we improved the activation method and addressed
further issues that we learned about from customer feedback.

HOME PRODUCTS

We published the 2022 editions of our flagship home products: ESET Internet
Security, ESET NOD32 Antivirus, and ESET Smart Security Premium. With the
goal of effectively responding to the requirements of home product users and
offering them high-level protection, we integrated ESET LiveGuard into ESET Smart
Security Premium. The ESET LiveGuard function offers an additional proactive layer
of protection against never-before-seen types of threats. Moreover, ESET Internet
Security and ESET Smart Security Premium received improvements to the Banking
& Payment Protection function. We placed particular focus on secure access to web-
based crypto wallets and online banking sites in order to offer the best protection
possible to our customers when they are managing their finances. Eventually, we
also launched all of our flagship products for end users with Windows OS and ARM64
processors, which we did using our beta channel.

In 2021, we introduced the ESET HOME portal, which replaced the original myESET
customer portal. Together with the portal, we also released new ESET HOME mobile
apps for Android and iOS. This new product came with a well-thought-out Ul, license
management, and account settings, while preserving access to the Anti-Theft, Parental
Control, and Password Manager services. A new addition was the option to connect
Windows and Android devices to the user account. Thanks to this change, users
now have the option to check the state of protection of their devices from a single
place and receive notifications about changes in the state of their security. We also
expanded login options, now allowing users to login using their Google and Apple
accounts. Another improvement that we implemented was the option to connect
Windows devices to the user’'s account using a QR code or remotely directly from
ESET HOME. We strengthened the security of ESET HOME accounts by implementing
the detection of passwords that have leaked online from other services and accounts.
Users also got easier access to license management, such as extending their license
or changing the card used for payments.

In ESET Mobile Security for Android, in 2021 we focused on improving the user
environment for customers. The main change was simplifying the home screen and
making it easier to navigate, providing customers with all the information they need
about the state of their device's security in the Security Report section. A natural
addition was support for Android 12, the newest version of the operating system. In
autumn, as we changed the name of our ESET HOME portal, the app also received
a simple social login function, allowing users to login using their Google or Apple ID.
New security functions included anti-phishing protection for selected social apps,
such as Facebook, Instagram, Messenger, and Facebook Lite.

Optimizations and improvements in the user interface and compatibility with the
newest operating systems were also brought to other apps from the home user
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segment — ESET Parental Control for Android, ESET Smart TV Security for Google/
Android TV, as well as the macOS product family: ESET Cyber Security and ESET Cyber
Security Pro. In the case of ESET Cyber Security and ESET Cyber Security Pro, other
than maintaining compatibility with the newest macOS, we also began active work
on anew version of these products (v7), which will bring a new Ul and various changes
and improvements from the original v6, as well as compatibility with ARM processors.

CUSTOMER CARE

In 2021, our technical support in Slovakia processed 4,994 tickets. Out of these, 1138
came from business customers and 3,856 came from the consumer segment. Over the
same period, our technical support department answered 8,863 phone inquiries. On
a global level, we are continuing to integrate support systems, which has allowed us
to track these numbers in other countries as well. In Germany, our technical support
processed 30,550 tickets (out of which 14,104 came from business customers and
16,446 came from the consumer segment) and answered 19,650 phone inquiries. In
the United Kingdom, our technical support processed 24,466 tickets (out of which
11,356 came from business customers and 13,110 came from the consumer segment)
and answered 24,732 phone inquiries. In Italy, our technical support processed 9,427
tickets (out of which 4,388 came from business customers and 5,039 came from the
consumer segment) and answered 4,098 phone inquiries.

3.3. COMPANY CULTURE, DIVERSITY,
EQUITY, AND INCLUSION

ESET's success stems from people, their diversity and talent, and the innovations
that can be fully developed and realized thanks to a company culture built on strong
values. As a global company and an ambassador of the Diversity Charter, in May
2021 ESET organized a diversity celebration to mark Diversity Day. CEO Richard
Marko held a speech emphasizing the need to give all employees equal opportunities
to grow within the company, the company'’s efforts to attract diverse talent from
various backgrounds, ESET's global presence, and the importance of fostering a
company culture that supports women in STEM fields both within the company
as well as in external partner organizations.

ESET AROUND THE WORLD

In 2021, ESET North America organized the sixth edition of the ESET Women in
Cybersecurity Scholarship program, which supports exceptional women who have
decided to study cybersecurity and build their careers in this field. Scholarships of
5,000 USD (20,000 USD in total) were awarded to four exceptional women studying
information security, thus helping to address the underrepresentation of womenin
the field of cybersecurity. This year, the program also expanded to Canada, where
another scholarship of 5,000 USD was awarded.

ESET SLOVAKIA

EMPOWERING GIRLSIN IT

We joined forces with the Aj Ty v IT organization, providing our expertise in digital
security for Security Girl, a project focusing on increasing awareness about online
security. The project is aimed at girls aged 15 to 19, and its main goal is to offer
them sufficient education in digital security, allowing them to protect themselves
and their data. Each of the girls then passes on this newly gained knowledge to her
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peers, creating a community where people give each other advice and support one
another. These “security girls” serve as ambassadors of safe online behavior, organize
meetings, explain the core principles of online safety, and point out risks. Last but
not least, they improve their communication and presentation skills, helping them
develop theirinner motivation and confidence. The pilot edition of the Security Girls
project successfully kicked off in an online form in October 2020. Currently, we have
3 active security girls. The second edition started in September 2021, with the whole
project planned to run until August 2022.

Q
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Security Girls

Security Girls — In the first phase, 15 schools all over Slovakia participated in the
project by holding initial security workshops. At these workshops, we trained almost
200 girls studying at secondary schools, some of whom will later become security
girls themselves. The final selection of security girls and their subsequent follow-up
trainings will take place in February and March 2022. The follow-up trainings will be
led by expert volunteers from the ranks of ESET's cybersecurity experts.

One of our regular collaborations with Mini Tech MBA, a program that helps
women enter the world of IT, moved online, allowing the attendees of this education
program to attend popular lectures on digital security. The instructors help attendees
understand the main challenges and solutions in the field of personal and business
security. The program bore its first fruit when several of its former attendees chose
ESET for their future careers.

Q
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Mini Tech MBA

This IT-focused educational program for women organizes regular workshops on digital
security, which are led by expert volunteers from the ranks of ESET's cybersecurity
experts.

Every year, ESET attends Girls Day, an event organized as part of the International
Girls in ICT Day celebrations. Its goal is to present the world of IT and modern
technology to girls at secondary schools and show them what options they have for
studying IT or working in the sector. In Slovakia, it has been organized by the Aj Ty
v IT civic association since 2014. On this day, ESET opens its doors to girls, allowing
them to see the dynamically developing world of information technology with their
own eyes and consider potential future careers in the sector. In 2021, the Girls Day
celebrations were planned for 22 April, but due to the epidemiological situation the
event had to be broadcast online from the studio.
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BEST EMPLOYER OF 2021

We are proud that we finished first in the IT and Telecommunications category of
the Najzamestnavatel best employer survey conducted by Profesia for the third
consecutive time. We are thankful that our employees and supporters continue to
view us as an attractive employer. Even more so considering the fact that we all
mainly worked from home for the second year in a row. We are thankful that our
employees and supporters continue to view us as an attractive employer.

COoVID-19

In 2021, our work life, which continued to be influenced by the pandemic, once again
underwent significant changes. Our working group tasked with managing the
impacts of the pandemic dynamically reacted to current work challenges associated
with the pandemic. Working conditions and the option of working from the office
were adapted to the pandemic waves as they came and went.

A current topic that we reflected upon was the availability of vaccinations. We tried
to help our employees navigate the large amounts of information about vaccination
and provide answers to their questions by organizing two discussions with experts.
In the follow-up employee survey, which was conducted with the goal of finding
out the vaccination rate against COVID-19 in our Slovak branch, as many as 92 %
of the employees who filled out the survey stated that they were vaccinated. The
results helped us evaluate the risks of working at the office and implement better
preventive measures.

BENEFITS OFFERED TO EMPLOYEES

Health care — Health care packages were added to our Cafeteria benefit system.
Employees could choose from several packages from various providers, and we are
continuing to expand and adapt our offer. During the seven months of 2021 that
this benefit was available, 7 % of our employees made use of it.

Despite the difficult times, our system of benefits continued without any changes
or restrictions. We focused on making our communication with employees more
effective, making benefit requests simpler, and improving the availability of detailed
information for every benefit.

Employee events - The situation did not allow us to organize any of our popular
events for employees. We realized that online communication when working from
home cannot replace real-world human contact, so we increased our teambuilding
budgets, at least allowing colleagues from the same teams to meet, as long as strict
epidemiological measures were followed. Personal meetings proved very effective
at building trust and cooperation.

Learning & Development

The Seduo learning platform - From March to December 2021, more than 53 %
of our employees made use of the opportunity to attend e-learning courses at
the Seduo.sk platform. In total, our colleagues spent approximately 2,045 hours
learning via this platform, and they attended more than 2,660 courses. The most
popular topics included Personal Efficiency, Authenticity, and Effective and Assertive
Communication, as well as English language courses.
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The Leaders League program — When it came to the development of management
skills among our experienced leaders, the greatest addition was a 10-month
leadership program titled Leaders League. The first group started the program
in September 2021. This program is customized based on our competence model
and in cooperation with our managers and HR business partners. It consists of
360-degree feedback at the start of the program, which we plan to repeat after
12 months in the program. Furthermore, it includes 8 group training modules, an
initial and final workshop, and individual coaching sessions. The first group consists
of 8 department managers from various divisions of our company.

360-degree feedback - With the goal of offering development to our senior
managers, we made use of 360-degree feedback, which allows us to gain an overview
of how the managers’ skills and behavior are viewed by their colleagues, superiors,
and direct reports. Based on this comprehensive feedback, we prepared individual
development plans for these managers, relying on management coaching sessions
and other development activities.

Well-being activities

Inspirational workshops and well-being webinars — Evenin 2021, we tried to inspire
our colleagues and provide them with support in difficult times. We organized 6
inspirational workshops and 4 well-being webinars. The topics that were discussed
included Creativity From the Perspective of Neuroscience, Critical Thinking and the
Illusion of Rationality, and Feedback and Radical Openness, all led by experienced
coaches and trainers. We placed focus on the mental well-being and needs of our
employees, and we also organized well-being webinars to complement our existing
Mind & Soul program. The topics discussed included Empowerment and Taking
Responsibility for Your Emotions and Needs, as well as Anxiety — A Modern-Day
Iliness. All of them were led by qualified and experienced psychologists, which was
something that the attendees viewed as beneficial. They also appreciated the form
of online webinars, which were relatively short (2 or 4 hours), but offered a good
theoretical foundation, as well as room for asking practical questions.

Sporting events - Even despite the unfavorable pandemic situation in 2021, we
managed to support our employees participating in the two most popular sporting
events in Bratislava. In early autumn, our colleagues ran the Telekom Nightrun and
CSOB Marathon wearing ESET colors.

Health Weeks - In the spring and autumn months, as part of the Health Weeks
event, our colleagues could attend interesting online webinars focusing on various
physical and mental health topics led by experts and doctors from the relevant areas.
Altogether, we organized a total of 16 online webinars in this period.

Internal Communication - Email Digest Concept

As our company grows, so does the amount of information we need to provide
to our employees using internal communication. A key tool and storage space for
internal communication is our intranet, where we publish company-related news
and information. With the goal of making this information easier to access and
navigate for our employees, we created a daily and weekly news summary that
they can receive through email digests.
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3.4. SUSTAINABILITY AND THE
ENVIRONMENT

ESET set the goal to reduce its environmental impact already in 2018. Back then, the
company identified three main areas of focus for the following years:

o energy efficiency
o  waste management and recycling
o employee environmental awareness

Then in 2019, we started regularly monitoring our energy consumption and waste
production in cooperation with the Institute of Circular Economy (INCIEN). In 2021,
we continued evaluating the environmental impact of our activities while also
fine-tuning the measurement parameters for both our Slovak headquarters and
our branches all over the world.

The upcoming Global Code of Conduct and Integrity will also include ESET's stance
towards environmental protection and sustainability. In the upcoming vyears,
we will be setting our global environmental, social, and governance (ESG) strategy,
which will be based on data collected at all ESET branches. Our plan is to use our
measurement and evaluation of this data to — among other things — work on the
systematic and long-term reduction of the environmental impact of our activities.

CARBON FOOTPRINT CALCULATION FOR 2021

In 2020, we conducted the first quantitative and qualitative evaluation of ESET's
environmental sustainability and circularity. The main goal of the qualitative
evaluation, which was conducted as a questionnaire survey, was to get an overview
of our activities and direction in this area. The quantitative analysis was conducted by
calculating our carbon footprint, which included all significant sources of emissions.

With the goal of continuously improving our evaluation of our environmental
impact, in comparison with the previous years, we have expanded the scope of
the calculation by adding more items to the list of so-called optional emissions.
These now include the energy consumption of employees working from home,
since 2021 was marked by limited access to our offices. In the following period,
we will expand our carbon footprint measurements to also include other ESET
branches in Slovakia and abroad.

The methodology for calculating our carbon footprint was based on the international
GHG Protocol, which is currently the most common tool that companies use for
calculating their production of greenhouse gas emissions.

The GHG Corporate Standard divides the direct and indirect emissions into three
Scopes, requiring companies to take into account all sources of emissions in Scope 1
and Scope 2 (so-called "mandatory emissions”). Scope 3 concerns so-called “optional
emissions”.

The analysis of our carbon footprint included all sources of emissions from Scope
1 and Scope 2, as well as selected significant items from Scope 3 that impact our
overall emissions, in line with the requirements of the GHG Protocol. Our emission
calculation was based on the ESET headquarters, located in two administrative
buildings in Bratislava.

o SCOPE 1 (direct emissions)
— fuel consumption in company vehicles, natural gas (for heating), coolants

o SCOPE 2 (indirect emissions from energy purchases)
— electricity consumption in offices

o SCOPE 3 (other indirect emissions)
- electricity consumption in external data centers; business trips; the purchase
of electronic equipment, cars, textiles, and other goods; building renovations;
waste; water consumption; paper consumption; household energy consumption
when working from home

45/CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AT ESET



ESET'’s total carbon footprint (Scope 1, Scope 2, Scope 3) for 2021:
2,116.07t CO,e

INDICATOR (t CO,e) 2019 2020

Carbon footprint (only mandatory emissions in Scope 1

and Scope 2) 1002,8 529,3 584,27
Carbon footprint per employee (mandatory emissions 121 0.56 o5
only)

Total carbon footprint (mandatory and optional emissions 13383 801.9 T
in Scope 1, Scope 2, and Scope 3)

Carbon footprint per employee (total emissions including 161 0.85 o

optional)

The main findings of our quantitative analyses of 2021:

(o]

In 2021, the monitored operations saw a significant increase in emissions,
which was caused by expanding our collection of indirect emissions listed
under Scope 3, which is also reflected in the graph with the percentage
distribution of emissions between individual sources of emissions. The carbon
footprint of mandatory emissions per employee remained unchanged from 2020.

The largest share of emissions consisted of household energy consumption
when working from home, amounting to 29.09 %. On average, ESET
employees worked from home 16.08 days per month..

Building emissions were 507.47 t CO2e, making up almost 24 % of the
emissions and presenting only a 0.82 % increase from 2020.

2021 was another year that saw a significant increase in energy consumption
at data centers, specifically by 45.8 %, which indicates further increases in data
usage.

A significant share of emissions was caused by office renovations, along with
the associated purchases of materials and equipment, as well as the production
of construction waste. This category had a14.66 % share in the total emissions.
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ITEMS ORDERED BY THEIR IMPACT ON THE OVERALL CARBON FOOTPRINT

29,09 %

HOUSEHOLD ENERGY CONSUMPTION WHEN WORKING FROM HOME (HEATING + HOT
WATER + ELECTRICITY + ELECTRONIC DEVICES)

14,64 %

USE OF NATURAL GAS FOR HEATING

14,31%

BUILDING RENOVATIONS (MATERIALS AND
EQUIPMENT BOUGHT)

13,85%

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION IN EXTERNAL
DATA CENTERS

7,93%

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION IN OFFICES

7,07 %

THE PURCHASE OF ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT

4,23%

FUEL CONSUMPTION IN COMPANY-OWNED VEHICLES

3,08 %

FURNITURE BOUGHT

2,02%

BUSINESS TRIPS (WHEN TRAVELING BY PLANE, TRAIN,
TAXI, BOAT, PRIVATE VEHICLE)

3,78 %

OTHER
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GRAF 2020 GRAF 2021

72%
22%

o Scopel- Direct emissions
o Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from energy consumption
o Scope 3 - Otherindirect emissions

ESET CAMPUS - ON THE WAY TOWARDS CARBON NEUTRALITY

In 2021, we presented our concept for the ESET CAMPUS project. The conceptis the
result of our almost two-year collaboration with the winner of our international
call for a concept architect - the renowned architectural studio BIG-Bjarke Ingels
Group. Injust a few years, ESET CAMPUS will transform the Patrénka neighborhood
in Bratislava into an epicenter of technological innovation, science, and research.
The urban planning aspect of this project incorporates a natural respect towards
the neighborhood, while also making full use of the existing natural environment,
as well as its proximity to the Zelezna Studnicka forest park. The defining principles
of the proposed architectural solution include environmental design, flexibility, and
carbon-neutral building operation.

Our ambition of carbon neutrality is reflected in all aspects of the proposal - design,
execution, and choice of construction techniques and materials, as well as the
future operation of the campus. The project team places great emphasis on energy
efficiency, the options of using various types of renewable energy, and potentially
even producing our own energy.

ESET CAMPUS will transform the former Military Hospital into a living space that
will turn this part of the city into an epicenter of innovation and creativity within
Bratislava. In addition to the new ESET headquarters and the company'’s global
science and research center, the campus with an area of 55,000 m2 will create an
inspiring environment for IT and tech companies and startups, connecting them
with tech-focused universities. Moreover, the campus will offer a wide range of
other useful services and shops, and high-quality public spaces, and also partially
serve a residential function in the form of co-living, primarily meant for interns
and employees. Importantly, the campus will include sports infrastructure and an
auditorium, with many of these spaces being available for the general public to use.

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS ABOUT SUSTAINABILITY

In 2021, ESET continued to supportits employees to actively engage in the areas of
sustainable development and environmental footprint reduction. In 2017, a group
of volunteer eco-ambassadors was formed, which has been carrying out a variety
of promotional and educational activities on this topic ever since. Our team of eco-
ambassadors consists of ESET Slovakia employees from various departments of
our Bratislava headquarters. This volunteer group meets once a month to propose
sustainable solutions, primarily aiming to minimize waste production.
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THE ECO-AMBASSADORS’ MAIN ACTIVITIES IN 2021 INCLUDED:

(o]

Organizing activities that helped increase awareness about the need for
environmental protection.

Motivating other employees to actively participate in creating a more eco-
friendly corporate culture.

A regular eco-blog.

In 2021, our eco-ambassadors organized an internal challenge called the "ECO
Home Office Challenge”, which ran for two weeks and provided ESET employees
with plentiful inspiration and tips on how to minimize waste in the household
and reduce one’s personal carbon footprint. As many as 170 employees and
their households participated in the challenge, and 95.5 % of them considered
the topics and tips useful.

In the middle of May 2021, our eco-ambassadors launched a campaign that
aimed to increase awareness about recycling at work among ESET employees.
The campaign also included a quiz titled "Where to sort your waste?”, which
was taken by 126 employees.

After a suggestion from our eco-ambassadors, ESET donated 500 plates to
Vagus, a civic association working with homeless people. Previously, these
plates had been used as decoration at the ESET WORLD event.

In 2022, our team of eco-ambassadors will work with dedicated Facilities and
CSR departments, focusing on creating an in-company solution to accommodate
the new system of deposits on plastic bottles and metal cans.

Q
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ECO Cleanup - On 10 November 2021, we organized the ECO Cleanup event in
the Janko Kral Park, where 19 ESET volunteers helped clean up the immediate
surroundings of their workplace. They managed to fill up 52 bags of waste during
the event

Q
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Our City - In June, 128 ESET volunteers participated in Our City, a country-wide
volunteering event. Altogether, they spent a total of 460 hours doing various
activities, primarily focusing on environmental protection and the renovation of
public spaces.

THE BIKE TO WORK INITIATIVE

It has been a tradition for several years now that ESET motivates its employees to ride
their bicycles to work, thus supporting a healthy lifestyle and reducing our carbon
footprint. Even though most of us still worked from home in 2021, we managed to
make use of more eco-friendly modes of transport (especially bicycles) 1,272 times
in total. In June alone, we used them to travel as much as 11,385 km.
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3.5. OUR GOALS

The goal of ESET's ESG strategy is to build a world with strong digital competencies.
In 2022, a long-term global ESG strategy will be created. It will define specific
long-term goals and enable ESET to track, measure, and improve things in regard
to developing its corporate culture and reducing its environmental impact. It will
serve as a continuation of existing goals in these areas, as well as programs focusing
on cybersecurity education, science support, research, and technology. Ethics and
volunteering serve as cornerstones that support all of these areas.

ETHICS

Q
==

GOAL

Preparing an online training session
on ethical business and the principles
encompassed in the Code of Conduct

S,

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved partially.

The goal to establish the content of

the code of conduct training and have

all employees of ESET Slovakia attend

the training was achieved partially. We
performed a comparison of our existing
regional codes of conduct and used it to
prepare the first draft of our Global Code
of Conduct and Integrity. The associated
training that will take place after the code
of conduct is published has been moved to
2022/2023.

GOAL FOR 2022

The Global Code of Conduct and Integrity
will be harmonized and implemented at
all ESET branches. By implementing it,
every branch will commit to follow the
principles of ethics and integrity.

In 2022, we will prepare a pilot online
training focusing on ethics and

integrity. This training will have its pilot
implementation in 2023, when it will be
attended by employees of ESET Slovakia.

VOLUNTEERING

Q
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GOAL

Having our employees participate in
expert or manual volunteering

@

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal not achieved.

We planned to have 20 % of our
employees participating in expert or
manual volunteering, which we failed

to achieve. Only 17 % of our employees
participated in the employee volunteering
program. This is an increase compared

to the year before, but just like last year,
the relatively low engagement rate was
determined by the pandemic, which still
limited options for volunteering activities.

GOAL FOR 2022

The goal will stay set at 20 % of all
employees, but on a global level. We will
improve internal communication focusing
on volunteering activities, increase

our offer of volunteering activities for
employees, and monitor our employees’
engagement in volunteering activities on
a global level.




EDUCATION, SCIENCE, RESEARCH, INNOVATION, AND TECHNOLOGY

s
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GOAL

An analysis of online security awareness
among the general population, identifying
weak points, and preparing activities aimed
at raising awareness

@

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal met and exceeded.

The continuation of the Bezpecne na
nete project (bezpecnenanete.sk) as an
activity that aims to improve awareness
about online security, providing support
in regard to content and communication,
and expanding the project content by
adding a section for teachers, including
relevant communication activities for this
target group — goal met and exceeded.

In addition to articles published on

this platform, where teachers can find
comprehensive educational materials, all
primary schools and eight-year grammar
schools in Slovakia also received the print
edition of the Digital Security Handbook
for Primary School Teachers.

GOAL FOR 2022

Continue improving the content
published at bezpecnenanete.sk, our
communication activities, and our
collaboration with media outlets in
Slovakia. Make use of quality content
and continue localizing the know-how
of our global Safer Kids Online project
in countries where ESET operates, while
also focusing on the evaluation of its
impact.
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GOAL

Creating a set of educational and
communication activities to raise awareness
about cybersecurity

@

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved.

Providing support and professional
assistance to the Security Girls project by
creating plans for the kick-off trainings
and providing three follow-up trainings
for selected “security girls”. Goal achieved.
In 2021,15 schools all over Slovakia
participated in the project. We trained
almost 200 girls studying at secondary
schools, some of whom will later become
security girls themselves. Follow-up
trainings for selected security girls will
take place in March/April 2022.

GOAL FOR 2022

When working on projects aiming to
increase awareness about cybersecurity,
we will place special emphasis on
monitoring the impact of our collaborations
on both a global and a local level. Especially
in 2022, we will focus on activities that

help women and children get involved with
cybersecurity.




COMPANY CULTURE, DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION

GOAL

Conducting the second annual employee
satisfaction survey

©

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved.

In the second half of 2021, we modified
the questionnaire used for our employee
satisfaction survey, focusing on the
topics identified in 2019, while also
setting up and testing the data collection
environment. The second edition of

the survey was launched as planned, in
January 2022.

GOAL FOR 2022

As part of the second edition of our
satisfaction survey (planned for January
2022), we will continue to analyze the
results and identify improvement areas.
Afterwards, we will organize workshops,
where we will co-create solutions to
achieve improvements in the identified
areas. We will continue with their
implementation in 2023.

©
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GOAL

Implementing an internal mentoring system

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved partially.

Creating a mentoring program for new
managers and launching it in the first
half of 2022. In 2021, we created the
concept of a mentoring program for our
team of coordinators, complete with
materials and a communication plan.
The mentoring program will be ready for
launch in the first half of 2022.

GOAL FOR 2022

Carrying out the pilot version of our
mentoring program and collecting
participant feedback in order to improve
the program and prepare it for company-
wide implementation.




GOAL

Identifying top talent for key positions

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved partially

By the end of 2021, we created criteria

to be used to identify key positions and
employee potential. In the second half of
2022, we will continue by designing this
process in cooperation with regional HR
departments.

GOAL FOR 2022

Finalizing the criteria for talent
identification and designing a global talent
management concept, i.e. working with
various employee groups according to
their performance, their potential, and the
needs of the company.

GOAL

Improvements in the performance
evaluation system

GOAL FOR 2022

Proposing improvements in the system
of employee performance management
based on a survey conducted among
employees and managers, implementing
a new competence model, and
implementing development goals as a
part of performance management.

GOAL

Setting benchmarks and awareness
activities in diversity, equity, and inclusion
(DEI)

GOAL FOR 2022

Conducting a qualitative and quantitative
survey in DEI, while also setting up a
roadmap, goals, and KPIs for all ESET
branches. Organize Diversity Week
celebrations to commemorate World
Day for Cultural Diversity for Dialogue
and Development. Establishing the
ESET Diversity Council with the goal of
making the planning and execution of
DEl activities more efficient at all ESET
branches.




ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

GOAL

Measuring the environmental impact of our
activities with the goal of collecting input
data and implementing quick changes in
order to decrease our carbon footprint

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal achieved partially.

At our headquarters in Slovakia, we
collected data for the 2021 Carbon
Report, which was expanded again to
include further optional emissions. While
we managed to achieve our planned
reduction in the consumption of paper
and bottled water, this was mainly due
to the fact that working from home had
become the norm.

In 2021, we also decreased our
environmental impact through our team
of employee eco-ambassadors, who
increased employee awareness about
environmental topics in their campaign.

GOAL FOR 2022

Continuing to increase environmental
awareness among our employees,
cooperate with the Facilities and CSR
departments to create a solution for the
deposit return system for plastic bottles
and metal cans.

GOAL

Drawing up a global report focusing on
carbon footprint reduction

@

STATE OF GOAL IN 2021
Goal postponed.

The goal of “Creating a roadmap that will
present individual measures to reduce

our carbon footprint by 2027 and their
implementation, focusing on our main
sources of emissions” was postponed:

In connection with the announced EU
taxonomy for sustainable activities, we
will focus on this goal in 2022, after metrics
have been set in the wider context of the
global ESG strategy.

GOAL FOR 2022

Setting up a global system of sustainability
measurement and reporting as one of the
pillars of our ESG strategy. The created
roadmap for reducing CO2 emissions will
focus on our main sources of emissions:

A. Coolants

B. Heat consumption

C. Energy consumption in offices

D. Mixed municipal waste

The prepared technological and urban
planning proposal of our new campus —
the future ESET headquarters — will include
solutions to make the operation of the
complex as carbon neutral as possible.




4. 2021 FINANCIAL
RESULTS




In the long run, the ESET Group has been experiencing very positive developmentin
its key financial indicators, which include billings and revenues, primarily from the
provision of end-user licenses and services. In the following period, the ESET Group
plans to maintain such a positive trend in these key financial indicators by publishing
new versions and updates for its home products, as well as its comprehensive
security products and services for medium-sized companies and large organizations.
In the future, the ESET Group plans to expand its product portfolio, with a focus
on cloud security and offering services to business customers.

When evaluating its financial situation and performance, the ESET Group follows the
changes in its key financial indicators, which primarily include sales and revenues
from the provision of end-user licenses and services, as well as operating result (EBIT)
and net cash flows from operating activities. When interpreting the ESET Group'’s
financial situation and performance, the attention is focused both on traditional
and alternative financial indicators. Despite the general economic conditions, which
have been influenced by factors such as the global pandemic or the war conflict
in Ukraine, the ESET Group has been experiencing positive development in these
key financial indicators from both a short-term and a long-term perspective. In the
upcoming period, the ESET Group expects sales and revenues to grow by more than
10 %, thanks to a focus on new products and its providing service offer.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SEPARATE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS IN MILLION EUR STATEMENTS IN MILLION EUR

INDICATOR 2020 2021 4 2020 2021 *
Revenue 526 548 4% 534 564 6%
Operating result (EBIT) 93 86 7% 91 93 2%

Net cash flow from

. o 89 98 10 % 73 84 16 %
operating activities

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

100 mil. EUR [~
98 mil. EUR

93 mil. EUR

—=e— Operating results (EBIT)
91 mil. EUR

— e Netcashflow from
operating activities
89 mil. EUR

86 mil. EUR

82 mil. EUR
1 | J
year 2019 year2020 year 2021

80 mil. EUR
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

100 mil. EUR
! 93 mil. EUR
92 mil. EUR 91 mil. EUR )
—=e— Operating results (EBIT)
—®— Net cashflow from
) operating activities
80 mil. EUR 84 mil. EUR
73 mil. EUR 73 mil. EUR
60 mil. EUR
year 2019 year 2020 year 2021

The differences in the presented absolute numbers as well as the relative changes
of financial indicators in the consolidated financial statements in comparison
with the separate financial statements are caused by the fact that the ESET
Group's consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), while the separate financial
statements of the ESET parent company follow the Slovak legislation. These two
reporting frameworks create a precondition for different ways of evaluating and
reporting individual elements of the consolidated and separate financial statements.
Of these the most significant include revenues (IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers), leases (IFRS 16 Leases), or financial instruments and impairment
of financial assets (IFRS 9 Financial Instruments).

In 2022, the ESET parent company will have a new obligation to prepare its separate
financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), which partially eliminates the precondition stated above and
potential differences against the ESET Group’s consolidated financial statements
due to the same reporting framework.

In 2021, the ESET Group's revenues increased from €526 to €548 million, which
represents an increase of 4 % in comparison to the previous accounting period.
Over the same period, the ESET parent company’s revenues increased from €534 to
€564 million, which represents an increase of 6 %, comparable to the growth of this
consolidated financial indicator. Since the year-on-year increase in the ESET Group’s
revenues was relatively slower than the growth of revenues of the ESET parent
company, the presented difference in absolute numbers between the consolidated
and separate financial statements is reflected in deferred revenues, which will have
a positive impact on this consolidated financial indicator in the upcoming period.

From a long-term perspective, the ESET Group is operationally efficient, i.e. it has
a positive financial result determining its level of profitability. In 2021, the ESET
Group's operating result (EBIT) decreased from €93 to €86 million, which represents
a decrease of 7 % in comparison with the previous accounting period. Over the
same period, the ESET parent company’s operating result (EBIT) increased from
€91to €93 million, which represents an increase of 2 %. The operating result (EBIT)
achieved by the ESET Group in 2021 is determined by the relatively slower year-on-
year increase in revenues in comparison with the ESET parent company.

This level of profitability increases the tax burden, whereby the ESET Group’s total
expenses on income tax due in 2021 represent almost €27 million, out of which the
total expenses of the ESET parent company represent over €22 million.
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In 2021, the ESET Group’s net cash flows from operating activities increased from €89
million to €98 million, which represents an increase of 10 %. Over the same period,
the ESET parent company’s net cash flows from operating activities increased from
€73 million to €84 million, which represents an increase of 16 %. The ESET Group's
high liquidity is further boosted by both the cash and cash equivalents balance of
€97 million at the end of 2021 as well as by the absence of loans contributing to a
strong dividend policy.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Similarly to previous years, the ESET parent company did not receive any donations,
investment grants, or other financial support from the Slovak or any other
government in 2021. As a research and development center, the ESET parent
company utilized the benefits provided by the Income Tax Act (Section 30c of the
Act) and applied an R&D cost deduction from the tax base of €7,011,559.78. In 2021,
the products that are described in more detail in Section 3.2. were introduced as
part of R&D activities.

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT

As per the per rollam resolution of the shareholders from 6 June 2022 (outside the
general meeting), the shareholders approved the separate financial statements of the
ESET parent company, the consolidated financial statements of the ESET Group, and
the profit distribution. At the same time, the shareholders decided that the net profit
of the company for the year 2021 after taxation, reported in the separate financial
statements of the company for the year 2021 in the amount of EUR 84,845,073 in
total, will be distributed as follows:

a. part of the company’s profit for 2021 - in the amount of
€84,545,073 — will be transferred to the Retained earnings account
as undistributed net profit, and

b. the remaining part of the company’s profit for 2021 - in the
amount of €300,000 - will be transferred to the social fund.

On 6 June 2022, the shareholders approved the distribution of retained earnings
for 2020 - in the amount of €78,164,453 - in the following way:

a. part of the retained earnings for 2020 — in the amount of
€40,000,000 - will be distributed among the shareholders in
proportion to their shares in the company by 30 June 2022,

b. part of the retained earnings for 2020 — in the amount of
€38,164,453 — will be distributed among the shareholders in
proportion to their shares in the company by 30 November 2022.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The ongoing conflict in Ukraine and the associated sanctions against the Russian
Federation also have an impact on the ESET Group, namely in the form of lower
sales in Ukraine and suspended sales in the Russian Federation. In the future, the
long-term impact may influence trade volumes, cash flows, and profitability. In this
phase, the ongoing conflict does not have a significant impact on the ESET Group.

As of 1 January 2022, the ESET parent company fulfills the criteria stipulated by
Article 17a(2) of Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, as amended. As a result, its
separate financial statements at 31 December 2022 will be prepared in line with the
International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS
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EU). The accounting principles used by the ESET Group for financial reporting in
line with IFRS EU are listed in the ESET Group's consolidated financial statements.

On1January 2022, the ESET parent company fulfilled the conditions listed in Article
2 (15f) of Act No. 423/2015 on Statutory Auditing, as amended, thus becoming a
supervised entity in line with the aforementioned law.

In this regard, the parent company ESET, spol. s r.o., established a supervisory board,
registered in the Commercial Register since 16 February 2022, effective since 1
January 2022. The supervisory board has the following members: Matej Bosnak
(chair), Maros Grund, Anton Zajac.

Between 31 December 2021 and the day when the financial statements were
prepared, no other events took place that would significantly impact the ESET
group's assets and liabilities.
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ANNEX1: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S
REPORT AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021

ESET, spol. s r.o.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PREPARED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
AS ADOPTED BY THE EU

For the year ended 31 December 2021

This is a translation of the original auditor’s report issued in the Slovak language to the accompanying financial statements
translated into the English language.
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ESET, spol. s r.0.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Tothe Partners and Exeoutives of ESET, spol. s ro.:
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE COMNSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cipinion

We have piedited the consa dated financial statements of ESET, spal. 5 .00 and &85 subsidianes {the *Group™), which compnise
thie conselidated statemant of fieancial position as st 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the censoldated statement of changes in eguity and the contolidated statemert of cagh figas for the year then
ended, and notes 1o the consokdated financial stabements, mciudang & summary of significant aceounting policies.

I pur gpinien, the accompanying consclidated fnanclal statoments give o thee and faar vew of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 Decerber 7031, and is conpolidated financial perfosmance and its consolidated cash fiows far
the year thén ended in accordance with International Financial Reparting Standards (IFRS] as adapted in the Eundgstan Linkon
{Ew}

Basis for Dpinion

W conducted our audil in accordance wilh Inlermational Standards on Aaditing, Owr risponsibiltees under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibities for the Auoht of the Consofidoled Minencio! Statements section of our
report. Wi are Independont of the Group in accordance with the provsions of Act Mo, 423/2015 Col. on Statutory Audit and
on imendment to snd Supplementation of Ao Mo. 431/2002 Coll. an Ascounting. 58 smendad (Fersinafier the “Act on
Statutory Anda” ) related o ethecal reguirements, indudeng the Code of Ethsts for Auditers that &t felevant 1o our aud

of the consclidated finarcial statemesis, and we have Tulfilled our other ethical respossibilities in soordamoe with [hese
requinemenis. We beligve that the w0 evidence we have obtained b juffcient nd poprogriate 1S provide 8 bads for our
Copmnici.

Besponsibiinles of Management ard Thise Charped with Gowernance fior the Financlal Statemens

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consclidated financial statements in sccordance
with IFAS as adopted in the EU, and for such inbernal control as maragement detarmines s necessany to enable the
preparation of comsclidated financial statemends that are free Irom material missiatement, whethier due 1o braud or #rrae,

in preparing the consalidabed financial statements, managemend b responisbls for mszising the Growp's ability 1o contin e
2% 3 going concenn, Gsclosing, a5 appkcable, matters related to goeng concern and using the going eonceon bagis of
accounting, unliss mansgement skt intends 1o Bguidate (e Growd or 1o cease operalETs, oF has no realistic allemmaie
Bt 1y v 50,

Those changed wilh governence are respondible bor oversesing the Group's linanaal reporting process.
Audivos’s Res ponalbiEtes lor the Audiy of the Corsalidated Financial Statements

Car objectives sre 16 obiain reasonable Msurance sbaut whether the consolidated fimencial statements as & whols are Fea
froem matenial misstatement, whethes due T iraud o ervor, and Lo s an audlor's Feport That inchudes our opinion.
Reasonsble assarance i @ high level o aigurance, bul B not 2 guaranies that an awdt conducted in accondange with
Internaticnal Suanclands on Auditing will slways detect s materisl misitatemant whin i easts, Misstatements can arse from
fraud o error and sre corgedensd materisl if, ssdividuallly o in the sggregate, they could reasonably be expected Lo influence
the gconomic deciskons of users taken on the basis of thews conooldated fina ncial $tate menis.

Tihati o el s O e 0 | poraadl eslele i et [l o i ol Lrg@uaBe 0 1R SOCOMER g Tn SN b e e DT aled w0 £ I e Linuigs,

mrquHﬂHMHﬂHhimhmrﬂm 1, s giohal neswar O reomiber fawe, and Thr AilEd Bl isodiecinly.
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e, whech: carl ol igaie of bl sach otheet & niigeect of thed partes, DTTL snd sach OFTE meermtenr B sovdd gl ariiny i balde anly loe iy owm B01s
and covanecnt, snd o Tecsr of wach giher, DTTL A0S el grdvells 1o mirs 12 0 eel s Peige v merey Seloe <o ik o B0arut 12 hpai i PO



As part of an mudit i accordance wilh Ieternational Sandards on Audiling, we exercise professaonal judganent and mainlain

professional sceptecism throughout the awdit, We also:

L Identify and asvess the nisks of matenal mrsstatsment of the consobdated financial statements, whether due (o fracd oo
erfr, desgn and perlonm sucl proceduhes respomive Lo those fisks, and obitain auda ewdence that is sufficenat and
appraphate 1o provide 3 basis for owr opindon. The risk off nod detecting & material misstatement resulting From fraud &
Fagher than for one resulteng ram errar, o8 fraed may imvolve collusion, longery, intestionsd ommsiend,
risrepresentations, of the override of intemnal cantrod,

*  Obtain an understanding of intennal control relevant to the audit in order to design sudit procedures that sre

appropaate in the orcumstances, but not lor the purpose of expoessing an opision on the effectivenss of the Group’s
irtenal control,

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the ressonableness of accounting estimates and related
diclonses rade By management,

*  Conclude on the sppropriatencis of management’s use of the going concenn bass of sccounting and, based on the
sudit pvidence obtaned, whaether a matenal uncertainty sxists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
dowkt on the Group's abdity te coatinue as a going concenn, If we conclude that 2 material Ehcenanly eails, we are
reguired b0 draw Aention in dur auditors report 16 the related disclotures in the condolidated financial sfatements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, 1o modily our opinian. Ok Cconchaicna are baded on Uhe audl evidence abiained up
Lo the date o our suditod”s repont. However, fulure events or condifions may cause the Group 19 CEAsE Lo continue 33
2 going concin,

9 Evpluaqe the owerdll prsentation, smuctune snd content of the corsoldated financlal statesnents, including the
disclojures, and whether tne consolidated Enanclal staternends represent the undarbng trantactons and events
in a manner that achieves faér prosentation

* Cibtain sufficient appropitate sudk evidence reganding the fnandial informaton of the entnies or Butingss activities
weitkin the Group to express an opinien on the cordolidated financial staterments. W are responsibie for the direction,
suparvision and perdormance of the group sudit. We remaln talely responsible for aur audit opinion.

We comimupnicate with those charped with povernance sbout, inter aba, the pdanned scope and nme schedle of the audin
aed significant gt findings, including 2l matenal deficiencies of internal contrad identified duing our audit.

REPOHT OH OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Repoet on Information Disclosed in the Corsolidated Annual Report

Thee statutary body ks responsible for information disclosed in the congolidsted annual repor prepaned under 1he
raguarements of the 402 o0 Ascounting Mo 8313000 Coll. s amended |the “Act on Aocounting ™) Dur opimion on the
corsolidated Hinanal Qmements stabed sbave does not apoly 16 other infgrmation in the consobdated annoal repor.

in commecticn with the sudit of consclidsed financial watements, our responsibility id 1o gaen sn ondertanding of the
indcrmation disclosed in the consoldsted anmial roport and condider whether such inlormatos & materially inconsisbent with
tha consoddatad linancial slatements ar our imowledpe obiainegd in the audst of the consoldatad financial statermens,

or giherwise appeans 1o be materialy mistaued

Az 3t tha swancs date of the suditor’s seport an the suda of consalidated Ninsndisl statements, the consolbdated annaal
renort was nol avaelable tous,

‘When we obtain the consoldated annusl report, we will sssess whetler the Group’s annysl nepost, indludes irlormation
whiose dieclosung ls reguaned wnder the Aot on Accounting, ind bated on procedunes performed during the sudi of the
consolidated financial statomants, we will express o opinson on whether:

Inforraticn dischoied in the consalidated annual report prepared for 2021 s conaislent with thi consolidated financial

staternents for the releaant v and

The consolidated snnusl repart includes information pursuant to the Act on Accounting.

Furtherrnore, wee wall disclote whether matesial misstatements vwere identified o the consobidsted annual repart based
on our understanding of the Group and its positior, obtained in the audit of the consclidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR)

Note
Revenues from the provision of end-user licences and services 8
Services 9
Personnel expenses 10
Depreciation
Other operating (expenses)/income, net
Finance income 11
Finance costs 12
Profit before tax
Income tax 13

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange differences on translating foreign operations
into the reporting currency

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent company
Minority interests

Total profit for the period

Other comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent company
Minority interests

Total other comprehensive income for the period

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document.

2021 2020
547 513 526 022
(317 759) (307 116)
(127 875) (111 493)
(11 832) (12 439)
(3 559) (2 298)

4 795 148

(1 009) (5 575)
90 274 87 249
(20 953) (17 082)
69 321 70 167
(5 743) 3765
63 578 73 932
69 314 70 154

7 13

69 321 70 167
(5 741) 3730
(2) 35

(5 743) 3765




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR)

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Other assets
Capitalised costs of obtaining a contract
Deferred tax asset
Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Income tax assets
Capitalised costs of obtaining a contract
Inventories
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Registered capital
Equity reserves
FX translation reserve
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent company in total
Minority interest
Total equity

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred income
Non-current lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax liability

Total non-current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Current lease liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Current income tax

Total current liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

14

15

16
20

19

16

24
22

23
20

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document.

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
45 302 39 990
26 531 27 858

3 864 4 690

3 204 2 842
72 506 67 781
62 710 55 246
214 117 198 407
96 650 115 555
14 879 13 198
75 3523

159 132 149 049
477 515
271 213 281 840
485 330 480 247
140 140
1587 1297
(6 209) (533)
(32 826) (24 197)
(37 308) (23 293)
64 59

(37 244) (23 234)
130 280 122 256
20 928 23 480
439 178
7717 4012
44 29

159 408 149 955
56 362 71 129
295 586 275 361
6 994 6 387
2235 220
1989 429
363 166 353 526
485 330 480 247
6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax

Non-cash transactions affecting profit/loss from ordinary activities before

income tax:

Interest charged to expenses
Interest charged to income

Profit from the sale of assets
Depreciation

Provisions for assets

Change in expense accruals
Change in provisions for liabilities
Foreign exchange differences
Other non-cash items

Effect of changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in capitalised costs of obtaining a contract
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income*

Cash flows from operating activities

Income tax paid

Interest received

Interest paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of non-current assets

Proceeds from the sale of assets

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Expenditures for finance lease

Dividends paid**

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE REPORTING

PERIOD
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING

PERIOD

* Deferred income from contracts with customers comprises contract liabilities.

2021 2020
90 274 87 249
740 903
(111) (111)

5 9

11 832 12 439

2 531 936
1393 (432)
5721 (375)
(1611) (274)
1922 (83)
112 696 100 261
38 (36)

(11 131) 707
(9 825) (4 843)
5029 3481

22 942 13 611
119 749 113 181
(21 605) (23 582)
108 111
(737) (904)

97 515 88 806
(11 268) (5538)
16 211

(11 252) (5 327)
(6 807) (6 821)
(100 161) (18 000)
(106 968) (24 821)
(20 705) 58 658
115 555 59 922
1 800 (3.025)
96 650 115 555

** Paid dividends also include a portion of the dividends approved for payment by the decision of the Management Board of 16
December 2020 in the amount of EUR 23 385 thousand, which were paid on 18 January 2021.

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

1. COMPANY'’S DESCRIPTION
1.1. General Information

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were prepared by ESET, spol.
s r. 0. (hereinafter the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (the “EU”). The
reporting currency of the Group is the euro (EUR). The consolidated financial statements were prepared
under the going-concern assumption.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were prepared
pursuant to Article 22 of Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, as amended, for the reporting period from
1 January 2021 until 31 December 2021.

The Parent Company was incorporated on 17 September 1992 by registration in the Commercial Register
(Commercial Register of the District Court Bratislava I, Section: Sro, Insert No.: 3586/B).

Seat of the Parent Company:

Einsteinova 24

Bratislava

851 01 5

Identification number (ICO): 31333532

Tax identification number (DIC): 2020317068

VAT identification number (IC DPH): SK2020317068

At present, the owners of the Parent Company are the following individuals:

Structure of the Registered Capital by the Partners of the Reporting Parent Company

Share in Registered Capital Voting Rights

Owners EUR “000 % %

Rudolf Hruby 31 22.000 22.000
Peter Pasko 31 22.000 22.000
Miroslav Trnka 32 22.750 22.750
Richard Marko 17 12.125 12.125
Maro$ Grund 17 12.125 12.125
Anton Zajac 12 9.000 9.000
Registered capital registered in the Commercial Register: EUR 140 thousand

Registered capital not registered in the Commercial Register: -
1.2. Scope of Activities

The Group develops software solutions providing immediate and comprehensive protection against
constantly-evolving computer security threats. The Group deals with the development of innovative
security solutions focusing on the proactive detection of malware and the protection against computer
crime and software piracy. The key products for households are ESET Internet Security, ESET NOD32
Antivirus and ESET Smart Security Premium. The Group offers a range of products in the ESET Protect line
to its corporate customers, which are continuously improved to enable customers to utilise their full
potential and technology capabilities in a secure digital world. The Group develops security solutions for
end-user devices, servers, mobile devices, cloud applications, disk encryption, mail security, and endpoint
detection and response to attacks with the ability to control them remotely. The Group operates in the
following geographic regions: North and South America; Europe, the Middle East and Africa (hereinafter
“EMEA"), Australia and Asia.

1.3. Employees

The number of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 December 2021 was 1 930, of which executive
management: 33 (for the year ended 31 December 2020: 1 831, of which executive management: 32).

The Group’s full-time equivalent was 1 875 as at 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December
2020: 1 756).

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

2. NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN ESTIMATES

2.1. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) of the IASB that have been endorsed for use in the European Union (hereinafter the "EU”) and that
are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2021.

The following new standards, amendments to the existing standards and new interpretation issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are effective for the current
reporting period:

¢ Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement”, IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IFRS 4 “Insurance
Contracts” and IFRS 16 “"Leases” - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 adopted by the EU
on 13 January 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021),

¢ Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
adopted by the EU on 30 August 2021 (effective from 1 April 2021 for annual periods starting, at the
latest, on or after 1 January 2021),

¢ Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” - Extension of the Temporary Exemption from
Applying IFRS 9 adopted by the EU on 16 December 2020 (the expiry date for the temporary exemption
from IFRS 9 was extended from 1 January 2021 to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023).

The Group applied an exception under the Amendment to IFRS 16 “Leases” related to the recognition of
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions and recognised such reliefs as variable lease payments and included
them in “Services” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The adoption of these amendments to the existing standards has not led to any other material changes to
the Group’s financial statements.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following amendments to the existing
standards were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU and
are not yet effective:

e Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” - Proceeds before Intended Use
adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022),

¢ Amendments to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Onerous
Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022),

e Amendments to IFRS 3 “"Business Combinations” - Reference to the Conceptual Framework with
amendments to IFRS 3 adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022),

e IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendments to IFRS 17 adopted by the EU on 19
November 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

e Amendments to various standards due to “"Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards (2018
— 2020 Cycle)” resulting from the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and
IAS 41) primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording — adopted by the EU
on 28 June 2021 (The amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9 and IAS 41 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Amendments to IFRS 16 only relate to an illustrative
example, so no effective date is stated.).

The Group has elected not to adopt these amendments to the existing standards in advance of their
effective dates. The Group anticipates that the adoption of these standards, amendments to the existing
standards and the interpretation will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in
the period of initial application.

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 10



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

New standards and amendments to the existing standards issued by the IASB but not yet
adopted by the EU

At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from regulations adopted by the IASB,
except for the following new standards and amendments to the existing standards, which were not
endorsed for use in the EU as at the date of publication of these financial statements:

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016) - the European Commission has decided not to launch the endorsement process of
this interim standard and to wait for the final standard,

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” -
Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023),

Amendments to IFRS 10 “"Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture and other amendments (effective date deferred indefinitely until the
research project on the equity method has been concluded),

Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” - Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

IFRS 14 “"Regulatory Deferral Accounts” issued by the IASB on 30 January 2014. This standard is
intended to allow entities that are first-time adopters of IFRS, and that currently recognise regulatory
deferral accounts in accordance with their previous GAAP, to continue to do so upon transition to IFRS.

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” issued by the IASB on 18 May 2017. The new standard requires
insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides a more uniform
measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed
to achieve the goal of consistent, principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17
supersedes IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” and related interpretations while it is applied. Amendments
to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” issued by the IASB on 25 June 2020 defer the date of initial
application of IFRS 17 by two years to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Additionally, the amendments introduce simplifications and clarifications of some requirements in the
standard and provide additional reliefs when applying IFRS 17 for the first time.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “"Business Combinations” - Reference to the Conceptual Framework with
amendments to IFRS 3 issued by the IASB on 14 May 2020. The amendments: (a) update IFRS 3 so
that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework; (b) add to IFRS 3
a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, an
acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 (instead of the Conceptual Framework) to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination; and (c) add to IFRS 3 an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” - Extension of the Temporary Exemption from
Applying IFRS 9 issued by the IASB on 25 June 2020. The amendments change the fixed expiry date
for the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” stated in IFRS 4 “Insurance
Contracts” so that entities will be required to apply IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement”, IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IFRS 4 "“Insurance
Contracts” and IFRS 16 “Leases” - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 issued by the IASB
on 27 August 2020.

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 11



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

The changes relate to the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific
hedge accounting requirements, and disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7 to accompany the
amendments regarding modifications and hedge accounting:

a) Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities — the IASB has
introduced a practical expedient for modifications required by the reform (modifications required
as a direct consequence of the IBOR reform and made on an economically equivalent basis). These
modifications are accounted for by updating the effective interest rate. All other modifications are
accounted for using current IFRS requirements. A similar practical expedient is proposed for lessee
accounting applying IFRS 16.

b) Hedge accounting requirements - under the amendments, hedge accounting is not
discontinued solely due to the IBOR reform. Hedging relationships (and related documentation)
must be amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument and hedged
risk. Amended hedging relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting,
including effectiveness requirements.

c) Disclosures - in order to allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from
the IBOR reform to which the entity is exposed to and how the entity manages these risks as well
as the entity’s progress in transitioning from IBORs to alternative benchmark rates, and how the
entity is managing this transition, the amendments require that an entity disclose information
about:

— How the transition from interest rate benchmarks to alternative benchmark rates is managed,
the progress made at the reporting date, and the risks arising from the transition;

— Quantitative information on non-derivative financial assets, non-derivative financial liabilities
and derivatives that continue to reference interest rate benchmarks subject to the reform,
disaggregated by significant interest rate benchmark;

— If the IBOR reform results in changes to an entity’s risk management strategy, a description
of these changes and how the entity is managing these risks.

d) The IASB also amended IFRS 4 to require insurers that apply the temporary exemption from IFRS
9 to apply the amendments when accounting for modifications directly required by the IBOR
reform.

¢ Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture issued by the IASB on 11 September 2014. The amendments address
a conflict between the requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 10 and clarify that, in a transaction involving
an associate or joint venture, the extent of the gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets
sold or contributed constitute a business.

e Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions issued by the IASB on
28 May 2020. The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider individual lease contracts to
determine whether rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are
lease modifications and allow lessees to account for such rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications. This applies to Covid-19-related rent concessions that reduce lease payments due on or
before 30 June 2021.

e Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
issued by the IASB on 31 March 2021. The amendments extend by one year the application period of
the practical expedient in IFRS 16. The relief was extended by one year to cover rent concessions that
only reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022.

e Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” - Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information issued by the IASB on 9 December 2021. These are narrow-scope
amendments to the transition requirements of IFRS 17 for entities that first apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9
at the same time.

e Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current issued by the IASB on 23 January 2020. The amendments provide a more
general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual arrangements
in place at the reporting date. Amendments to IAS 1 issued by the IASB on 15 July 2020 defer the
effective date by one year to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

e Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Disclosure of Accounting
Policies issued by the IASB on 12 February 2021. The amendments require entities to disclose their
material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting policies and provide guidance and
examples to help preparers when deciding which accounting policies to disclose in their financial
statements.

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 12



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

e Amendments to IAS 8 “"Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” -
Definition of Accounting Estimates issued by the IASB on 12 February 2021. The amendments focus
on accounting estimates and provide guidance on how to distinguish between accounting policies and
accounting estimates.

e Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction issued by the IASB on 6 May 2021. According to the amendments, the initial
recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which both deductible and taxable temporary
differences arise on initial recognition that result in the recognition of equal deferred tax assets and
liabilities.

¢ Amendments to IAS 16 “"Property, Plant and Equipment” - Proceeds before Intended Use issued
by the IASB on 14 May 2020. The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing these
items, in profit or loss.

¢ Amendments to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Onerous
Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract issued by the IASB on 14 May 2020. The amendments specify
that the ‘cost of fulfilling” a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract are either the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract, or an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

e Amendments to various standards due to "Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards (2018
— 2020 Cycle)” issued by the IASB on 14 May 2020. Amendments to various standards resulting from
the annual improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41) primarily with a view
to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The amendments: (a) clarify that a subsidiary
which applies paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 is permitted to measure cumulative translation differences
using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRSs (IFRS 1);
(b) clarify which fees an entity includes when it applies the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of
IFRS 9 when assessing whether to derecognise a financial liability. An entity includes only fees paid or
received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf (IFRS 9); (c) remove from the example the illustration
of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to resolve a potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives that might arise because of how lease incentives are
illustrated in this example (Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16); and (d) remove the
requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique (IAS 41).

The Group expects that the adoption of these new standards and amendments to the existing standards
will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of initial application.

Hedge accounting for a portfolio of financial assets and liabilities whose principles have not been adopted
by the EU remains unregulated.

According to the Group’s estimates, the application of hedge accounting to a portfolio of financial assets

or liabilities pursuant to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” would not
significantly impact the financial statements if applied as at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1. Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union (hereinafter the “EU”). IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from IFRS as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of certain financial instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are detailed below.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect certain adjustments and reclassifications not
recorded in the accounting records of certain Group companies in order to conform the Slovak statutory
and other financial statements to financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
EU.

a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent Company and entities
controlled by the Parent Company (by its subsidiaries) prepared as at 31 December on an annual basis.
Control is achieved when the Parent Company:

. Has power over its investee;

. Has exposure to, or has rights to, variable returns from its participation in the investee; and

. Has the ability to use the power over the investee to affect the amount of investor’s returns.

The Parent Company reassesses whether or not it has control over an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there have been changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

If the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, this is considered to be

control over the investee if the voting rights are sufficient to acquire the practical ability to unilaterally

direct the relevant activities of the investee. When assessing whether the Parent Company’s voting rights

in an investee are sufficient to gain control, the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances, including:

. The extent of the voting rights of the Parent Company in relation to the extent and scope of holdings
of other holders of voting rights;

. Potential voting rights of the Parent Company, other holders of voting rights or other parties;

. Rights resulting from other contractual arrangements; and any other facts and circumstances
indicating whether or not the Parent Company has the current ability to direct the relevant activities
at the time a decision has to be made or not.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins as of the moment the Parent Company obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases as of the moment the Parent Company loses control over the subsidiary. In
particular, the results of subsidiaries generated during the year are included in profit or loss from the date
on which the Parent Company gains control until the date on which the Parent Company ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Adjustments to the financial statements of subsidiaries are made, if necessary, so that the accounting
principles used are in line with the Group’s accounting principles.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, revenues, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
among the Group’s members are eliminated upon consolidation.

The Parent Company presents non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position
in equity, separately from the equity of the Parent Company’s owners. Interests of non-controlling
shareholders, which are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets of the subsidiary upon liquidation, may initially be measured at fair value or at the current
proportionate share of ownership instruments recognised in the amounts of identifiable net assets of an
acquiree. The choice of measurement method is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, non-controlling interests are
adjusted for the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in the equity of the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

Profit or loss and all components of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Parent Company and to non-controlling interests. The total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a negative balance.

Changes in the Parent Company’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for by the Parent Company as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Parent Company’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
the company’s owners.

If the Parent Company loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss
is calculated as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to such a subsidiary are derecognised as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary. The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date of loss of control is regarded as the fair value upon initial recognition for
subsequent recognition under IFRS 9 when applicable, or as the cost upon initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

b) Business Combinations
Subsidiaries

Those business undertakings in which ESET spol. s r.o., directly or indirectly, has an ownership interest of
usually higher than one half of the voting rights or otherwise controls the operations are considered
subsidiary undertakings (subsidiaries) and have been fully consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated as
of the date on which ESET spol. s r.o. acquires control and are no longer consolidated as of the date when
such control ceases.

The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the
acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date.

If the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes contingent considerations,
the contingent considerations are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date and are included as
part of the consideration transferred in the business combination. Changes to the fair value of a contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
corresponding adjustments to goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise due
to additional information obtained during the measurement period (which may not be longer than one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. A
contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent considerations are remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates and changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

c) Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the acquired identifiable assets and the liabilities assumed as
at the acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the acquired identifiable assets and
liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date exceeds the sum of the transferred consideration, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

The Group assesses indicators of an impairment of goodwill annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the goodwill may be impaired. When assessing impairment of goodwill, the Group assesses
the following indicators:

e Negative development in the industry;

e Decrease in the market value; and

e  Growth of sales slower than estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to all cash-generating units ("CGU") expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the CGU, the impairment loss is
initially allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and subsequently to
the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of such assets.

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in comprehensive income. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Upon disposal of a CGU, the amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

d) Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group as a contractual
party is subject to the provisions concerning the given financial instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables that
do not include a significant financing component and are measured at transaction price. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value with changes recognised through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Compensation of financial assets and financial liabilities

Licenses are sold both directly and indirectly. Direct sales are mainly made via the ESET website to end
customers. Indirect sales are mainly made via independent distributors and resellers, who make the
majority of total sales. For indirect sales, receivables from the fulfilment of contracts with customers and
payables to distributors and sellers are recognised on a net basis as receivables from or payables to
distributors and sellers where this has been contractually agreed. The settlement of receivables and
payables on a net basis is agreed with selected distributors and sellers in distribution contracts.

If the Group satisfies its obligation of contract performance by transferring the software use rights during
the specified period to a customer before the maturity of the receivable, the contract claim for a
consideration is recognised by the Group as a contract asset. In accordance with IAS 32, the Group offsets
contract assets against liabilities to distributors and sellers (liabilities representing compensation for
activities performed by distributors and sellers). Even though contract assets constitute a contractual claim
against end customers and liabilities represent a performance obligation towards distributors and sellers,
their settlement on a net basis is contractually agreed upon in distribution contracts with distributors and
sellers.

The Group only undertakes compensation if it currently has the legally enforceable right to compensate
the recognised amounts and the intention to either settle the asset and the liability on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

e) Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are stated at the expected realisable value, net of provisions for debtors in bankruptcy
or restructuring proceedings, and net of provisions for overdue bad and doubtful receivables where risk
exists that they will not be settled by the debtor in full or in part.

The Group only recognises receivables which represent an unconditional right to a consideration.
Receivables are recognised when an unconditional amount of the consideration is enforceable or falls due.
Consideration is deemed enforceable before the maturity of the receivable if the Group satisfied its
contractual performance obligation by transferring the software use rights during a part of the contract
period to a customer. In such a case, the contract claim to a consideration is recognised as a contract
asset. Subsequently, when the maturity date is reached, the contract asset is reclassified as a receivable,
unless a consideration was paid by the customer.
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The Group applies an expected loss model when assessing provisions for financial assets. The simplified
approach is based on the use of a matrix for the calculation of provisions that determines the extent of
impairment for groups of receivables based on the number of days until their settlement. The historical
loss rate applied in the calculation of provisions also reflects forward looking information. The applied
expected loss model has no significant impact on the amount of provisions for financial assets.

f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Non-current Intangible Assets

Property, plant and equipment and non-current intangible assets (hereinafter "Non-current Assets”) are
recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes all expenses directly attributable to placing the Non-current Assets into service for their
intended purpose.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at fair value as at the acquisition date. Subsequently, they are recognised at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.

Items of non-current tangible and intangible assets that are worn out or disposed of for another reason
are derecognised from the statement of financial position at the net book value. Any gain or loss resulting
from such wear and tear or disposal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

All items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method based on the
asset’s estimated useful life. Land is not depreciated. The depreciation of assets begins when the assets
are ready for their intended use. Depreciation charges are recognised in the income statement so that non-
current assets are depreciated over the remaining useful life up to the amount of the estimated residual
value. The useful lives of non-current assets can be summarised as follows:

Estimated Useful Depreciation
Lives in Years Method
Software 2-4 Straight-line
Structures and technical improvements of premises Up to the expiration Straight-line
of the lease contract
Fixtures and fittings Up to the expiration Straight-line
of the lease contract
Plant and machinery 3-5 Straight-line
Transportation means 4 -5 Straight-line

The estimated useful lives, net book values and the depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, and the effect of changes, if any, in estimates is recognised on a prospective basis.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the right-of-
use assets.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that the realisable
value of the Group’s non-current assets is below their carrying amount. When such an indication occurs,
the realisable value of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the present
value of future cash flows (“value-in-use”), is estimated. Any impairment loss provision is recognised in
full in the income statement in the year in which the impairment occurs. The discount rates used to
calculate the present value of the future cash flows reflect the current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In the event that a decision is made by the Group to
abandon an investment project in progress or significantly to postpone its planned completion date, the
Group assesses its potential impairment and a provision is recorded, if appropriate.

Expenditures relating to an item of non-current assets after being placed into service increase the carrying
amount of the asset when the Group may expect future economic benefits, in excess of the original
assessed standard of performance. All other expenditures are treated as repairs and maintenance and are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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g) Research and Development

R&D expenses for software products are recognised in expenses (Services) in the actual amount, unless
they meet the capitalisation criteria under IAS 38. R&D expenses include salaries and benefits of
researchers, supplies and other expenses incurred in connection with R&D work. The Group undertakes
R&D continuously. R&D results tend to have a short useful life without further development and continuous
improvement. When R&D expenses are incurred, it is generally not possible to determine the possibility of
the technical completion of the development for its use and sale. For a portion of development expenses
for minor or major upgrades or other changes to software functions, the criteria are not met as the
product’s design or functionalities are not substantially new. Such expenses are therefore recognised as
an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when incurred.

h) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of raw materials and other
inventories includes the acquisition price and the related incidental costs, and the cost of inventories
developed internally includes raw materials, other direct costs and production overheads.

i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and cash in bank, and highly-liquid securities with an
insignificant risk of changes in value and original maturities of three months or less from the date of issue.

j) Provisions for Liabilities

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive non-contractual)
as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are re-assessed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
The amount of the provision is the present value of the risk-adjusted expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation; these expenditures are determined using the estimated risk-free interest rate as
a discount rate. Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of the provision increases in each period
to reflect the unwinding of the discount by the passage of time.

k) Revenues from Contracts with Customers

The Group recognises revenue from the provision of software resulting mainly from licence fees and support
services under contractual arrangements with end users.

The Parent Company provides end customers and partners in Slovakia, and partners in the EMEA region,
APAC, Brazil, Russia and South Africa with the right to use the antivirus software. Eset Software spol. s r.o.
(subsidiary) has concluded an agreement with the Parent Company on the distribution of products in the
Czech Republic. ESET, LLC. (subsidiary) distributes ESET products primarily in the USA and the LATAM
region (except for Brazil). ESET Deutschland GmbH (subsidiary) distributes products on the German,
Austrian, Swiss and Croatian markets. ESET Software Australia, PTY, Ltd. (subsidiary) undertakes
distribution activities in Australia and ESET ASIA primarily in the APAC region. ESET Software UK Limited
(subsidiary) distributes products in the UK and Malta. ESET Canada Inc. (subsidiary) undertakes
distribution activities on the Canadian market. ESET ITALIA S.r.l. (subsidiary) undertakes distribution
activities on the Italian market.

Sales are made directly or indirectly. The direct sales are mainly represented by Internet sales via the
ESET website to end customers. Indirect sales are mainly made through independent distributors and
resellers who contribute to total sales in the greatest extent.

The Group sells its product through intermediaries such as distributors, resellers and others. The top ten
distributors accounted for 41% of sales in 2021 and 42% of sales in 2020.

Upon the initial application of IFRS 15, the Group evaluated and applied the principles of this standard,

and analysed and refined the recognition of contracts with customers. The Group continues to improve
historical data on revenues and evaluates all new sales methods.
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Based on a detailed analysis of contractual arrangements, rights and obligations of all members of the
distribution chain, the Group applies the gross revenue recognition method. During the contract period,
the Group recognises revenues in the amount of revenues from the sale of ESET products and services
generated by distributors and resellers of the Group. Remuneration for the activities performed by
distributors and resellers is initially capitalised as the cost of contract acquisition and amortised as expenses
over the term of the licence in proportion to the amount of recognised licencing revenues.

The cost of contract acquisition is related to the commissions paid to distributors and resellers for the
acquisition of licence agreements with end customers. Distribution commissions are expenses that the
Group would not incur if the contract were not acquired. The Group also incurs other costs necessary to
make sales, but these costs would be incurred even if the customer chose not to conclude the contract and
would therefore not be capitalised.

The Group as a member of the ESET Technology Alliance also sells products of other companies. In this
case, the Group acts as an agent and recognises revenues in the amount of the portion of the consideration
received from the end customer which belongs to the Group for its services as an agent. Compensation for
the activities performed by distributors and resellers when selling products of other companies is
recognised in expenses.

The Group recognises revenues from the provision of licences to use the antivirus software and
associated support services as follows: each customer is required to pay a fee for the right to use the
software during a specified period. Revenue is recognized on accruals basis over the licence term from
the moment of licence activation by the end customer. In addition to revenues from the sale of antivirus
software, the Group also recognises revenues from the sale of encryption software. When analysing such
revenues, the Group identified two primary contractual performance obligations which were measured by
the Group separately using the five-step model under IFRS 15. The first performance obligation represents
delivery of an encryption key used by a customer to secure their end-user devices. The Group recognises
this portion of revenue as a lump sum at the moment of the sale to the end customer. The second
performance obligation of the contract includes support and maintenance provided to the end customer
over a specified period. The revenue from such performance is recognised on accruals basis over the
specified period. Revenues from the sale of third-party products - members of the ESET Technology
Alliance are recognised as a lump-sum at the moment of a sale to an end customer or business partner.
In the current year, the corresponding amount of revenue is recognised as “revenue from the provision of
end user licences and services” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

If the customer pays the consideration or the receivable is due before the Group grants the customer the
right to use the software for a specified period, the Group presents the contract as a contract liability.
Initial recognition takes place when the payment is made or the receivable is due, whichever occurs first.
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer to the customer the right to use the software for a
specified period, for which the Group has received consideration from the customer, or such consideration
is due. The Group recognises contract liabilities in the line Deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Group also distributes license products in the form of registration keys and a series of registration keys
- batches, in case of which a time mismatch occurs between the distributor's billing and activation by the
end-user. At the moment of receipt of consideration from the distributor, or at the moment the distributor’s
invoice becomes due (whichever occurs first), the Group incurs a contract liability, which it recognises in
deferred income. At the moment of licence activation by the end user, the Group recognises revenue which
is deferred over the licence validity term.

If a prepaid batch of registration keys is not refundable, the Group proceeds as follows: The generated
revenue attributable to the sold and non-activated registration keys is estimated by the Group based on
the historical development of the activation of licenses from the respective batch. Such revenue is
recognised by the Group over the term of a contractual liability in individual reporting periods. Significant
differences may arise in the amount and timing of revenues for a certain period if management applies
different judgments or different estimates. Such estimates impact the “Deferred income” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the “Revenues from the provision of end user licences and
services” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

End users may return ESET products, subject to limitations, via distributors and resellers or may ask the
ESET Group directly for a refund within a reasonably-short period from the date of purchase. The Group
estimates and recognises a refund liability based on historical experience by decreasing revenues. The
amount of the refund liability is immaterial.
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The Group has identified the main types of contract modifications and recognises revenues in accordance
with IFRS 15 requirements. The main types of contract modifications over the contract term include the
extension of the license validity term, addition or reduction of requirements, products and services, when
the Group accounts for a contract modification on a prospective basis. In the event of a price change or
product return by an agreed time limit, the Group cumulatively adjusts recognised revenues. If a contract
modification is made after the termination of a contract’s validity, the Group recognises such contract
modification as a separate contract.

1) Mandatory Social Insurance and Pension Security

The Group is required to make contributions to various mandatory government insurance schemes,
together with contributions by employees. Social security expenses are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the same period as the related wages and salaries.

m) Short-term and Long-term Employee Benefits

The Group recognises all forms of consideration provided by the Group in exchange for services rendered
by employees, or for termination of employment, as employee benefit obligations. These liabilities are
recognised in the period in which the Group received the services provided by the employees.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date.

Estimated employee benefit obligations are included in the line Provisions for liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

n) Leases

The Group applies the IFRS 16 when assessing leases. The Group assesses whether a contract contains a
lease at the inception of the contract. The Group acts as a lessee for all existing lease contracts. In respect
of leases, the lessee recognises a right-of-use asset (lease asset) and the related lease liability. Each lease
payment is divided into the payment of a lease liability and the accrued financial interest expense. Finance
costs are recognised directly through profit or loss over the lease term. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the assets, or the lease term.

Payments for short-term lease contracts, lease contracts for low-value assets and lease contracts for other
assets excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 due to materiality are recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as an expense of the current year included in the statement of comprehensive income.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise leases of
assets with a value of up to EUR 5 thousand, such as printers, coffee machines and water dispenser stands.
Other assets excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 due to materiality are leases of cars and data storage.

Upon the initial application of IFRS 16, the Group applied the following practical expedients:

. Application of a single discount rate for the entire portfolio of leases with similar characteristics;

. Measurement of a lease asset in the amount of a lease liability adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease
payments and incentives from the lessor;

. Recognition of operating leases with a residual lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January
2019 as short-term;

. Exclusion of the initial direct costs for the measurement of right-of-use assets (lease asset) at the
date of initial application;

. Use of an initial assessment of the lease term applied as at 1 January 2019 if the contract contains
options to extend or to terminate the lease. The initial assessment of the lease term was applied if
there was no change in the assessment (significant event within the control of the lessee affecting
the initial assessment), revision of the assessment (exercise of an initially unconsidered option or
non-exercise of an initially considered option) or a contract modification.

Practical expedients applied at the initial application of IFRS 16 have an impact on the reported financial
results and financial position also in 2021.
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Lease assets and lease liabilities are primarily measured at their present values. The present value of lease
liabilities comprises:

. Fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

Variable lease payments (based on an index);

The exercise price of an option to extend the lease (if reasonably certain);

Penalties for early termination (if reasonably certain);

Amounts payable under residual value guarantees.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of a
lease liability and right-of-use assets. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the relevant
period on an accrual basis and are included in the line “Services” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee to not separate non-lease components, and instead
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group applied
the above practical expedient. For contracts that contain a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group includes fixed payments and variable payments (based on an
index) in additional lease or non-lease components when measuring a lease liability.

Rent concessions in the form of rent holidays, and rent reductions as a direct consequence of the COVID-

19 pandemic were not considered to be modifications of the lease contract, but instead were recognised

as part of variable lease payments if the following conditions were met:

. Changes to lease payments result in a revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

. Any reduction in lease payments only affects payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022;

. There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

Lease payments are discounted using a weighted average interest rate, which is the interest rate that the
lessee would have to pay if it had to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a
similar economic environment under similar conditions.

Lease liabilities are presented by the Group as Non-current lease liabilities and Current lease liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position. Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured by increasing
the carrying amount by interest expense (reflecting the effective interest rate) and reducing the carrying
amount by lease payments made.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

asset) if:

. The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change to the assessment of the exercise of a purchase option. In such a case, the lease liability is
measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

. The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or changes to expected payments
under a guaranteed residual value. In such a case, the lease liability is measured by discounting the
revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the change to the lease payments
is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is applied).

. A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
such a case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

During the year, the Group presented modifications of lease contracts in line with the above procedure.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises:

. The amount of the initial measurement of a lease liability;

Initial direct costs;

Lease payments less lease incentives before the commencement date of a lease;
An estimate of disposal costs/restoration costs.

o) Income Tax

Income taxes of the Parent Company are calculated on accounting profit as determined under Slovak
accounting procedures after adjustments for certain items for taxation purposes using the income tax rate
of 21%. Subsidiaries’ income taxes are calculated on accounting profit as determined under accounting
procedures effective in the subsidiary’s country of domicile using the income tax rate valid in the respective
country.
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The Group recognises an estimated income tax liability where the determination of a tax liability is
uncertain, but it is likely that there will be an outflow of funds to the tax office in the future. Provisions for
liabilities are measured at the best estimate of the amount that the Group expects will be payable to the
tax office. Such an assessment is based on the judgment of the Group’s tax experts and on previous
experience with such activities, and in some cases on the advice of an independent specialist tax advisor.

p) Deferred Income Tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between
the net tax value and the net book value of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply for the period when the asset is expected to be realised or the liability settled.
Deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates
to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in equity.

The valid income tax rates are as follows:

Country 2022 2021 2020
Slovakia 21% 21% 21%
USA - federal tax 21% 21% 21%
- California state tax (effective tax rate - 0.86%

in FY21, 1.17% in FY20) 8.84% 8.84% 8.84%
Czech Republic 19% 19% 19%
Argentina 30% 30% 30%
Singapore 17% 17% 17%
Poland 19% 19% 19%
Germany 31.58% 31.58% 31.58%
UK* 19% 19% 19%
Canada 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%
Australia 25% 26% ** 26%
Brazil*** 24% 24% 24%
Romania 16% 16% 16%
Mexico 30% 30% 30%
Italy***x* 27.9% 27.9% 27.9%
Japan 23.2% 23.2% 23.2%

* Tax rate applicable to the taxation period until 31 March 2023. For the taxation period from 1 April 2023, the applicable tax
rate is 25%.

** Tax rate applicable to the taxation period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. For the taxation period from 1 July 2021 to
30 June 2022, the applicable tax rate is 25%.

*** In addition to the statutory corporate income tax rate of 15%, a 10% tax is applied to annual income exceeding BRL 240 000
and 9% social security income tax applied on adjusted net income (20% for financial institutions).

***x Italian legal entities are subject to corporate income tax of 24% and a regional production tax of 3.9%.

Major temporary differences arise as a result of differences between the carrying amount and tax value of
deferred income and capitalised costs of obtaining a contract. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising on financial investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not be realised in the foreseeable future.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if there is a legal right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and these deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are related
to income taxes collected by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.
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q) Transactions in Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated to euros using the reference
exchange rate determined and announced by the European Central Bank (hereinafter the "ECB”) on the
date preceding the transaction date and also on the reporting date. Advances received and made in a
foreign currency are not translated as at the reporting date. For foreign currency purchases and sales in
euros, and upon transfers of funds from the account established in a foreign currency to the account
established in euros and from the account established in euros to the account established in a foreign
currency, the exchange rates at which these amounts were purchased or sold were applied. If the sale or
purchase is not performed with a commercial bank, the reference exchange rate determined and
announced by the ECB on the date preceding the transaction settlement date is used.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the ECB exchange rates
prevailing on the reporting date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the relevant period. Goodwill and fair value adjustments resulting from the acquisition of a foreign entity
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and are also translated at the ECB’s exchange rate
valid at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences, if any, are included in equity classified as foreign
exchange translation reserve. Such reserve is dissolved in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as at the moment the financial investment in a subsidiary is disposed of.

Expenses and revenues, items of assets, liabilities and equity of foreign subsidiaries in a functional currency
which is hyperinflationary are translated using the ECB’s rate prevailing as at the reporting date. Resulting
differences from the consolidation of capital are included in equity as retained earnings or accumulated
loss from previous years.
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS

There were no changes to the Group’s accounting principles and methods during the reporting period.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, as described in Note 3, the Group has made the
following decisions concerning uncertainties and estimates that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements. There is a significant risk of material adjustments in future periods
relating to such matters, including the following:

e The Group derives a substantial portion of its revenues from system security and network security
solutions. The market in which the Group operates is highly competitive and rapidly changing.
Significant technological changes, changes in customer requirements, and the emergence of
competitive products with new capabilities or technologies could adversely affect the operating results.

e A significant portion of revenues and net income is derived from international sales. Fluctuations of
the euro against foreign currencies, changes in local regulatory or economic conditions, piracy, or non-
performance by distributors or partners could adversely affect the operating results.

e The Group regularly reviews the collectability and creditworthiness of its distributors and resellers to
determine an appropriate provision for receivables. The uncollectible accounts could exceed the current
or future provisions. Receivables are written off on a case by case basis, considering the probability
whether the amounts can be collected. At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the provision for receivables
amounted to EUR 5 227 thousand and EUR 2 644 thousand, respectively.

e The Group applies accounting policy relating to deferred income over the licence validity period in
accordance with IFRS. Given the comprehensiveness of the portfolio and the number of active licences,
the Group determines some revenues from licences related to non-refundable prepaid batches of
registration keys (as described in Note 3.1 k), which are deferred using estimates. A change in
judgments used to calculate these estimates could have a material impact on the financial statements.
Other information related to revenue recognition in the Group is stated in Note 3.1 k) Revenue from
contracts with customers.

. The Group determines the lease term as a non-terminable lease term together with the periods
covered by the option to extend the lease when it is reasonably likely that they will be exercised, or
periods to which the option to terminate the lease applies, when it is reasonably certain that the
Group will not exercise this option. The Group has a number of lease contracts that include an option
to extend or terminate contracts. The Group exercises judgment when assessing whether it is
reasonably certain that the Group will or will not exercise an option to extend or terminate a lease.
This means that the Group takes into account all relevant economic incentives when assessing the
possibility of exercising an option to extend or terminate a lease. After the inception date of a lease,
the Group reassesses the lease term when a significant event or change in circumstances occurs that
is under its control and that will impact its ability to exercise or not exercise an option to extend or
terminate a lease.

o Under IFRS 16, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of future lease payments discounted
using the weighted average of the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Given that the implicit interest
rate of a lease cannot be readily determined, the Group applied the incremental borrowing rate to the
entire lease contract portfolio based on their lease term. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate
the Group would pay if it borrowed the funds necessary to acquire right-of-use assets with a similar
value as right-of-use assets recognised at 31 December 2021 in a similar economic environment,
under similar conditions, with similar collateral. Based on the above, the Group applied the estimate
when determining the incremental borrowing rate, as it takes into account the interest rate the Group
would have applied and would have to pay if it had to obtain funds necessary to acquire right-of-use
assets.
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. The reported goodwill is tested for impairment annually by the Group. An impairment exists when the
carrying amount of assets, or of a cash generated unit (CGU), exceeds their recoverable amount,
which is the higher of their fair value reduced by costs of sale, and value in use. Fair value reduced
by costs of sale is calculated from available data on binding sale transactions undertaken under
standard market conditions for similar assets, or observable market prices reduced by additional costs
of sale of an asset. The calculation of value in use is based on a model of the present value of future
cash flows ("DCF model”). Cash flows are derived from the budget for the next three years and do
not include major future investments which increase the output of assets of the tested CGU. The
recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model and to expected future
cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

e The costs of long-term employee benefits are measured at their present value using actuarial
estimates. Actuarial estimates include various assumptions which may differ from the actual future
development. These assumptions include determining the discount rate, future increases of salaries,
employee turnover and the estimated time of retirement. Given the complexity of the measurement
and its long-term nature, the amount of the employee benefit obligation is very sensitive to changes
in such assumptions. All assumptions are reassessed at each reporting date.

The discount rate is the parameter that is most subject to change. When determining the appropriate
discount rate, management takes into account interest rates on corporate bonds in the currencies
corresponding to the currencies of the employee benefit obligations. In countries with no active
market for corporate bonds, bank bond rates are taken into account. Discount rates correspond to
the estimated time for the settlement of employee benefit obligations.
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6. GROUP STRUCTURE
Consolidated Subsidiaries

The consolidated subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021:

Ownership P o
Name Seat Share % Principal activity
Subsidiaries 2021 2020
610 West Ash Street, Suite 1700, San o o Antivirus software
ESET, LLC Diego, CA 92101, USA 100% 100% gistributor
473, Rue Sainte-Catherine Quest
ESET Canada Recherche ! ; o o Research and
Inc. E:;:adi 300, Montreal QC, H3B 1B1, 100% 100% development
44 Chipman Hill Suite 1000, Saint John o o Antivirus software
ESET Canada Inc. NB, E2L 2A9, Canada 100% 100% jistributor
ESET Deutschland GmbH Spitzweidenweg 32, 07743 Jena, 100% 100% Antivirus software
Germany distributor
Praha 7 - Classic 7 Business Park, L
ESET software spol. s r.o. Jankovcova 1037/49, 100% 100% ,(’;\ir;?i/glljjtsofoftware
170 00 Prague 7, Czech Republic
ESET Research Czech Palachovo namésti 799/5, Stary 100% 100% Research and
Republic s.r.0. Liskovec, 625 00 Brno, Czech Republic ° ° development
ESET Polska Sp. 7 0.0. Jasnogorska 9, 31 - 358 Krakow, 100% 100% Research and
Poland development
3th Floor Ocean 80, Holdenhurst Road, o
ESET SOFTWARE UK Bournemouth, BH8 8AQ, United 100% 100% ~ Antivirus software
Limited Kingdom distributor
3th Floor Ocean 80, Holdenhurst Road,
PGNB Limited ) (3 Bournemouth, BH8 8AQ, United 100% 100% O
Kingdom
3 Heron Gate Office Park,
EiSr]LEiIeI;ESEARCH UK Hankridge Way, Taunton, Somerset, 100% 100% g:\slzforcrnzgf
TA1 2LR, United Kingdom P
Strada Palas Nr. 7D-7E,
. Cladirea United Business Center 3 Research and
7) 0, o,
ESET Romanla S.R.L. (Corp C2), Etaj 2, Spatiul C2S9, 100% 100% development
Municipiul Iasi, Judet Iasi, Romania
ESET ITALIA S.r.l. Via Campo Lodigiano 3, 20122 Milan, 100% 100% A_ntl\_/lrus software
Italy distributor
Nadécia ESET g'l’;\sltaek'”é’;’suﬁ'csm 01 Bratislava, 100% 100%  Foundation
. B Service provider +
ESET ASIA PTE. LTD. 3 Anson Road, Springleaf Tower #12 100% 100% Antivirus software
01/02, Singapore 079909, Singapore .
distributor
ESET Software Australia, Level 20, 111 Pacific Highway, North 100% 100% Antivirus software
PTY, LTD. ® Sydney NSW 2060, Sydney, Australia ° ° distributor
ESET Japan Inc. @ 5&1765-%;(:::'1’ Minato-ku, Tokyo 108- 90% 90% Service provider
1270 Juan Diaz de Solis, 2nd Floor,
gslf-[ Lﬁ;l;INOAMERICA Vicente Lopez, Buenos Aires CP: 100% 100% Service provider
T B1638BHF, Argentina
Rua Verbo Divino, 2.001, Cjts
II\E/I?'-\EI;ED'I'OII\?SA;%A an 1407/1410, Chacara Santo Antonio, 100% 100% Service provider
S&o Paulo / SP - Brazil, Zip 04.719-002
) Av. Paseo de la Reforma 250 - Office
ESET MEXICO S. de R.L. 981 A-B-C-D-, Colonia Juarez, 100% 100% Service provider

de C.v. (2

Delegacion Cuauhtémoc, Ciudad de
México, Mexiko

(1) ESET Research Czech Republic s.r.o. changed its registered office in January 2021. Its original registered office was at U
Prehrady 3204/61, Mseno nad Nisou, 466 02 Jablonec nad Nisou, Czech Republic.

(2) ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited changed its registered office in September 2021. Its original registered office was at 5th Floor
Holland House, 20 Oxford Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH8 8EZ, United Kingdom.

(3) ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited is a 100% subsidiary of the Parent Company as of 30 December 2020.

(4) In November 2021, an application was filed for a voluntary deletion of PGNB Limited from the Companies Register. PGNB
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Limited was deleted from the Companies Register on 19 April 2022.

(5) PGNB Limited changed its registered office in September 2021. Its original registered office was at 5th Floor Holland House,
20 Oxford Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH8 8EZ, United Kingdom.

(6) PGNB Limited carried out no business activities in 2021. In 2020, PGNB Limited sold its 100% share in its subsidiary,
SOFTWARE UK Limited, to the Parent Company.

(7) 99.9963% of the shares are held by ESET, spol. s r.o. and 0.0037% are held by ESET Research Czech Republic s.r.o.

(8) ESET Software Australia, PTY, LTD. changed its registered office in October 2021. Its original registered office was at Level 3,
50 Yeo Street, Neutral Bay NSW 2089, Sydney, Australia.

(9) 90% of the shares are held by the Parent Company and the remaining 10% are held by Canon Marketing Japan Inc.

(10) 90% of the shares are held by ESET, LLC and the remaining 10% are held by the Parent Company.

(11) 90% of the shares are held by the Parent Company and the remaining 10% are held by ESET, LLC.

(12) 90% of the shares are held by the Parent Company and the remaining 10% are held by ESET, LLC.

In 2020, the Group changed its internal structure as follows: the Parent Company acquired a 100% share
in ESET Software UK Limited from the original owner, its subsidiary — PGNB Limited. PGNB Limited carried
out no business activities in 2021. In 2021, the Group began the liquidation of PGNB Limited. PGNB Limited
was deleted from the Companies Register in the United Kingdom on 19 April 2022.

7. ACQUISITION OF A BUSINESS

The Group acquired no investments in subsidiaries in 2021 and 2020.

8. REVENUES FROM THE PROVISION OF END-USER LICENCES AND SERVICES

2021 2020
Revenues from the provision of end user licenses and services 547 513 526 022
Total 547 513 526 022

Revenues from the provision of end-user licenses and services by sales region:

2021 2020
EMEA 303 589 288 591
APAC 114 129 108 601
NORAM 87 803 86 794
LATAM 36 700 35 330
Global sales 5292 6 706
Total 547 513 526 022
9. SERVICES
2021 2020
Costs of obtaining a contract 262 116 256 037
Advertising and promotion expenses 26 441 23 785
Rent 3 395 3709
Internet, data services, IT services 14 631 12 317
Accounting, economic, legal and audit services 5 440 6 345
Travel expenses 441 705
Other 5295 4218
Total 317 759 307 116
10. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
2021 2020
Wages and salaries 97 274 85 609
Health and social security insurance payments 27 185 22 775
Other personnel and social expenses 3416 3109
Total 127 875 111 493

Wages and salaries increased due to an increase in employees (1 930 in 2021, 1 831 in 2020) and due to
an extension of the employee benefit scheme and bonuses to the Group’s management key personnel and
the related creation of a provision for employee benefits (see Note 23) by EUR 5 478 thousand.
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11. FINANCE INCOME

2021 2020
Foreign exchange gains, net 4 660 -
Interest income 108 111
Other 27 37
Total 4 795 148
12. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
Bank fees 142 124
Foreign exchange losses, net - 4 566
Interest expense 740 903
Other 127 (18)
Total 1 009 5 575
13. INCOME TAX
13.1. Income tax recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
2021 2020
Current income tax (26 622) (20 082)
Deferred income tax - (income) 5 669 3 000
Total income tax for the year (20 953) (17 082)

13.2. Reconciliation of the effective income tax rate recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income

2021 2020
Profit before income tax 90 274 87 299
Income tax at statutory tax rate of 21% (2020: 21%) 18 958 18 333
Tax effect of permanent differences 1 300 (2 054)
Impact of different tax rates of the subsidiaries in other jurisdictions (452) (560)
Effect of an unrecognised deferred tax asset 1 1559
Effect of change of deferred tax rate 199 (25)
Other 947 (171)
Total income tax for the year 20 953 17 082

“Other” primarily includes additional tax related to previous reporting periods, which is

profit/loss of this reporting period.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and
Buildings, Plant, .

Structures - Machinery & Othe;;zgsg Ible Total

Construction Equipment

Modifications
Cost
At 1 January 2020 20 875 27 802 19 769 68 446
Additions 1577 3121 1010 5708
Disposals (262) (1991) (4) (2 257)
Transfers 64 203 (267) -
Effects of exchange rate (545) (989) (22) (1 556)
At 31 December 2020 21 709 28 146 20 486 70 341
At 1 January 2021 21 709 28 146 20 486 70 341
Additions 2799 3 557 3951 10 307
Disposals (569) (1 352) (142) (2 063)
Transfers 360 34 (394) -
Effects of exchange rate 499 666 27 1192
At 31 December 2021 24 798 31 051 23 928 79 777
Accumulated Depreciation and
Impairment
At 1 January 2020 8571 19 792 (13) 28 350
Additions 1 310 3 880 143 5333
Disposals (199) (1 990) 13 (2 176)
Transfers - - - -
Effects of exchange rate (359) (796) (1) (1156)
At 31 December 2020 9 323 20 886 142 30 351
At 1 January 2021 9 323 20 886 142 30 351
Additions 1 505 3739 - 5244
Disposals (534) (1 345) (142) (2 021)
Transfers 106 (106) - -
Effects of exchange rate 339 562 - 901
At 31 December 2021 10 739 23 736 - 34 475
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2020 12 386 7 260 20 344 39 990
At 31 December 2021 14 059 7 315 23 928 45 302

The Group recognises acquisitions of property, plant and equipment placed into service in the same
financial year as additions in 2021. The acquisitions of property, plant and equipment from preceding
periods, which were placed into service in 2021, are classified as transfers.

In 2021, the Group performed a review of non-current assets with respect to the recoverability of amounts.
No indicators of impairment were identified. Also, a review of the useful lives of depreciated assets was
performed. The depreciation period has not changed compared to 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the insurance of property, plant and equipment and non-current intangible assets
within the Group totals EUR 43 045 thousand (31 December 2020: EUR 43 046 thousand). Through
insurance, the Group also covers other business-related risks, including damage liability insurance. The
insurance of other insured risks within the Group totals EUR 59 378 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: EUR 34 840 thousand).

Land and buildings, structures - construction modifications mainly include land and technical improvement
of leased office premises. Movements in this category of assets relate to construction modifications of
leased office premises.

Machinery, equipment and other items mainly include IT equipment, such as disk arrays, servers and other
IT equipment and office equipment. The Group is continually replacing and expanding its technical and
office equipment to ensure the continuity of its business activities.

Other tangible assets mainly include real estate for the planned project of the new headquarters and
campus of the Group.

The Group has no assets under lien. The Group has no assets with restricted handling.

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 29



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Non-
Current
Software V:I_uable Goodwill Other Intangible Total
ights !
Assets in
Acquisition
Cost
At 1 January 2020 6 655 791 1769 14171 460 23 846
Additions 109 - - 1289 251 1 649
Disposals (340) - - (493) (181) (1014)
Transfers - - - 96 (96) -
Exchange differences (252) (6) (181) (458) (22) (919)
At 31 December 2020 6172 785 1 588 14 605 412 23 562
At 1 January 2021 6172 785 1588 14 605 412 23 562
Additions 1 396 8 - - 115 1519
Disposals (1179) (23) - (3 215) (359) (4 776)
Transfers 4118 - - (4 110) (8) -
Exchange differences 119 10 72 3 (6) 198
At 31 December 2021 10 626 780 1 660 7 283 154 20 503
Accumulated
Depreciation and
Impairment
At 1 January 2020 6 524 764 - 11 796 150 19 234
Depreciation charge 154 6 - 1147 9 1316
Disposals (340) - - (493) (156) (989)
Transfers - - - - - -
Exchange differences (230) (5) - (451) (3) (689)
At 31 December 2020 6 108 765 - 11 999 - 18 872
At 1 January 2021 6 108 765 - 11 999 - 18 872
Depreciation charge 692 17 - 1339 - 2 048
Disposals (1179) (23) - (3 215) - (4 417)
Transfers 2 846 - - (2 846) - -
Exchange differences 122 10 - 4 - 136
At 31 December 2021 8 589 769 - 7 281 - 16 639
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2020 64 20 1 588 2 606 412 4 690
At 31 December 2021 2 037 11 1 660 2 154 3 864

The Group recognises acquisitions of non-current intangible assets placed into service in the same financial
year as additions in 2021. The acquisitions of non-current intangible assets from preceding periods, which
were placed into service in 2021, are classified as transfers.

Software primarily includes items acquired by the acquisition of subsidiaries, and purchased software.
Other items of intangible assets primarily include a customer list obtained by the acquisition of subsidiaries.

As a result of the planned transition to a new asset records module and preparation of the Parent Company
for the transition to bookkeeping under International Financial Reporting Standards from 1 January 2022,
the Group reassessed the method of recording intangible assets. Opening balances of assets recorded as
at 1 January 2021 as “Other” totalling EUR 4 110 thousand were transferred to “Software”. Opening
balances of accumulated depreciation totalling EUR 2 846 thousand were also transferred from “Other” to
“Software”. The Group continues with the implementation of a new asset records module at its subsidiaries
in 2022.

The Group acquired goodwill that is annually subject to impairment testing under IAS 36 by the acquisition
of Datsec in Germany and PGNB Limited and ESET SOFTWARE UK (formerly QNH Limited Group) in the
UK.

When assessing the impairment of goodwill, the Group analyses the following indicators:
¢ Negative development in the industry;

e Decrease in the market value; and

e Growth of sales slower than estimated.

Based on the above criteria, the Group concluded that goodwill was not impaired as at 31 December 2021.
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The Group adjusted incorrect values of decreases in cost and accumulated depreciation in “Other” for 2020
by a decrease of EUR 3 135 thousand. In connection with this correction, the Group also increased FX
differences by EUR 76 thousand. As a result, the carrying amount of cost and accumulated depreciation
recognised in “Other” as at 31 December 2020 increased by EUR 3 059 thousand. The total impact of the
adjustment on the net book value of non-current intangible assets is zero as at 31 December 2020.

16. CAPITALISED COSTS OF OBTAINING A CONTRACT

2021 2020

Balance as at 1 Jan 216 830 217 075
Capitalised costs of obtaining a contract 157 202 149 326
Amortised in expenses of the current year (147 378) (144 483)
Effect of FX differences 4 984 (5 088)
Balance as at 31 Dec 231 638 216 830
Of which:

Current capitalised costs of obtaining a contract 159 132 149 049

Non-current capitalised costs of obtaining a contract 72 506 67 781

The costs of obtaining a contract are related to the commissions paid to distributors and resellers for the
acquisition of licence agreements with end customers and are amortised in expenses over the licence term
in proportion to the amount of recognised licencing revenues.

There was no impairment loss in connection with the capitalised costs of obtaining a contract.

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
Trade receivables 10 082 8988
Other receivables and other assets 10 024 6 854
Less: provision for doubtful receivables (5 227) (2 644)
Trade and other receivables, net 14 879 13 198
A summary of the ageing structure of the Group’s trade receivables:
2021 2020
Overdue receivables 9 651 8 891
of which:
Overdue by up to 30 days 2 501 2621
Overdue between 30 - 90 days 1545 1572
Overdue by more than 90 days 5605 4 698

The average maturity period of receivables from the sale of software is 30 days. The Group recorded
a provision mainly for doubtful trade receivables of its subsidiaries ESET spol. s r.o., ESET Canada Inc.
and ESET ASIA PTE. LTD. in the amount of EUR 5 227 thousand (2020: EUR 2 644 thousand).
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A summary of the ageing structure of the Group’s trade and other receivables, for which provisions were
recorded:

2021 2020
Receivables, for which provisions were recorded 8 700 4 989
of which:
Due 2237 85
Overdue by up to 30 days 234 270
Overdue between 30 - 90 days 733 33
Overdue by more than 90 days 5496 4 601
2021 2020
Provisions for receivables (5 227) (2 644)
Of which:
Due (1 542) (42)
Overdue by up to 30 days (8) (18)
Overdue between 30-90 days (17) 27)
Overdue by more than 90 days (3 660) (2 557)

The Group has developed a system that is uniformly used to assess the creditworthiness of customers.
When determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers their creditworthiness as at
the reporting date. The creditworthiness of customers is also assessed when deciding on a new customer.
The Group performs the assessment of doubtful receivables based on historical experience and on
management analysis.

The Group regularly assesses credit risk associated with its customers based on their financial position. In
the case of default, the customer’s access to the updated software version can be in certain cases restricted
or cancelled, which makes the software unusable.

In 2021, in addition to a provision for trade receivables, the Group also created a provision for other
receivables within maturity in the amount of EUR 1 507 thousand (2020: EUR 0 thousand).

A summary of the ageing structure of the Group’s overdue trade and other receivables, for which no
provisions were recorded:

2021 2020
Overdue receivables, for which no provisions were recorded: 3188 3 987
Of which:
Overdue by up to 30 days 2267 2 351
Overdue by between 30 and 90 days 812 1540
Overdue by more than 90 days 109 96

The carrying amount of receivables approximates their fair value.

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

When the Group satisfies its obligation of contract performance by transferring software use rights during
the specified period to a customer before the maturity of the receivable, a contract claim for a consideration
is recognised by the Group as a contract asset.

2021 2020
Balance as at 1 Jan 8 725 9 849
Additions of contract assets 11 457 8 725
Disposals of contract assets* 8 725 9 849
Balance as at 31 Dec 11 457 8 725

* Disposals of contract assets by reclassification to receivables at the maturity date, or when payment is received.

In accordance with IAS 32, the Group offsets receivables and contract assets with payables to distributors
and resellers. See Note 3 for additional information about the applied accounting principle.
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Offset financial assets and financial liabilities

2021 2020
Contract assets 11 457 8 725
Trade receivables 1361 1120
Trade payables 12 818 9 845

As at 31 December 2021, the Group records contingent receivables amounting to EUR 57 737 thousand
(31 December 2020: EUR 49 893 thousand). These receivables are not recoverable and due at the end of
the reporting period, but the Group expects them to fall due on average within 30 days of the end of the
reporting period. A portion of receivables from distributors and resellers will be settled on a net basis upon
maturity as contractually agreed in the distribution agreements with distributors and resellers.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
Cash on hand 9 39
Bank accounts 82 547 78 736
Bank deposits and other cash equivalents 14 094 36 780
96 650 115 555

The Group invests free cash in bank term deposits (overnights, money market funds). The carrying
amounts of these financial assets approximate their fair value.

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

20.1. Deferred Tax Balances

2021 2020
Deferred tax asset 62 710 55 246
Deferred tax liability (44) (29)
Total 62 666 55 217

Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) Comprise:

Recognised in

Balance Charged Charged to Other Balance
at 1 Jan Through Profits/ Comprehensive at 31 Dec
2021 Equity Losses 2021
Income
Deferred income 98 855 - 4991 2752 106 598
Capitalised costs
of obtaining a
contract (47 062) - (1932) (1028) (50 022)
Other 3424 - 2 610 56 6 090
Total 55 217 - 5 669 1780 62 666
Balance Charged Charged to Reccg;;;: s:zd m Balance
at 1 Jan Through Profits/ Compre heensive at 31 Dec
2020 Equity Losses T 2020
ncome
Deferred income 97 314 - 4 275 (2 734) 98 855
Capitalised costs
of obtaining a
contract (46 592) - (1 524) 1 054 (47 062)
Other 3304 - 244 (124) 3424
Total 54 026 - 2 995 (1.804) 55 217
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise a deferred tax asset in the amount of EUR 5 746
thousand (2020: EUR 5 304 thousand) relating mainly to temporary differences from the possibility of
carrying forward tax paid abroad by the subsidiary, ESET LLC. The Group does not anticipate that it will be

able to carry forward tax paid abroad by tax deduction.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
Trade payables 33 007 26 354
Employee benefits liabilities 10 221 8 703
Social security liabilities 3 057 2924
Other tax liabilities 3726 3 057
Other payables 6 351 30 091
Total 56 362 71 129
Of which:
Liabilities within maturity 55 380 70 323
Overdue liabilities 982 806
2021 2020
Overdue liabilities 982 806
Of which:
Overdue by up to 30 days 682 532
Overdue between 30 - 90 days 155 125
Overdue by more than 90 days 145 149

In 2020, other liabilities include liabilities from dividends approved but unpaid at the end of the year in the
amount of EUR 23 383 thousand. Liabilities from unpaid dividends were settled in January 2021.

The Group has rules under which liabilities must be paid by their maturity. Other payables are primarily
related to accrued expenses.

22. LEASES

The Group leases various office premises and contracts are usually concluded for a definite period with the
option to extend or shorten the lease term based on individually agreed contractual terms. Lease contracts
are negotiated separately and comprise various contractual terms. Lease contracts do not impose an
obligation to meet covenants and leased assets may not be used as collateral.

Right-of-use assets in EUR ‘000

2021 2020
At 1 January 27 858 29 691
Additions 4 569 5 088
Disposals (22) (18)
Depreciation (6 349) (6 191)
Exchange rate effects 475 (712)
At 31 December 26 531 27 858
Recognised right-of-use assets apply to the following types of assets:
2021 2020

Buildings 26 463 27 808
Equipment - -
Motor vehicles 68 50

26 531 27 858
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Lease liabilities in EUR ‘000

2021 2020

At 1 Jan 2021 29 867 32 544
Additions 4 415 4 850
Disposals (21) (18)
Accrued interest expense 726 902
Lease payments (7 532) (7 723)
Exchange rate effects 467 (688)
At 31 Dec 2021 27 922 29 867

Of which:
Current lease liabilities 6 994 6 387
Non-current lease liabilities 20 928 23480

Of which:
Non-current lease liabilities falling due in 1-5 years 19 124 21 489
Non-current lease liabilities falling due in over 5 years 1804 1991

The total outflow of cash for leases is presented in a separate line in the consolidated statement of cash
flows, page 8.

Under IFRS 16, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of future lease payments discounted
using the weighted average of the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. The weighted average interest rate
used to recalculate the present value of future lease payments is as follows:

= At 1 January 2020: 2.510%

= At 31 December 2020: 2.679%

= At 31 December 2021: 2.588%

Lease liabilities under IFRS 16 in EUR ‘000

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Lease liabilities net of discount 32 037 32 308
Discount (4 115) (2 441)
Lease liabilities after discounting 27 922 29 867
Weighted average interest rate 2.59% 2.68%

The Group leases office and operation premises under an operating lease. In several contracts, the Group
has the possibility to exercise an option to extend a lease contract, an option of one-off termination of the
contract by the lessee, or is entitled to terminate a lease contract for any reason or for convenience within
a specified notice period. Upon termination of some contracts, the Group is also required to remove any
modifications made and remedy any damage. Compensations and contractual penalties arising from such
provisions of the contracts have no significant effect on the amount of the finance lease liability.

Contingent future lease liabilities from unused options stated in lease contracts, which may be exercised
by the Group in the future, amount to EUR 25 559 thousand (2020: EUR 24 929 thousand) and contingent
liabilities due to future variable payments related to such options amount to EUR 3 211 thousand (2020:
EUR 3 674 thousand).

Estimated future variable lease payments arising from lease contracts capitalised under IFRS 16 total EUR
6 263 thousand and have the following maturity structure:

31 Dec 2021
Falling due in up to 1 year 1291
Falling due in 1-5 years 4 155
Falling due in over 5 years 817
6 263

This is an English language translation of the original Slovak language document. 35



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands EUR, if not stipulated otherwise)

Profit/(loss) as at 31 December 2021 in respect of IFRS 16 in EUR ‘000

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (6 349) (6 191)
Of which: - -
Buildings (6 318) (6 181)
Equipment - -
Motor vehicles (31) (10)
Interest expense from lease liabilities (726) (902)
Expenses relating to low-value assets (3) (43)
Expenses relating to short-term leases (811) (617)
Expenses relating to other assets excluded from the scope of
IFRS 16 - (389)
Expenses relating to variable lease payments (1 090) (1262)

The breakdown of the total amount of variable lease payments recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

2021 2020
Rent 1 055 1226
Internet, data services, IT services - 1
Other operating expenses 35 35

The amount of COVID-19-related rent concessions in the form of reduced rent for which all the conditions
above were met is recognised as part of variable lease payments in the amount of EUR 72 thousand.

The Group identified lease contracts to which an exemption under IFRS 16 is applied: Total future minimum
lease liabilities from the lease of low-value assets as at 31 January 2021 amount to EUR 29 thousand, total
lease liabilities from short-term leases amount to EUR 196 thousand. The total amount of other assets
excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 due to materiality is EUR 578 thousand. Low-value assets include
leases of assets with a value of up to EUR 5 thousand (printers, coffee machines, water dispenser stands).
Short-term leases are leases of up to 1 year, and other assets excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 due to
materiality mainly comprise leases of cars and data storage. Lease liabilities from the lease of other assets
excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 due to materiality comprise future minimum lease payments to the
lessor of such assets in the amount of the basic rent and the related fixed expenses.

A summary of future lease payments to which IFRS 16 was not applied (leased low-value assets, short-
term leases, other assets):

31 Dec 2021

Falling due in up to 1 year 531
Falling due in 1 to 5 years 272
Falling due in over 5 years -
803

23. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

2021 2020
Short-term provisions for liabilities 2 235 220
Long-term provisions for liabilities 7717 4012
of which:

Maturity up to 5 years 3023 2930
Maturity over 5 years 4 694 1 082

The provisions for liabilities include a provision for employee benefits that was created in connection with
employee loyalty benefits and employee loyalty vacation days, a provision for bonuses to the Group’s
management key personnel and a provision for restoration of leased assets to the original condition. In
2021, the Group extended the employee benefit scheme to include additional loyalty benefits and loyalty
vacation days.
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Provisions for liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The final amount of the provision for liabilities
reflects key parameters, primarily turnover and the expected increase in wages and salaries. The discount
rate used to calculate the present value of the liability is derived from the yield curve of high-quality bonds
with a maturity approximating the terms of the Group’s liabilities at the reporting date.

The following actuarial assumptions were used when calculating provisions for long-term employee
benefits:

Number of employees as at 31 December 1930
Weighted average turnover rate 9.44% p.a.
Weighted average increase in wages and salaries 3.31% p.a.
Weighted average discount rate 1.54% p.a.

24, DEFERRED INCOME

2021 2020
Balance as at 1 Jan 397 617 391 403
Consideration for services to be provided in the future 324 310 320 250
Released to revenues for the current year (309 208) (301 016)
Effect of FX differences 13 147 (13 020)
Balance as at 31 Dec 425 866 397 617
Of which:
Current deferred income 295 586 275 361
Non-current deferred income 130 280 122 256

“Deferred income” in the consolidated statement of financial position includes deferred income of the Group
from the sale of ESET products and services, also referred to as “contract liabilities”.

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Tax returns of the Parent Company remain open and may be subject to review over a five-year period.
The fact that a certain period or tax return related to this period has been subject to review does not
eliminate the possibility of this period being subject to a further review during the five-year period.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2021, the Parent Company’s tax returns for 2017 to 2021 remain open
and may be subject to review.

The ESET Group identified contingent future lease liabilities from unused options stated in lease contracts,
which may be exercised in the future, in the total amount of EUR 25 559 thousand and contingent liabilities
due to future variable payments related to such options in the amount of EUR 3 211 thousand.

26. LITIGATION
FINJAN Inc.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are currently a party to three legal disputes with FINJAN as at 31

December 2021.

1. In litigation in which Eset, spol. s r.o0. and its subsidiary, Eset LLC, are the defendant, FINJAN Inc.
took legal action against both companies due to an alleged breach of six patents registered in the US
by FINJAN Inc.

2. In litigation in which Eset, spol. s r.0. and its subsidiary, Eset Deutschland GmbH, are the defendant,
FINJAN Inc. took legal action against both companies due to an alleged breach of a patent registered
by FINJAN Inc.

3. ESET spol. s r.o. is involved in litigation as the plaintiff regarding patent invalidity with FINJAN Inc.
as the defendant. This is a patent with regard to which FINJAN Inc. took legal action due its breach,
in the litigation above.
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As at 31 December 2021, proceedings continue under paragraph 2, which were suspended in 2018 pending
a ruling on the invalidity of the patent of FINJAN Inc. On 13 April 2021, in proceedings under paragraph 3,
the Bundesgerichthof (German Supreme Court) revoked the patent court’s ruling on the invalidity of the
patent of FINJAN Inc. in November 2018 and ruled that the patent remains unchanged. These proceedings
only remain open with respect to a ruling on the amount of the costs of the proceedings to be paid by the
Group to FINJAN Inc.

In the US litigation (paragraph 1), the proceedings continued with a discovery stage in February 2021, the
fact-related part of which was completed. In March 2021, based on an earlier petition of the Group, the
court ruled on the invalidity of five of the six patents in these proceedings. At the end of March, the court
permitted FINJAN Inc. to file a motion for reconsideration, via which this company seeks a change of the
court’s ruling. The motion was dismissed by a judge in May 2021. FINJAN Inc. appealed against this
decision to the Federal Court of Appeal. In addition, the court ruled on the separation of proceedings on
the '305 patent from other patents. The proceedings on the ‘305 patent were adjourned until a ruling on
other patents is issued, including appellate proceedings.

A hearing on the appeal filed by FINJAN Inc. with the Federal Court of Appeals will be held on 3 May 2022.
A ruling of the Federal Court of Appeals is expected in the period after the hearing.

As none of these litigations meets the conditions for the creation of a provision, the Group did not record
a provision for potential losses as at 31 December 2021.

Future Time S.r.l.

In January 2021, the former Italian distributor, Future Time S.r.l., exercised its monetary claims by a letter
due to the termination of a distribution contract. As at 31 December 2021, the Group records a provision
for receivables from the debtor, Future Time S.r.l. Future Time S.r.l. exercised its claims at the Court of
Arbitration of the Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry.

In 2021, the Group submitted its comments on the arguments presented by Future Time S.r.l. and brought
its own claims. In autumn 2021, oral hearings were held at the Court of Arbitration of the Slovak Chamber
of Commerce and Industry, at which the action was partially withdrawn by Future Time S.r.l. A closing
hearing was held in December 2021 and the award was delivered to the Group in February 2022. The court
dismissed the action of Future Time S.r.l. in its entirety, partially acknowledged the Group’s counterclaims
and ordered both parties to pay certain costs of the proceedings.

When analysing the impact of the above award on the financial statements prepared as at 31 December
2021, the Group also reflected the likelihood of the payment of the claims granted based on the award.

27. COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had concluded no significant contracts for the purchase of non-current
tangible and intangible assets.

28. COSTS OF AUDIT SERVICES

2021 2020
Costs of auditing financial statements 367 304
Other assurance audit services 6 -
Tax services 143 117

29. RELATED PARTIES
29.1. Trading transactions

The Group is owned and controlled by individuals (refer to Note 1.1.). There were no transactions between
the Group and related parties except for the transactions below:

2021 2020

Transactions with related parties through personal connection - -
Borrowing from a minority owner 32 54
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The Group’s management considers related party transactions to be performed on an arm'’s length basis.

Balances and transactions between the Parent Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of
the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

29.2. Compensation of key management personnel

2021 2020
Short-term benefits 6 737 7 134
Other long-term benefits 2115 859

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

A summary of categories of financial instruments — balances as at 31 December:

Carrying Amount Fair Value
2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets per the statement of financial

position
Other non-current assets 2 543 2 440 2 543 2 440
Trade and other receivables 7 633 8 660 7 633 8 660
Cash and cash equivalents 96 650 115 555 96 650 115 555
Total 106 826 126 655 106 826 126 655
Liabilities per the statement of financial

position
Other non-current liabilities 438 178 438 178
Non-current lease liabilities 20 928 23481 20928 23 481
Long-term provisions for liabilities 7717 4012 7717 4012
Trade and other payables 52 636 68 074 52 636 68 074
Current lease liabilities 6 994 6 387 6 994 6 387
Short-term provisions for liabilities 2 235 219 2 235 219
Total 90 948 102 351 90 948 102 351

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables and other current receivables and
payables are recognised at carrying amounts that approximate their fair values as they have short-term
maturities.

30.1. Risk Management

The Group is exposed to various financial risks such as market risk (mainly, foreign exchange risk) and
liquidity risk. As the Group did not draw any loans, it is not exposed to interest rate risk or credit risk. The
Group recognises lease liabilities under IFRS 16, which are discounted using the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee, which is in essence a fixed rate. A potential change to this rate
upon the modification of a lease contract will not affect the agreed future cash flows, but rather will impact
the measurement of the lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group has
set rules to manage these exposures; risk management is performed by the Parent Company’s finance
department and the subsidiaries’ finance departments.

The Group maintains cash balances and short-term investments with a number of financial institutions.
The Group invests with highly-rated financial institutions. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets with a floating interest rate, other than cash balances in bank accounts.

30.2. Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates on international markets and is exposed to foreign exchange risk inherent in foreign
currency transactions when translating them into the functional currency. The risks arise from future
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. The euro is the functional currency of the Parent Company.
The Parent Company has subsidiaries, which report in twelve different currencies (Czech koruna, British
pound, Polish zloty, Romanian leu, US dollar, Canadian dollar, Singapore dollar, Brazilian real, Argentine
peso, Australian dollar, Mexican peso and Japanese yen). The Group does not use any special financial
instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk. The Group relies on natural hedging through adjusting
purchases and sales. The exposures are further mitigated through the use of short-term placements in
banks.
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The following items of assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency that is material to the Group:

Cash: USD, CZK, PLN, CAD, GBP, JPY
Receivables: USD, JPY
Payables: USD, CZK, PLN, CAD, GBP, JPY, ARS, AUD

The Group also has assets and liabilities denominated in the Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Romanian leu,
Mexican peso, Singapore dollar and Swiss franc. The Parent Company has assets and liabilities
denominated primarily in the functional currency - euro, and also in USD, UK pound, Canadian dollar,
Japanese yen, CZK and Polish zloty.

The sensitivity analysis is based on the same assumptions as used internally by the management for
financial risk management planning and strategy. This is based on past movements, and on knowledge of
and experience in financial markets. These are the movements that are considered to be reasonably
possible in the next twelve months:

Movements in EUR/foreign currency exchange rates by 10% would represent the following amounts:

Exchange Rate at Exchange Rate Exchange Rate

31 Dec 2021 Appreciation by 10% Depreciation by 10%
EUR / USD 1.1326 1.2459 1.0193
EUR / CZK 24.8580 27.3438 22.3722
EUR / JPY 130.3800 143.4180 117.3420
EUR / GBP 0.8403 0.9243 0.7563
EUR / PLN 4.5969 5.0566 4.1372
EUR / AUD 1.5615 1.7177 1.4054
EUR / BRL 6.3101 6.9411 5.6791
EUR / SGD 1.5279 1.6807 1.3751
EUR / CAD 1.4393 1.5832 1.2954
EUR / ARS* 116.1930 127.8123 104.5737
EUR / RON 4.9490 5.4439 4.4541
EUR / MXN 23.1438 25.4582 20.8294
EUR / CHF 1.0331 1.1364 0.9298

*As regards the foreign subsidiary in Argentina, whose functional currency is hyperinflationary, all items (assets, liabilities, equity,
revenues and expenses) were translated using the ECB’s exchange rate valid as at the reporting date. Comparable items
presented as data of the previous period were translated into a non-hyperinflationary currency and thus were not adjusted for
subsequent changes in price, or subsequent movements in exchange rates.

Based on the sensitivity analysis, if the EUR exchange rate increased/decreased by 10% against these
foreign currencies and other variables remained unchanged, the impact on the profit/loss from the
translation would be as follows:

Depreciation of the Appreciation of the
Exchange Rate by Exchange Rate by
10% 10%

EUR / USD (1 081) 1322
EUR / CZK (393) 480
EUR / JPY (348) 426
EUR / GBP (818) 1 000
EUR / PLN (85) 104
EUR / AUD 175 (214)
EUR / BRL 14 (17)
EUR / SGD (21) 25
EUR / CAD (391) 478
EUR / ARS* 57 (70)
EUR / RON (8) 10
EUR / MXN 6 (8)
EUR / CHF (9) 12

*As regards the foreign subsidiary in Argentina, whose functional currency is hyperinflationary, all items (assets, liabilities, equity,
revenues and expenses) were translated using the ECB’s exchange rate valid as at the reporting date. Comparable items
presented as data of the previous period were translated into a non-hyperinflationary currency and thus were not adjusted for
subsequent changes in price, or subsequent movements in exchange rates.

A 10% movement in the exchange rate was used in the analysis since at this level the management is
informed about the currency risk and makes decisions.

The Group is also exposed to foreign exchange differences when converting items of the balance sheets

and income statements of foreign subsidiaries to the Group’s presentation currency, ie EUR. The resulting
exchange rate differences are included in equity as a foreign exchange translation reserve.
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30.3. Exchange Rates

Average Exchange Exchange Rate Average Exchange Rate
Currency Rate for 2021 as at 31 Dec 2021 Exchange Rate for as at 31 Dec
2020 2020

EUR / USD 1.1830 1.1326 1.1420 1.2271
EUR / CZK 25.6400 24.8580 26.4550 26.2420
EUR / JPY 129.8770 130.3800 121.8460 126.4900
EUR / GBP 0.8600 0.84028 0.8900 0.89903
EUR / PLN 4.5650 4.5969 4.4430 4.5597
EUR / AUD 1.5750 1.5615 1.6550 1.5896
EUR / BRL 6.3780 6.3101 5.8940 6.3735
EUR / SGD 1.5890 1.5279 1.5740 1.6218
EUR / CAD 1.4830 1.4393 1.5300 1.5633
EUR / ARS* 112.9810 116.1930 82.1920 103.4330
EUR / RON 4.9210 4.9490 4.8380 4.8683
EUR / MXN 23.9850 23.1438 24.5190 24.4160
EUR / CHF 1.0810 1.0331 1.0710 1.0802

*As regards the foreign subsidiary in Argentina, whose functional currency is hyperinflationary, all items (assets, liabilities, equity,
revenues and expenses) were translated using the ECB’s exchange rate valid as at the reporting date. Comparable items
presented as data of the previous period were translated into a non-hyperinflationary currency and thus were not adjusted for
subsequent changes in price, or subsequent movements in exchange rates.

30.4. Liquidity Risk

The Group keeps a sufficient volume of cash primarily from its own resources. At the Group level, the
management monitors the sufficiency of liquid reserves based on the forecasted cash flows.

The COVID-19 pandemic had no significant financial impact on the Group and does not represent an
increased liquidity risk.

The bulk of trade receivables within the Group arise from sales to customers outside of Slovakia. The Group
performs a continuous assessment of the customers’ creditworthiness and financial standing while no
guarantees are required in general. The Group delivers its products in a manner that enables it to limit
upgrades of versions and these become less usable.

The Group’s deposits that are not covered by any special insurance. In the USA, the insurance is provided
by US Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The management believes that the non-insured
portion is placed in financial institutions where no concern regarding their insolvency exists at present.

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages capital to ensure that it is able to continue as a going concern. To achieve this, the
Company uses its equity. The amount of the Company’s own funds is optimised in relation to the
distribution thereof. The Group takes into consideration future investment needs when managing its own
capital.

32. COVID-19 IMPACT ON THE GROUP

2021 was marked by restrictions and measures related to the continuing COVID-19 pandemic and the
spread of new mutations of the virus.

ESET, spol. s r.0. and its subsidiaries continued in preventive measures to provide fully-fledged services,
while protecting the health of its employees and customers. The Company continued with preventive
hygienic measures supported by online training courses and home office for most employees of its branches
worldwide. All workforce that does not require physical presence at office was transferred to home office
environment.

The Group has implemented Pandemic flu business continuity plan that is updated on regular basis.
According to the plan, the company is able to deliver customer services also during long-term crisis
situation. However this is depending on future decisions and restrictions of government agencies.

At the time of the publication of these financial statements, Group management did not register
a significant decline in sales, reduced ability of distributors to pay receivables, or an impact on the Group’s
ability to pay its liabilities in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic. Given the emergence and spread of
new COVID-19 virus mutations, the pandemic situation is continuously changing, and it is therefore not
possible to predict future impacts. However, the Group does not expect a decrease in the value of its assets
or significant losses.
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ESET management is monitoring the situation and is ready to take all possible steps to mitigate any
negative impact on ESET company and employees.

33. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Information about the Company’s pending litigation is presented in Note 26. Litigation.

Establishment of the Parent Company’s Supervisory Board from 1 January 2022

As at 1 January 2022, the Parent Company fulfilled the conditions stipulated in the Act on Statutory Audit
and became an entity subject to oversight (large corporation).

On the basis of the fulfiiment of the above conditions, the Parent Company became obliged to set up
a supervisory board or an audit committee. The Parent Company fulfilled its obligation and established the
supervisory board as of 1 January 2022 comprising the following members:

First name and surname Position Date of Appointment
Ing. Matej Bosnak Chairman of the Supervisory Board 1 January 2022
Ing. Maros Grund Member of the Supervisory Board 1 January 2022
RNDr. Anton Zajac Member of the Supervisory Board 1 January 2022

Obligation of the Parent Company to prepare separate financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS EU).

As of 1 January 2022, the Parent Company fulfils the conditions of Slovak legislation and as at 31 December
2022 it will prepare separate financial statements for the first time in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS EU).

Military Conflict in Ukraine

The ongoing military conflict in Ukraine and the related sanctions targeted against the Russian Federation
may have an impact on the Group. The Group identified revenues from sales to customers from the Russian
Federation and Ukraine and assessed that revenues from these sales to customers accounted for 5% of
net turnover for 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded no assets, liabilities, expenses or
revenues denominated in Russian roubles.

In view of the above, the Group also ended the sale of products to new customers in Russia and Belarus
with effect from 8 March 2022.

This may result in assumptions and estimates requiring revisions which may lead to material adjustments
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Management expects that this
may affect the assumptions and estimates used when determining the amount of receivables from already-
made sales to customers from the Russian Federation, provisions for long-term employee benefits due to
the further development of actuarial assumptions and other estimates required to prepare the financial
statements. At this stage Company management is not able to reliably estimate the impact as events are
unfolding day-by-day.

The long-term impact may also affect trading volumes, cash flows, and profitability.

From 31 December 2021 up to the preparation date of the financial statements, there were no other events
that would have a significant impact on the Group’s assets and liabilities.
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34. OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SLOVAK
LEGISLATION

These disclosures are required by the Slovak legislation beyond the scope of IFRS disclosures -
consolidated financial statements. Other required disclosures are included in the previous notes.

Reporting Entity

ESET, spol. s r. 0. prepared these consolidated financial statements in line with IFRS, as adopted in the EU,
as annual consolidated financial statements pursuant to the Slovak Act on Accounting.

ESET, spol. s r.o.
Einsteinova 24, 851 01 Bratislava

Business name of the consolidating entity:
Registered office:

Date of establishment: 26 June 1992

Date of incorporation: 17 September 1992
Company ID (ICO): 31 333 532

Tax ID (DICO): 2020317068

Number of employees in the consolidation group: 1 930

Consolidated entities

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:

Registered office:

Business name:

Registered office:

Business name:

Registered office:

Business name:

Registered office:

Business name:

Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

Business name:
Registered office:

ESET, spol. s r.o.
Slovak Republic
Parent company

ESET software spol. s r.o.
Czech Republic
Subsidiary

ESET, LLC,
California, USA
Subsidiary

ESET LATINOAMERICA, SRL
Argentina
Subsidiary

ESET ASIA PTE. LTD.
Singapore
Subsidiary

ESET DO BRASIL MARKETING LTDA
Brazil
Subsidiary

ESET POLSKA SPOYKA Z OGRANICZONA ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA
Poland
Subsidiary

ESET CANADA Recherche Inc.
Canada
Subsidiary

ESET Canada Inc.
Canada
Subsidiary

ESET Research Czech Republic s.r.o.
Czech Republic
Subsidiary

ESET DEUTSCHLAND GmbH
Germany
Subsidiary

ESET SOFTWARE AUSTRALIA PTY, LTD.
Australia
Subsidiary
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Business name: ESET RESEARCH UK Limited
Registered office: UK

Subsidiary
Business name: PGNB LIMITED
Registered office: UK

Subsidiary
Business name: ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited
Registered offic : UK

Subsidiary
Business name: ESET Romania S.R.L.
Registered office: Romania

Subsidiary
Business name: Nadacia ESET
Registered office: Slovak Republic

Subsidiary
Business name: ESET Japan Inc.
Registered office: Japan

Subsidiary
Business name: ESET MEXICO S. de R.L. de C.V.
Registered office: Mexico

Subsidiary
Business name: ESET ITALIA S.r.l.
Registered office: Italy

Subsidiary

Ultimate consolidating company

Business name: ESET, spol. s r.o.
Registered office: Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Consolidating companies where the consolidated financial statements are kept

Business name: ESET, spol. s r.o.

Registered office: Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Address of the Court of Record: Commercial Register of the District Court Bratislava I., section: Sro,
file No.: 3586/B

The reporting entity is not an unlimited liability partner in any company.

Executives of the consolidating company as at 31 December 2021:

Rudolf Hruby;
Peter Pasko; and
Miroslav Trnka.

There was no change up to the preparation date of these consolidated financial statements.
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Qther data for the Group:

=  The Parent Company and subsidiaries have their tangible assets covered by insurance;

= Non-current immoveble assets that are not registered in the land register as at the date of
autharication of the financial statements for issue (and is used) - none;

«  Aszets aoquired in privatisation with the specification of thalr cost = none; and

=  Social fund payables, opening balance, creation, drawing, balance at the end of the reporiing period

for the Company:
2021 2020

Balanoe at 1 January 2021 118 122
+ Creation debited o txpenses ire Ja4
+mem,ﬁmmm - =
: iz 288
- Transfer to funds from profit . .
Balance at 31 December 2021 35 178
Praparsd on: Signatura of a Momber of Signsiure of the Person  Signature of the Person
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o I._:»’-'L..__._._--' <7 n. )
26 April 2022 # é /_;, C E'rt'_,e’c;',j

Ths is &n Engitsh languags trisdltion of the origingl Shewak [anguasge document,



ANNEX 2: SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AS OF
31 DECEMBER 2021

ESET, spol. s r.o.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

AND

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

This is & transiation of the origingl audtor's report issued in the Slovalk IBnguags 1 the SOIOMPATYING francial
sEatemants transiated into the Englsh Language.
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ESET, spol. sr.o.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To thee Partners and Exetutives of ESET, spol s r.o.
REPQRT Of THE ALDIT OF THE FINANC AL STATEMENTS

Owirsicn

W Bave audited the financial statemends of E5ET, spol, s r.o (the “Company™], which comprisg 1he balance shest b 3
A1 Depamber 2021, and the intome statement for the year then ended, and notes Lo the finandigl statements, induding
summary of sgnificant accounteng palicies.

Iy S apinion, the Scotdrdanying Bnmne sl o ansmants gre B tous and faer visar of the fingnoal positon of the Campany a5 at
31 Deceenber 2021, and its hinancod perdermrance for the year then ended in acoondance wath the Act on Accounting Mo,
A3 2000 Coll. as amended fthe "R oh Accounting™ ).

Bass fior Opinion.

We conducted cur audit in accordance with inbernatsonal 5t andards on Auditing. Cur. responaibilites under those stargads
are further desonibed in the Auditor s Fespomithifities for the Swdit of the Financkal Stalemends secion of owr repat. We aré
independent of the Company in acoorcance with the provigions of Act Mo, 423/3005 Coll. on Statutony Budd and on
Amendment 0 and Supplementation of Aot Na, 43170002 Coll, on Afcounting, 25 Mmended (herenafter the “Act on
Statutory Audit”™) related 1o ethical requanements, inchading the Code of Ethecs for Aanditors that aee relevant 1o our sudit of
the financial sLapermverts, and vwee hans fulliled our other ethical responsitilaies v socondance wich [hese Feguiermenls. We
Bilnzn thar the aud? Eaienoe we hiee abtained |5 suffioent and sppropriate fo provade 3 haos ior ur oonion

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Gowernance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible fior the preparator of the financal statements that give a tree and far view in acoordance with
the Act on Accounting, and for such intemal control a5 managerment determines is necessary to enablie the preparation of
financial statements that arg free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In prapamng the laancad fataments, managemant i respaasibile for asspssng the Company’s aolity 1o CoOnMmuE 34 3 going
concern, dsclosing, a5 applicable, matters related to going comcawn and using the going concern bask of accounting, usless
managt ment either intends to kquidete the Company o to (ease operations, o has no nealistic slemative Bl W oo se.

Thiose changed with govirnance ahe responsiie foe owarseeing thie Company's linanosl reporming procsss,
Agditors Aesponsibiliies for the Audit of the Financial Satements

Char chiecties are to obtzin reasonabls pourance aboat whather the linancial matements s whols i fréd fram matensl
misstatement, whether due to fraud oc ervor, and o issee &0 auditon's report that incudes cur oimon. Regsonable
assuranci is a high level of assyrance, byt 3 nat 8 guarantes that an audit conducsed in acoordance with International
Standacds on Auditing will shems detect 8 matedial m sslatement when it exlits, Misslaterents can arise from fraud or error
and are considerad matenial if, Bdhadually o i the apgregate, they could reidonibhy be eapected to influenoe the scoRpImic
docitions of users takien on the basis of these limancal statemants

Thes e B B @ Saton of fhi Srgendl Mo s feport dsuesl i the Sova s Sngusie bo the iccoToany ng Imancisl Satiments firlined o the Frglih langusps

Drlzane fehess to ong or more of Deloaie Toudhe Jolwhali L bed [*BTTL), 08 gkl e iworic of mimber ey, and (Fe 1 elbs s dies oofectsely

The “Cleigeife arpanizad oy | DTTL [isten iefarsed 2o e “Dielostte Globul” ) 2 uh of 15 membe s and e sted sestat sns logally separsle srd sapr-ders
eramel, wibirh tannot oblgets o lbnd et other o nepen of thard partees IBTTL s sach DFTL Sshrbier fumn nd related ey 5 kbl ooy ior 25 can BT
bl orrmitord, 4% Pod (heas of sach athgr DTTL g 8 provele wrvepl 15 dhinds Mere i wivis, deloare cornfil'on/alout 1o ke mone



A5 part of an audit in accordance with International Standands on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment snd maintam

professional scepticism throughout the: audit. Wi alioc

+  entify and assess the rigks of rmateria misstatement of the financal statements, whather due to fraud or envor, design
and perform audit procedunes responasive to those risks, and obtan audit evidence that = sufficent and sppropriste to
provide 3 basis far our opinion. The nisk of not detedting a matenal misstatement resulting from frawd & higher than for
one resulting from evnoe, a5 fraud may invobe collusion, forgery, etentionsl omigsions, mMerepressntations, or the
owrenr b of intennsl control,

o Obtasn an understanding of internal contral relavant bo the audt fm erder te design audit procedures that ae
appropriate in the Groumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the efectveness of the
Conpany's intemal control,

#+  Evaluabe the appropriatensss of accounting polkoles wed and the reasonableness of scoountng estimates and related
disclosures made by managemant,

&  Conclude on the sppropristeness of management’s uie of the going conoenn baiis of scounting and, bated on the
audit evidence oblaned, whether a material uncertaenty eoits relsted to events of conditions that may cast sgnificant
dioubt an the Company's ability to continue 35 2 going concam. I we condude that 2 mateial uncer sty exsls, we ane
requined to draw aitention in cur suditor's report to the related disclosures in the Sinandal statements or, if sudh
discicsures ane inadeguate, to madify cur opinion. Our cond usions sne bascd on the sudit evidence obtaned up to the
date of our suditor’s report. Howreer, future events or condalons may cause the Compary to cease 10 continue a5 3
Eoang Concern,

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the finamcial statements, indhud ing the declosunes, and
whether the financial statervents represent the underleng transacticns and events in § manner that achicwes fair
Fresentation

We communicate with thase charged with governance about, nter abia, the planned soope and time schedule of the sute

and sgnificant aude fndings, mduding all matenal deficiencies of internal control identifed durning our susfit

REPCAT 0N OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATCRY RECQUIREMENTS

Ripart an Information Diicloued by the Annual Report

Thae aatutony bady & responuble for informanon digtioted in the annual report prepared undier the requirements of the Act
on Accounting. Our gpimgn on the financial statements stabed above does not apply to other information in the annual
repot.

[ eonruciian with the Judit of hagnnal WIbsments, sur relpendibilty i 19 g3 an underttandeng of the nformatcn

dizchosed i the anncal repar and consider whether Such infarmation < materally noonsstent with the financia! staberments
o our bndsdedpe obtained an the awdit of the financial statements, of otherwise 30peans to be materially misstated

g at the msuance date of the audinor's report on the audit of fmanoal statements, the annual repcrt was not Seailebbe 1o us.

Wihen we cblstn the Fmeal report, we will didess whether the Company’s anneal report includes informmation whese
disclosure is requered under the Act on Acoounting, and based on procedures performed during the audit of the financial
slabenments, we will Sapress anopinadn on whether;

. Information disclosed in the anneal report prepared for 2021 s conststent with the linanclal statement s for the relevant
yhar; and

The annual report includes information pursuant to the Act on Acoounting.
Furthenmore, we will disclose whether material mizstaternents were identified in the annual report based on cur
wrsderstanding of the Company and its position, obtained in the sudit of the linancial statements.

Bratelaea, 12 Apr| 2002

Ligonoe LIDWA Mo, 1136

On behall of
Deloitte Aapdit 51,0,
Ligence SKAu Mo, 014
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Modes o the Faamndael Stotements a3 of 31 Decevmnber 2021

ESET, spol. 5 1.0,
NOTES
To the Separate Financial Statements Prepared as at 31 December 2021
in euro
For the Period from January 2021 to December 2021
For the Immediately-preceding Period from lanuary 2020 to Decernber 2020
Date of the Company’s Incorporation Financial Statements Financial Statements
17 September 1992 x = Ordinary % — Prepared
— Extraordinary = Approved
= [nterim
Company D No. Tax Registration No. SK NACE Code
31333532 2020317068 62.09.0

Business Name (Name) of the Company
ESET, spol. s r.o.

Seat of the Company
Einsteinova 24

851 01 Bratisiava

Phone Number: 02/32245111
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Business Name and Registered Seat of the Company

ESET, spol. s r.o.
Einsteinova 24
851 01 Bratislava

ESET. spol. s r.o. (the "Company™) was established on 26 June 1992 and registered in the Business
Register on 17 September 1992 (Business Register of the District Court Bratislava [, Section: Sro, File
Ma.: 3586/B). Company 1D No. (ICO): 31333532,

2. Principal Activities of the Company

The Company performs the following activities:

. Purchase and szle of computing equipment, electronics, office equipment and office supplies;
Provision of sofiware (sale of off-the-shelf software under a contract with the authors or the
development of customised software);

Advisory on cormputing equipment and automated management systerns;

Purchase of sundry goods for resale and sale under 2 general trade licence;

Advertising and promotional activities;

Graphic 1ext design using computing equipment;

Performance of extra-curricular educational activities;

Lease of real estate associated with the provision of other-than-basic lease-related services;
Lease of movable assets: and

Mediation activities in trade, services and production.

¥ & F & 8 & # @

1. Unlimited Guarantee
The Company is nat an unlimited liability pantner.

4. Fulk-time Equivalent

Iteen pLH| 2030

Full-ibme equaivalent | ORR )
Mamher of employess 25 al the repoting date i 100 i o4
Of which: managers 45 %

5. Legal Reason for the Preparation of the Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Company as al 3] December 2021 have been prepared as ordinary
financial statements in accordance with Article 17 (6) of Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting as
amended for the reporting period from 1 January 2021 o 31 December 2021.

The financial statements have been prepared for general use and information Information disclosed
therein cannot be used for the purposes of any specific users, or for the assessment of individual
transactions. Accordingly, users of the financial statements should not rely exclusively on these financial
statemenis when making decisions.

Thut d o Leghoh Baguags Braasls hen of the cogmal Povel licgroage document
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6. Approval Date of the Financial Statements for the Preceding Reporting Period

The financial statements prepared as a1 31 December 2020 were approved by the General Meeting of
Sharcholders on 1 June 2021

2. INFORMATION ABOUT THE CONSOLIDATION GROUP

The Company {5 a parent company and is a consolidation group of the following companies:

Namre Brar Dwnerihip Interest % Core Rusiwess Aciivly
Subataliaries 2021 2050
ESET, LLC G610 West Ash Strec, Sulie 1700, San 100% 100% Anivirus softwane distribaior
Diggo, CA 97101, LISA
EXET software snol,  Pragoe T - Classic T Basiness Park, 1008 1P Antwvirus softeare disifibalor
£ TAb. Jankerecona 1037451 WMW'.',
Crech Bepublic
ESET 1270 Juar Diax de Solis, 2nd Floos, 100% 100%: Service provider
LATINOAMERICA Vigenie Loper, Buencs Aines CP:
SR.L. 1" BIHOISBHF, Argenting
ESET ASlA FTE. 3 Amson Road, Springleal’ Tower #]2- 100 [fi2i2 Service provider ¥ Antivins
LTD. 01102, Singapore 079909, Singapr soflware distribinios
EXSET Canada 473, Bue Satnie-Cskerine Cuesl, Buseas L1 10 RED
Richerche 1ne. 300, Montesl OC, HIB 1B1, Casads
ESE] DO BRASIL  Rus Verto Divino, 2001, Cits [He 104 Service provider
MAREETIMNG 14071410, Chicera Sente Ambnio, Sio
LTDA Polo / 5P - Beazil, Zip 04,71 2002
ESET Poltka Sp.r  Jasnogorskn 9, 31 - 1538 Keakéw, Poland [0 1005 A&
.0,
ESET Deusschland  Spiteweiderweg 32, 07743 Jena, 100 100 Agtivines software distributor
GimbH Chermany
ESET Rescanch Palechovo ndmdst] TH0E, Seary {1015 100% R&D

Crech Republic Liskowvec, 625 00 Brmo, Crech Republic
Y L

ESET Sodvware Level 20, 1§ Pacific Highway, Monh 100 1005 Astiving software disuribunoe
Ausiralia, FTY, Sydrey MEW 2060, Sydney, Ausizalia
LTI ™
ESET RESEARCH 3 Heron Ciaie Oifice Park, Haskridge 1008 100% R&D
UK Lisnited Way, Taustans, Semetsetl, TA | 2LE,
Linited Kingdom
ESET Canada inc. 44 Chipman Hill Suiie 1000, Saird lohn 1008 i Antiving software dicirihaior
Wh, E2L 2A%, Canada
Wadécia ESET Einstefnova 24, 251 01 Reafslava, 100%%G 1002 |
Slavak Repablic

Thm i ann Expglnh bt puange drastvciy s of her oo sl sevaisk W npoagr Az cumeni.
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POMEA Limited 1 Jth Floor Ocea 80, Holdenharst Road, 106%% 100%s
L Brournemautt, BHE SAQ, Uinied

B ingdiam
ESET SOFITWAHRE  5th Floor Oceas 80, 3th Floor, 10 1004 Astivins software distribados
LK Limited Wit Holdenhurst Road, Boumemouth, BHE

EAL), United Kingdom
ESET Romania Strads Palas Wr. TO-TE, [0 10046 R&D
SRL ™ Cladirea United Business Center 3 (Corp

CIWErs) 2, Spatial C259,

Muenbcipiul lagi, Juds ingl,

Romasia
ESET MEXICOS.  Av. Pases da la Reforma 250 - Office 1003 10086 Service provider
s KL daCv Y 9] A-B-C-I-, Colonia Judraz,

Delegaciin Cuashidmoc, Cludad de

Méxnico. Mexico
ESET Japan Ing, '™ 2-16-4 Konan, Minaio-ku, Tokyo [08- it e Servioe provider

0TS, dapan
ESET WALIA Sl Via Campo Lodigiene 3. 20122 Milan, 1003 100=6 Artiwirus software distrébator
] Italy

{1} ESET Recearch Ceech Repoblic 5.r.0. changed its registered offior in Jonuory J071. iy oniginad rigiutered cfffice wat ot 1 Plebnody
H0a/EE, Midrno nod Nivow, $68 02 Joblome: nod Mesou, Crech Repubin

{#] ESET SOFTWARE LI Limited chonged At registded affics s Seatember 203 i aripiesd regieheaed affce was of 5t Flaoy Hollang
House, M Oxford Recd, Bpurnpsouth, Donel, BHESEE, Urbed Megelon.

(3] ERET SOFTWARE L [imited iy o I 00 subsravory of s porear compony 23 of 30 Decrmier 2020,

{4} i Nowembrer X021, an apphcaticn wo rd for o wlntory deletion of POME Limited from the Companie Rrgiaber. PGNE Limited o
st been deleted fram the Compons Aegader by December ML

{5} PR Lirited changed iy regiclered office in Septernber 3021, s onighea! regisfered office wos o Sth Fesy Halond Hoats, 30 Ouford
Bl Bourmemcndl, Darsel, B BLE Uhafled Kiagdarm,

(6} POME Lioited canried aut no brporss eothwties i 2021, in 2000, PGNS Limited sold its JO0% st i €5 fubsichon, 3OF TWARE LK
Lisnited, B0 1A poreni compomg.

[7) 55, 95963% of the sharés Gre held by ELET, spol. 5 r.0. and Q00375 ane beld By ESET Research Cppch Republc s.0.0.

(8] ESEF FTALM S.rl changed irs regishered oiffice in March JOME Fise oviginal registered office was of Froncesco Bichin & CAP, 0 177 Mimn,
ieaiy.

[9) E3ET Sofrware Auifrolia, PTY, [TOL changed i regeitired office in Oetober 2021 Its anginol regestered office wai of LA L S0 Vea
Street, Mevdrol Boy NIW 3085, Spdery, Asstrof,

(30§ 50K of the Fazres ove e by the porent company ond tht remaleing 10N are ke by Conon Morketiog dopon lac

(13} 50K of the thanei o beld by TSET, [LE o the remoining 109 are bekd by the panent company,

(120 8 af the phared ord beld by e povind company ond the remalaisg |08 are bald by DSIT, LAC,

{131 90K of the Phret ore badd by the povant sompany dnd BAe rersaisieg 100 are beld by DRET. LIC

The Company's voting rights in the above entities is equal to the ownership shares. The Company is not
cormolidated in the consolidated financial staternents of any other company.

Pursuant to Act No. 43172002 Coll. on Accounting, as amended, the Company is obliged to prepare
consolidated financial statements, as it meets the criteria of Article 22 of the Act on Accounting.

The Company prepared the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2020 and is also
required to prepare consolidated financial statements for the reporting period from 1 January 2021 1o
31 December 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are available at the parent company’s seat — ESET, spol. sr.o.,
Einsteinova 24, 851 0! Bratislava, Slovak Republic.

Tharu o Erplish it i Uit o the 4ol Slov ok Rangwnge dacument
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3. INFORMATION ON THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND

METHODS APPLIED

1. Basis for Preparing Financial Statements

The financial statements were prepared based on the poing-concern assumption.

The financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, income statement and notes to the financial
staternents prepared as at 31 December 2021, were prepared in accordance with the accounting
regulations cffective in the Slovak Republic and the data disclosed in the financial statements give
a true and fair view of the matters subject 1o the bookkeeping and of the financial position of the
Company.

The currency used in the financial statements is the euro (“EUR™) and all balances are presented in
whole euro, unless specified otherwise.

All comparatives for the previous reporting period, i.e. as at 31 December 2020, are presented in the
financial statements prepared as at 31 December 2021, so that they are comparable with the 2020
disclosures,

Revenues and costs are recognised as eamned or incurred under the accrual basis of accounting. All
revenues and costs related 1o the reporting period are used as a basis regardless of their settlement
date.

When measuring assets and liahilities, the prudence principle is followed, i.e. all risks, losses, and
impairments related 1o assets and liabilities and known as a1 the reporting date are used as 3 basis.

Mon-current and current receivables, payables, loans, and interest-bearing borrowings — receivables
and payables are disclosed on the balance sheet as either non-current or eurrent following their
residual maturities as at the reporting date. Portions of non-current receivables and portions of non-

current payables due within one year from the reporting date are disclosed on the balance sheet as

current receivables and current payables as appropriate.

Estimates made - when preparing the financial statements, the Company's management is required
10 prepare estimates and assumptions that influence the recognised amounts of assets and liabilities,
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the reporting date, and the disclosed
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. The actual results may differ from these estimates.

Reported tax — Slovak tax legislation is relatively new, lacks precedents, and 1s subject to continuous
amendments. Since various interpretations of the tax laws and regulations, and the application thercof
10 various transaction types exist, the amounis disclosed in the financial statéments may later change
based on the ultimate opinion of the tax authoritics.

. Mon-current Intangible and Mon-current Tangible Assets

Purchased non-current assets are measured ut cost, The cost includes the acquisition price and the
related incidental costs (customs duties, iransportation costs, assembly, insurance premium, etc).

The Company has prepared a depreciation plan 2s an underlying document 1o enumerate depreciation
charges and the accumulated depreciation of depreciated assets during their use. Accounting
depreciation is calculated based on the cost at which the assets are carried in the accounting books,
and is capped at the amount of the cost. Tax depreciation is enumerated in line with the applicable
provisions of the Income Tax Act. Mon-current tangible assets are depreciated based on the wear and
tear of assets, which corresponds to standard conditions for their use,

The Company records assets generated internally. These assets include a video created by the
Company's employees, which was measured 21 own costs.

Fhes & 4 Englesh: language Eraesinion of the oripinsl Sowii Baguans docusens
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Accounting and tax depreciation rates for non=corrent intangible assets are equal.

Mon=current intangible assets with a cost of EUR I 400 or less are fully expensed when placed into
service as & debil to Accoun: 518. Underlying analytical records are maintained with respect to these
ASEETS.

The amortisation period, amortisation method and amorntisation rate are presented in the table below:

Estimated Annmil Amortisation

Useful Life Amortiation Method Bate
Soltware, videos 213 __ Seraight-line 0% 1 33.30%
MR THE- 20003 ] Straight-line 200
Valuable rights in the CR T Srraight-lne 14.3%
Trademarks i Straight-line 1%

The accounting depreciation plan for nom=current tanglhle assets is determined by an internal
regulation. Assets are depreciated starting in the month in which they are placed into service. The
Company applies the straight-line depreciation method in its calculations and reflects the estimated
useful life of the assets, the intensity of their use and their anticipated wear and tear in the Company ‘s
environment when the assets are categorised into depreciation groups and when the depreciation plan
is created.

An exception to the depreciation plan is the refurbishment of new office and operation premises in
the Aupark Tower at Einsteinova 24, Bratislave, in Digital Park Il and 11l at Einstcinova 25,
Bratislava, in the Kodice branch located in Aupark, Protifasistickych bojovnikov 11, 04001 Kodice,
in the Zilina branch located at Némestie Andreja Hlinku 1, Zilina, and fixrures znd fittings in the
Bratislava premiscs, The Company preparcd a depreciation plan for a period equal to the lease term,
ie from 1 May 2008 to 30 June 2027 for the Aupark Tower premises, from 1 August 2017 to 30 June
2027 for the Digital Park 11 and 11l premises, from 28 March 2013 to 30 June 2023 for the Aupark
Kodice promises, and from | February 2017 to 10 May 2021 for the Zilina branch premises.

Non-curreni tangible assets with a cost of EUR 1 700 or less are fully expensed when placed into
service as a debit in full to consumed raw materials, Account 501.

The depreciation period, depreciation method and depreciation rate are presented in the table below:

Accounting Depreciation Estimated Uselul Life  Depreciation Method
Srructures and pechnical improvernents LUip v e termdnation of a leaie conlracs Surdapbit-lie
Fixtures and fitings Us e ihe emvination of a lease contracs Sraiphi-lioe
Machinery aewd equipmesni 4 years Straight-ling
Trensporiation means 4 years Straight-ling

3. Securities and ownership interests
Securities and ownership interests are measured at cost including the related incidental costs.

The Company creates a provision for non-current financial assets, provided that at the balance sheet
date it is reasonable 1o assume impairment of non-current financial assets compared to their camrying
amounts. If the Compeny identifies such indicators of impairment, it creates a provision equalling
the positive difference between the carrying amount of the non-current financial assets and their
anticipated future economic benefits.

When created, the provision is debited to Account 565 — Creation and reversal of provisions for

financial assets with a counter-entry credited to Account 096 - Provisions for non-current financial
asaels,

Thet b 4 Noglieh Mengonpe tracalasion of the orginal Hiab Lenguape dagument.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Company ideniified the reasonable indicators of impairment as regards
its subsidiary, ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited (PGNB), for which a provision was calculated and
recorded. More information is disclosed in Note 5. Data Disclosed on the Assets Side of the Balance
Fheet, Section 3. Non-current Financial Assets.

. Imventories

Inventories are measured at cosl. The cost includes the acguisition price of inventory and the related
incidental cosis (customs duty, transport, insurance premium, etc.). The disposal of the same type of
inventory is measured on an individual basis (at an individual price).

Provisions for inventorics are recorded if it is reasonable 1o assume that fulure economic benefits
from inventories are lower than the cammying amound, i.e. in the amount of the difference between the
camying amount and the net realizable value,

The creation of provisions for inventories is credited (o the relevant account of the accouniing group
19 - Provisions for invemtories with the counter-entry debited 10 Account 505 — Additions 1o and
reversals of provisions for inventories. The reversal of a provision due o the derecognition of
inventories from accounting books is debited o the relevant provision account disclosed on the
balance sheet with & counter-entry credited to the relevant inventory account. [n the event of the fill
or partial cessation of the reasoneble assumption of the impairment of investaries, the reversal of a
provision is debited 10 the refevant provision account disclosed on the balance sheet with the counter-
entry credited 1o Account 505.

The Company does not recard inventories generated internally.

Receivables

When originated, receivables are measured al their face value. Assigned reccivables and receivables
acquired through a contribuiion to the registered capital are measured at a cost, including incidental
costs, This measurement is net of provisions for doubtful receivables and bad debts. The Company
does not acquire receivables through assignments, or otherwise.

The Company records provisions for receivables where it is rezsonable to assume that the debtor will
fail to repay them partly or in full, and for doubtful receivables from debtors involved in a dispute
voncerning their acknowledgment. The Company determines the provisions on an individual basis
in the amount that is expected to be recovered in the future. Provisions for receivables are debited to
Account 547 — Additions to and reversals of provisions for receivables with a counter-entry credited
to Account 391 - Provision for receivables. The peovision for receivables upon their derecognition
from the accounting books (as a result of recovery, zale or write-ofT) is reversed with a counter-entry
to the relevani receivable account disclosed on the balance sheet. In the evert of the cessation of the
reasonable assumption of the impairment of receivables, the reversal of the provision is credited w
Account 547 with a counter-entry debited to Account 391.

Cash, stamps and vouchers
Cash, stamps and vouchers are measured a1 their face value.

Deferred expenses and accroed income

Deferred expenses and acerued income are presented in the amount necessary to comply with the
accrual principle of accounting, i.c. at the anticipated face value.

Tl i iy o B L st e B i beon ¥ e oripimal Showpl e udpe disluSiit



Motes UE POOV 3-01 WE0: 31333502 Dif: 2020317068

FopLal Seouris
@ET Progress. Protected.
Notes Lo the Financrol Stabements of of 31 December 2021
E3ET, spal 3 r.e.

8. Provisions for labilities
The Company records provisions for liabilities following the prudence principle. Provisions are
liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. The Company creates provisions mainly for unused
vacation days and the related social security and health insurance payments, audit, unbilled supplies
and other known risks and losses related to the Company's business activities. Provisions for
liabilities are measured ot the expected amount pavable.

The provision for liabilities is debited 10 the relevant expense account o which the liability is related.
The use of the provision is credited to the relevant liability account. The cancelation of an
unnecessary provision is recorded with an accounting entry opposite to that of the creation of the
provision.

The Company creates legal provisions for unused vacation days, including related social security and
health insurance payments and other provisions for audit, employee bonuses, withholding tax, loyalky
bonus and other services.

The Company's Hability from long-term employee benefits (loyalty bonus) is an estimate of the
future value of benefits that employees have eamed for work performed in the current and previous
periods.

The liability is calculated using the projected unit credit method and is discounted to ifs present value.
The discount rate used to calculate the present value of the lability is derived from the yvield curve
of high-quality bonds with a maturity approximating the terms of the Company's liabilitics at the
reporting date.

The following actuarial assumptions were used when calculating provisions for long-term employee
benefits:

Employee tumover B.8%
Average increase in wages and salaries 3%

. 0.54% to 1.6T% according to averape time 16
Duscount rate bhenafil iy

Where the discount method s used, an increase in the provision due to the time factor is recognised
as interest expense.

9. Payables
When incurred, payabiles are measured &t their face value. When assumed, payables are measured at
cogt, If it is determined during reconciliation procedures that the actual amoumt of the payables is
lower than the carrying amount, payables are stated at such a newly-identified measurement in the
accounting books and financial statemenis,

190, Current income tax
Pursuant to the Slovak Income Tax Act, current income taxes are determined based on the accounting
profits at the rate of 21% after adjustrents for certain items for tax purposes.

11. Deferred income fax
Deferred income tax (deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability) is recognised for:
s Temporary differences berween the carrying amount of assets and lizbilitles as disclosed on the
balance sheet and their tax base;
=  The possibility of carrying forward tax losses to fure periods, which is the possibility of
deducting the tax losses from the tax base in the fisture;

This ba wn Do Msegpashpi trisrilied st & The £ EnH Sk Langeage doxamenl,
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*  The possibility of transferring unclaimed tax loss deductions and other tax claims to future
periods.

The amount of deferred income tax is determined by applying the tax rate applicable in the

subsequent reporting period, e, 21%.

12. Acerued expenses and deferred income
Accrued expenses and deferred income are presented in the amount necessary to comply with the
accrual principle of accounting, i.e. at the anticipated face value,

13. Leases
The Company has no assets acquired under a finance lease,

14. Foreign Carrency
Aszzets and liakilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated fo euro using the exchange
rate determined in the ECB foreign exchange list announced on the date preceding the transaction
date, and when preparing the financial statements using the exchange rate applicable on the reporting
date. Exchange rate differences are recognised through profitloss).

In the accounts of receivables and payables, non-current financial assets and current financial assets.
Exchange rate difTerences are recorded 25 at the transaction date upon the collection of receivables
and the payment of payables with 2 counter-entry debited to Account 563 — Foreign exchange losses
or credited to Account 663 - Foreign exchange gains. Advance payments received and made in a
foreign currency ane not translated as at the reporting date.

15. Revenues
Revenues from the sale of own outputs and merchandize do not include VAT. They are also
decreased by discounts and deductions (rebates, bonuses, discounts, credit notes, etc.), regardless of
whether the customer was entitled 1o the discoun? in advance, or whether the discount was granted
subseguently.

Since its establishment, ESET has developed sofiware solutions prowiding immediate and
comprehensive protection against constantly-evolving computer sécurity threats by using innovative
security solutions which preactively detect malware and profect against compater crime.

Sales are made directly or indirectly. The direct melhod s mainly by intermet sales via the ESET
wehbsite o end users. Indirect sales are made via independent distributors and sellers that contribute
1o the wotal sales in the greatest extent.

For the purposes of these financial stalemenits, the term “antivirus software™ means software 1o
provide digital security, i.e. traditional antivirus software to secure end users, software 1o secure
computer networks, €fc.. The Company provides end users and partners in Slovakia end partners in
the EMEA region, APAC region, Brazil, Russia and South Africa with the right to use the antivirus
software. A subsidiary, ESET Soffware spol. 5 r.o., has an agreement with the Company on the
distribution of products in the Czech Republic. A subsidiary, ESET, LLC, distributes ESET products
mainly in the United States of America and the LATAM rcgion (except Beaail), A subsidiary, ESET
Deutschiand GmbH, distributes products in german speaking countries (Germany, Austria,
Switzerland) and on Croatian market. The subsidiary, ESET Software Austrafia, PTY, LTD., carrics
out distribution activities in Australia and ESET ASI4 PTE, LTD. primarily in the APAC region.
The subsidiary, ESET SOFTWARE UK Limited, distributes products in the United Kingdom and
Maliz. The subsidiary, ESET Canada Inc. carries out distribution activities on the Canadian market.
One of our newest branches is ESET ITALIA S.r.i., which operates on the Ralian market.

T i an ik Biguae il leon of By arigirs’ Bowal Bagsiape So0umal
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Agreements between the Company and distributors operating under the commission structure require
that distributors perform a range of activities in addition to distribution, i.e. actively searching for
customers, promoiing the distributed software, providing hotline services for end users, eic.. The
distributor’s remuneration fior these activities is calculated from its sales tumover and distributors do
not invoice the Company for these activities. The remuneration is specified in the customer invoice
as & reduction of the invoiced gross amount. The distributor enly pays the Company the resulting
amount calculated as the difference between the payment for the granting of the right 10 use the
software and the distributor’s remuneration.

Based on a detailed analysis of mutusd rights and obligations, the Company started o report revenues,
excepl for revenues from Slovak distributors and resellers, on @ gross basis as of | January 2012, The
Company recognises 100% of revenues generated by the Company’s distributors in revenues. The
Company recognises a fee for activities performed by distributors in expenses.

The Company recognises revenues from the provision of licences for the use of the antivirus software
as follows:

Each end user pays an up-front fee for the right to use the software during a specified period. Az the
moment of sale to end users or business partners (distributors, resellers), revenue is recognised on a
ore-off basis once the software iz delivered, regardless of whether or not the end vser installed the
software. No portion of the amourt is accrued during the period of the sofiware use.

End users may return ESET products, subject to various limitations, via distributors and resellers, or
may request ESET directly for a refund within a reasonable shont period from the date of purchase.
Due to immateriality, ESET currently does not record any provision for such retums based on its
historical experience of very low returns by end users.

The Company recognises revenues from the provision of other support services in the period in which
they were provided.

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND ACCOUNTING
METHODS

There were no changes to the Company’s accounting principles and methods during the reporting
period, except as stated below.

Based on the change (o the accounting policy, the Company decided o recognise a provision for
management and key personnel bonuses in 202 1. Detailed information on provisions for liabilities is
presented in Note 6. Data Disclosed on the Liabilities Skde of the Balance Sheet, Section (c)
Provisions for Liabilities.
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Additions to intangible assets primarily comprise the development of the Salesforce project in the
amount of EUR 316 683 and the Clobal ¢Store project in the amount of EUR 488 117, the development
of the Business Planning Tool in the amount of ELIR 101 522, the purchase of new licences at & total
cost of EUR 179 609, rights to use videos and photographs in the smount of EUR 50 655, the upgrade
of a new attendance system in the amount of EUR 15 710, and the upgrade of the Global Performance
Tool in the amount of EUR 81 670. The amount of additions to intangible assets was also impacted by
technical improvements to other non-current assets in the amount of EUR 12 772 and creation of a
website for the Campus project in the amount of EUR 3 042, The Company invested the amount of EUR
7 681 in the registration of the ESET ScienceAward trademark.

In 2021, the Company disposed of the Virtualization of existing Xtelesis HW — SW vidyo intangible
assets in the amount of EUR & 314,

As a result of the planned transition 1o & new asset records module and preparation for the transition w
bookkeeping under Internationel Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS EU) from
1 January 2022, it was necessary to review the method of recording intangible assets. The opening
balances of assets recorded as at 1 Jarmary 2021 in Account 019 as other non-current intangible assets
totalling EUR 7 044 455 were reposted to Account 013 in the total amount of EUR & 859 455 and 10
Account 012 in an amount of EUR 185 000. Opening balances of accumulated amortisation of assets
recorded as other non-current intangible assets in the total amount of EUR 4 442 136 werg transferred
from Account 79 to Account 072 in the gmount of EUR 185 000 and to Account 073 in the amount of
EUR 4 257 [36. Assets whose classification was reasscssed primarily comprise software which the
Company originally recorded as other non-current inlangible assels.

Additions to structures primarily comprise extensive construction modifications at Bratislava branches
— Awupark Tower, and improvements to premises 2t Digital Park in the amount of EUR 2 09] 049 and
EUR 196 973, respectively, The Company also reflurbished ils Kofice branch a1 a cost of EUR 10 037.

In 2021, additions 10 separate movable assets and sets of movables represented technical improvements
tothe existing 1T assets in the amount of EUR 716 007, placing new IT zssets into service in the amount
of EUR 1 125 963, and the bulk of the purchased new cquipment compriscd the purchase of new servers,
disk amrays, video conference equipment, racks, and other IT equipment, The Company &lso acquired
new fixtures and fittings for the newly-refurbished premises at a total cost of EUR 599 019 and two new
vehicles at 2 cost of EUR 88 99]. Orher tangible assets represent purchases in the amoun: of ELR 5 616,

Disposals of separate movable assets and sets of movables primarily comprise the disposal of IT assets
(switches, disk armays, old video conference equipment, etc) in the amount of EUR 371 634, a
presentation stand in the amount of EUR 299 604, and fixtures and fittings totalling EUR 38 574.
Mispesals of non-current tangible assets in acquisition in the amount of EUR 2 133 517 primarily
camprise the disposal of the non-current tangible asscts in acquisition, for which a contribution from the
lessor was provided.
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4. Inventories
As at 31 December 2021, the Company recorded the following inventories:
Current Reporting Period Immediately-preceding Reporting Period
Raw Raw H

loveninories in EUR Materialy | MeTehandise Total Materlaly | Merchandise Total

| Skovak Regublic 243191 235 193 137034 = 127034 |
Tatal 245 193 . 245 193 BT o - 217 034

Purchased promotional items, and materials for commercial packages are recorded as inventories in
stock. The Company created no provisions for inventories during the reporting period.
The Company records no inventories under lien or with restricted handling by the Company.

5 Receivables
Information on the ageing structure of recefvables as at 31 December 2021:

' Within Maturity i

b [ d

Item

a
| Non-curren: Receivabies :
Trade receivabiles inom gross comipanses - =
Trade reccivables within a panicipating
im“pﬁmiﬂﬂmﬁmm
COmpEnk

Ogher imde receivables

1 1B M52

1 186 362

Othes recsivables from group compaies

522 20

5i2 210

Foecedvabbes from parimers, membars and
pasticipants in an ass0cistion

{Mher receivahles

Total Mon-corrent Receivabies

1708 572

1 TOR 272

~urmenil Facrivables

| Trade receivables from group companices

24 559 54

1759 702

27 615 306

Trade receivables within a partici pating
inferest sxcepd for receivables from group
| COTpanics

Oiher trade receivables

|§;a-|:m.;

4 132 T8I

LRt

Oxlvér meceivables from o companizs

Receivables from pariners. members and
pastbcipanis Wy an Ssstciation

Focial insurance

Tax asaers ard subsidies

Receivables from derlvative iransactions

39170

- — = = = = =

Oabeer receivables

2 186 565

Total Current Recelvables

44142 386

s

2
L]
3l

As non-current receivables, the Company records advance payments made in the tolal amount of
EUR 1 186 3562 related to the lease of office premises and parking spaces, These advance payments are
made to the lessors as 8 deposit which totals several times the monthly rent. Unless the Company violates
the contractual terms and conditions, the deposits will be used for the settlement of the last monthly
rents when the lease terminates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company records other non-current receivables from subsidiaries totalling
EUR 522 210.

The Company records trade receivables from group companies in the amount of EUR 27 619 596.

20
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The Company's other current receivables primarily comprise an awarded claim from litigation against
Future Time S.r.1. in the gross amount of EUR 2 153 202 (Information on the litigation is presented in
Mote 11. Other Assets and Other Liabilities, Section 3. Litigations).

Information on the ageing structure of reccivables as at 31 December 2020:

Item

Within Mattrtty

b

Non-currens, Hecelvables

Chiher trade receivables

Temde peceivables from grosp companies

Trade receivables within a paricipating interesi
encept for receivables from group companiss

1 185 037

I 185037

Onhwer receivables rom

partheipants i a0 Bsscciation

‘Td& 553

Ty SE3

Receivables from paniness, members and

hbher receivables

& 5%

9 5449

Total Mop-current Recehables

1%l 219

1041119

Current Fectivabbes

Trade recenvables from group companies

20493 418

3 434 235

23 977 663

[ Teade receivables within & panscipating interest
nmmq:ﬁurﬂmmnhhﬂihlﬂﬂmmg:ﬂmpunm

Obeer rradec recelvables

5 140 752

18 763 176

periicigants in sn asociation

Cubher receivables firom growp companies
Recervables From panmers, members and

3 622 384

Social insurance

Tax assets and subsidics

2 BBT 162

| Ouher receivables

Receivables from derivative iranssclions

2 BET 562

164 624

Bé G4

‘Total Corrent Receivables

38 686 406

T 056 619

45 T4 035

[nformation on the development of provisions for receivables:

Receivabhes

Opening Balance

Heversal
Owing to the
Cessation of
Junid N bellidy

Revarsal
Owing o the

Clesing Balance

b

Trwde recenables

2491 306

]

3 all 656

Receivables from
subsklizries and the parent

| CONEPY
Outhezr imtereampany

receivables

Receivables firom paniawers,
members and padicipants
i @ aesoantion

Chilver receivables

Total Reseivables

2 401 806

1 727 509

b

506 992

3411 656

In 2021, the Company created provisions for receivables for which it identified a risk of default. This
primarily applies to receivables from Future Time Sr.l. and Initee Latvia OU. Provisions for other
receivables were created according to the rules stipalated by the Income Tax Act.

This. 5 b Deginh lefypube b inlitcn of i crigrmal Howak Lnguegs gocsment.
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The Company wrote off for tax purposes and cancelled the remaining portion of & provision for
receivables from Sakri IT Soluticns Pvt Ltd and Microsofi Corporation in the amount of EUR 86 506
and EUR. 5 399, respectively.

The Company also cancelled 2 provision for a receivable from Future Time S.1.1. in the amount of EUR
715087, as the Court of Arbitration of the Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry did not
acknowledge the Company's claim to this amount and the receivable was derecognised from the
accounting books as at 31 December 2021 {Information on the lifigation is presented in Note 11. Other
Assets and Other Liabilities, Section 3. Litigations).

The Company reversed a provision for receivable from other customers tolallng EUR 667 due to its
payment.

The Company also analysed overdue receivables. The Company did not create ary provisions for
receivables paid after the reponting date. The Company did not create provisions for receivables from
ESET Group companies.

‘The Company has no receivables secured by a lien or other form of security, nor does it have any
receivables under len or receivables with restricted handing on the pari of the Company.

6. Deferred Tax Ascet
The caleulation of a deferred tax asset is shown in the table below:

; Imenedis
Iters Ko Papceise nrmdhl.l'::-lrﬂll:
Period
?ﬂpﬂlﬂ'ﬂfitm between the tarryiog amoanl of arets
and the tay base: 5 523 052 4 &9 B5G |
Tax-dedactiblbe 5523050 | _ 4 EO8ESE
Taxable . o o
Temporary differences between the carrying amosat of Rabiliies
anvd the lax have: 9 508 B&T 1 123 49
‘Tax-deduetibie 9 50E 857 | 2 232049
| Tagable [ [0
| Possibility of carvying forward the tax loss L] [
Possibility of transferring unclaimed fax deductions
Income tax rate (o %) 21 | 1
 Deferred tax asset 3 156 708 &7 970
tax 1 703 753 =407 370
Rocogaised as a docroase in costs ! 703 733 =407 571
jazel i 1] [
1] 0
1] [1]
1] i
1] a

The Company adjusted the presentation of certain data for the immediately-preceding reporting period
Lo ensure the comparability of data presented in the table above.
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7.  Current Financial Assets
Information on current financial assets:

Cash on hand, stamps and vouchers - S84
Biank aceounts — curmen TI423 T BO 74T 510
Kank accounts — term deposits . L1 540 000 |
Cash in transit - S
| Todal T 42271 92 274 096

The Company may [reely dispose of the finds in its bank accounts.

The Company does not own non-current financial asscts in the form of equity or debt securities or in
another form. The Company has no non-current fingncial assets under lien or with restricted handling
on the part the Company. The current financial assets are valued at their face value. The Company
created mo provisions for current financial assets.

8.  Deferred Expenses and Accrued Income
Information on significant items of deferred expenses and accrued income;

% Immediately-

Teem Current Repertiog Period mmdi;; :-drnrﬂil
Nop-corrent deferred experses; of which: 366 402 263 M
T support 246 244 155 436
WaTTERDY SErvice 0 B
Certification cxpentes 140 905 |
Licences 1146 534 5H 965
Domains _ 0 _1m
Sarvices 2 583 7 148
Current deforred pxpenses, of which: 3 144 145 2 132 587
Licences 1 091 586 706 878
[Rent 502 104 59 903
IT support 461 470 a32 2712
i , ¢ 63 035 23800
ddembership focs 613 E?5 19 323
Certifieninn Expenses 2 1] 2 505
Insurance 20 443 30 2R7
Wartanty service 0 B
Conference fbes 311 441 455433
Alr tickeis 12332 332
Dmating L] i 27T
[ Other 86037 TE
Non-current accrwed income, of which; ] ]
| Current accrued income, of which: 985 249 125958
deats 241 287 225 958

| I-SET deul £92 ER3 i
Cither 51 299 1]

Thiks b e Erghal lergui e Bricalation of e soigined Bowsk Liagsagr b uiment.
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6. DATA DISCLOSED ON THE LIABILITIES SIDE OF THE BALANCE

SHEET
a.  Equity
Information on the distribution of the accounting profit for the 2021 calendar year:
 Boemm Immedistely preceding Reporting Period
Aetoun Prafit _ L _';E 164 453 |
Diistribution of Accownting Profit Currend Reporiing Period
Adlabmeni i the legal resarve furd a
Allohment io stshaiory and other fends
| Adlotment o the social fand
Adlatment o inchomme sered capital =
Letlernent al & loss from previows years .

Lo retnined exmings from TE 164 453

Distribudion af thare in profit o partzess T
ches :
TOTAL 78 1564 453

b.  Proposal for Distribution of Accounting Profit or Settlement of Loss for 2021

Profit after taxation for the reponting period ended 31 December 2021 was EUR 84 845 073. A proposal
to distribute the profit 1o the sharcholders based on their shares will be submiited to the Company’s
Board of Directors and General Meeting for approval.

& Provisions for Liabilities

Information on the struciure of provisions for liabilities as at 31 December 2027:

C!lrntllltnlﬁ!rﬂhd

e Balance Trorda ﬂm el lﬂl_u-

a b [ d_ e f
Loag-tera: Pravisiess far Liabilitias 1155814 631771 ll!iitli - - & 37077
Provizion far employes loyalty bomus i i25 514 2044 156 -I fsiau = 2049 154
Provison for halty vacation - 3 135 546 3136 546
Provision lor mansgement and key peruomnel " i 190089
| Lonases 1 190 069 2 -
Short-ferm Provitions for Linbilities, of which: 2 532 078 1.301 929 1531 078 -l 4502604
Provigion for unused vacation duys 1 400919 1 301 929 1400 919 1 301929
Provision fior social socurity irgemancy relaied o
usged wpcation day 493 13) 43 270 2 1D kel
Provision for employee loyalty borus 127 504 163 706 127 34 = 163 T
Provision for koyalty vacation . 257 637 . . 257637
Provizion far manspement and key personnel
 borses - 483 393 - - 453 363
Provision for audii 9740 207 286 99 T4 = 207 285
Provision for withholding tax |24 626 | 192 530 124 626 . [92 530
T W — 5 070 BdE 163 _ _ 50M0, E B46 163
Provision for other services 280 796 591 680 260 796 - 591 680

24
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In 2021, the Company created a long-term provision for an employee loyalty bonus in the amount of
EUR 2 044 156 (2020: EUR 1 155 814). Based on & change 1o the internal guidelines, the Company also
created a non-current portion of the provision for loyalty vacation days in the amount or EUR 3 136 546
and a non-current portion of the provision for Company management and key persennel bonuses in the
amouri of EUR 1 190 069.

In 2021, the Company created a provision for unused vacation days and the related social and health
insurance payments and contributions paid by employers for their employees in the Slovak Republic in
the amount of EUR 1 760 208 (2020: EUR. 1 894 042).

The Co also created a short-term provision for an employee loyalty bonus in the amourt of ELR
163 705 (2020: EUR. 127 804).

Based on a change 10 the internal guidelines, the C glso created a current portion of the provision
for lovalty vacation days in the amount or EUR 257 637 and a current portion of the provision for
Company management and key personnel bonuses in the amount of EUR 483 393,

In 2021, the Company created & provision for withholding tax of EUR 192 530 (2020: EUR 124 626).

In additfon to & provision for other services in the amount of EUR 591 680 (2020: EUR 280 796), as at
31 Decernber 2021 the Company also created & provision for performance bonuses and related social
and health insurance payments and contributions paid by the empioyer in the amount of EUR 845 163
for December 2021, which will be paid in 2022 {2020: EUR 5 070).

Information on the structure of provisions for liabilities 2s at 31 December 2020:

+ Dl b bfygui o FacRRBon of the crgnal Moeak sl Bo0uitenl,

Current Reporting Period

Tiem Clesing

PMAINE | Creation Use |Cancellation| o t*n€

a b £ d [ r

Lamg=term Provislons for Lishdlikes 13 305 1185814 Y13 395 - 1155814
Short-term Provigbens for Liabiites, of
whith: 2211 487 1531078 1212457 - 1 517 078
Provision for unused vecation days BS993 140 519 599 936 - 1 400 91%
Provision for social security infurance
relsted 1o onssed vecstion days & TTE -l-!l; 123 318 ‘ﬁ'ﬁ - 4538 125
Provision for loyalty 93 pEa 127 B0 93 05 = 127804
Provwision for sudig 113 820 9 T4 113 E20 - 29 740
Proviskon for witlsholding tax 2125 535 134 624 X2 535 - 124 626
Pravisien for honuses 345 612 5 70 343 622 - 2070
Prowvigion for ofher services 2T 717 280 796 21T Y = 180
Provision T oher s G0l 187 217 727 901 LAY 217727
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Information on liabilitics as at 31 December 2021:

The Company does not record any payables secured by a lien or other form of secarity.

ESET, 3poil. 5 1.0,

Liabilithes with Residual
Maturity of Over 5 Years

Liabilities with Residus!
Muturity of Brtwoen | and
S Years

]

Parables to pariners, members gnd participants
it 48 As0ciation

ithes

| Ocher lisbal
Todal Mon-curreat Liabilities

235 104

Liabilities with Retidusl
Maturity of Up to | Year
Incloshe

Total Linbdlities

 Current Lishilities

| Trade payables to

3 184 771

4761 625

Tracc payalsles within & panicipating intesear
| except for payables from group companies

6 550 466

Other trade paysbles

5 159 928

Cither 1]

-

| Uther payables te group companics
Payables to parimers, members and participants
I'Illim

18

[ e ]

Wﬂm

4 775 481

4 775 481 |

[ Tax liabilities and subsidies

2 025 940

2025940

Payables from derivative trarsacthons

[ Ot Tiabilithes

285 SHE

286 559

LTota) Corrent Lisbilkies

17434 418

1§ 401 810

sEraglonhs lanpyags cranslstion of the orignal Slovit lingulph datuiase
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Information on liabilitics as a1 31 December 2020:
Laabilithes wilh Residual Lkatvilities wish Fursidaal
Mt Madurity of Over 5 Years pi: ;'!_""n“" ¥, [P Te—
= a b o d
Man-carrent Lizbliilies
Tracke payables io group companics = =
Trade paryables within a parlioipating mbenest except
| {xther trade payahles - .
| Ocher payahies to group companies
Payables to pafners, mambeds and participants in an
Ochtr liahalules = 177619 177 619
Total Non-current Lisbilifies - 177619 177619
Lisbi@ddes whik Resldwsl
] Maturity of Up ta | Year | Orverdue Lishiliies | Totsl |iahibithes
Imelasive
Current Lish{lities
| Teade pavables to group companics 2965 052 2603 D000 3 x5 oez
Trade payables within & paticipating Enberest excepl = i L
fior seceivalbles from group companic
[kher imde payables 3 7431 825 114 5 Es4 Rl6
| Ocher payahles to group companies 13 292 000 13 929 000
Payablea to panoecs, reembes and participanis in an
| association 28 30 5t 23 384 5H
Social security insuranee and employers 4 TRO 218 - 4 TEO 218 |
Tax lnhifities snd subsidies 678 R67 . H7R BAT
| Payables from derivarive ransactions ; . ;
| Ocher lmbaliibes 51 645 - 53 845
Toisl Corrent Linbilities 4E B9 181 370 001 40 260 172

Englah Language Trssunen of 1 ohjre Pivsl npuaps dorumest
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e Social Fand
Information on social fund payables:
Jem Curreat Reporting Period | Immedia eding Perlod
nitial bala I fund TTEM 122070
Creatlon of the social fund debiced 1o costs J79 579 a4 418 )
| Cregtion of the sccial Mand from pooliz % 3

iy ial fund - =
Total creathan of 1he social fund 79 579 344 418
Drawing from thi: ssclal fund IR S 18R BT7
Closing Balunece 23% 104 177 620

In 2021, the Company created the social fund using the following resources:
I. A monthly allotment in the amount of 1% of gross wages and salaries recognised for payment
to employees for a calendar year; and

Drawing of the social fund in 2021:
2. Contribution for employees® meals.

f. Bank Loans
The Company does not have any bank loans.

g  Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income

I mmediately-preceding

Ttem Current Reporting Period Rapaating Feried
Non-curreni scereed expenses, of which: -
Rent . .

169 147 £4 30
Salus bonuses o
Rent for Aupark Toveer until 2022 2649 147 54 301
Non-current deforred income, af which: 153 199 158 S0
247 mapaort i —
Revenoes from the sale of services — EMEA 151 X0 258 G0
Current deferred income, of which: 935 557 509 571 |
24,7 - Z
Revenues from ihe tale of services - EMEA 935 557 S0 5T

rghes ropusnpn tranplasiin of the Sopanl Udak Lirguage dedunerd
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Revenues from the sale of services by parties to which services were provided in 2021 are presented in
the 1able below:

Immedintely-
Hem Current Reporting | preceding Reparting
Period Period
Revenues from the sale of services te thind pariies 2E8 319 437 2179 ¥ 6s
Revenues from the sale of services to relzted parties 276 162 575 254 524 148 |
Total 544 482011 £33 914 804

Revenues from the sale of services to unrelated parties comprise the sale of licences directly 10 end
customers and the sale through a network of distributors and resellers outside the ESET Group. The sale
of licences by the ESET Group's distributors andf/or subsidiarics is recognised in the line “Revenues
from the sale of services to relaled parties™.

2. Changes in Inventories Developed Internally
The Company does not develop inventories internally.

A Capitalisation of Costs
The Company did not perfoom any capitalisetion of costs in 2021 and in previous years.

1 Eirgrih, g MET Drafriket oo of the @ripnal Slowak Linguage 3¢ atal
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4.  Other Operating Revenues, Revenves from Financing Activities and
Revenues of Extrasrdinary Scope or Occarrence
Immed ltelys
Item c'm:'mis riing prceding HReperiisg
Periad
| Other maerial items of eperating revenpes, of which: T 155 Bob 1773014
from reirvai of lﬂ_ﬂ_ﬁﬂ 3105 e
fuirsd " WAT ] = z2 113
| Proceeds from the sale of non-current TA and 1A 2 055013 154 290
[nsurance benaflis 20 267 20 520
Fines and penalties _ 250 198 359
Wiite=oll ol stetmle-burred liahilities 1] 0
| Other operatng reverues 404 B2 172 669
Hmnuhn hlu_h'ﬂhﬂgil'-hl_ﬁ-: 17 a2 322 18 831 Ta6
F 5 &3 dul { B4 826
mennlhmdﬂ: 2ITE &AL 0
{Niver munlerial fesn of Fevenmes g hiwii whici 21 403 320 2 026 900
[nnerest on intercompnny |oans 25603 33731
| nAeress on bank scomanes 32 155 16o 375
L¥ividends from Esel Canada Inc. 16719 b 348
Davidends from Eset Canada Research 50658 63 0GR
Dividends Mmoo Essl LLC 3 251 735 4 212 138
Dividends from Eac ir 382 458 I70 TG
Dividerwds from Esct Rescarch OF 428082 ! 08T 653 |
Dividerds from Eset Poldka 495 473 977 754
Dividends from Esel Meaico a6 Mg 1 194
Dividends lrom Esgl Brasil 21 621
Davidends from Fuot Softaane E | Y78 803
Uivadends fhoen Bt Ressdceh UK 188 215 237432
Dividends from PGNE 133021}2 ;
Dividends frosm Eset Romants a4 993 63 578
Dividerds from Esef ltaly 16 362 4 473
Divedends fromn Fust Dewtsciland 58517 331 405
ﬂh'ﬂifmﬁaﬂmnh 63 231 5] 495
Dividends from ESET Ashs GIRGH :
Extranrdinary révemaes, of which: = z
5. Met Turnover
Immediately-
Tient Current Reporting 5 ize R ting
Peried
| Revenues from own peoducty
| Bevenscs from the sde of sarvices Sid 28] 37 533 014 B
Revenwes from merchandise 508 137 483
COTITRCLE F i
Revenses from real estate for sale = 2
revenues relaied io iVl =
| Total Met Turnever 564 482 011 mmm]

The Company's nef rmaver in the period from 2013 ta 2021 Is based on an amendment fo Act No. 1352014 Call. on

Accouniing and iy bs Nne with fncome Statement line 0.

That i 801 Eglinh bamguage transhaion of (he original Siovel nguage documen.
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8. EXPENSES
1.  Cosis of Services Provided and Material [tems of (ther Expenses
Immediately-
Ttem ﬂm, m”h‘ preceding Reporting
| Costs of services pravided, of which: WS 3| 379 513581
Cost of the andt firm, of which. 207 236 175020
Costs of sditing separaie financial sistemenis 63 630 &1 000
 Other pysirance pudit serveces 143 656 114 630 |
Redated awdi services .
Tax sdvisory services & 750 i
Cither mon-aadil services -
Crher malerkal items of cosis of provaded services, of which: J03 058 284 178 S
Costs of disiributors’ aclivilies 47 245 6 334 J27 916
Costs of sdvertising and marketing commumication 5475 ER2 7733 526
Coosts of rent 3699 347 3 B55 TR0
Costs af 1aiermse and dara services 0T & 352 §99
Comractors’ services 13 084 O 21 975 T4
‘I'ranslations of localisation lexts 425 139 434 874
Enferiaincnent expenises 852 166413
Saltware services 3981 [0 3 408 120
| Travel capenscs o427 263 343
Parchase of low-vabse sofraare, low-value non-cumrem (A, licenses,
 dompins 31980 2311697
4 ard caber advisacy wrvice 1304 719 132 718
1T serviee I 350 257 1 220083
Membership fees 1 I025T7 457 907
Chher services 5TH 713 1 3%4 111
Other material ioms of operating expenies, of which: #1270 803 &5 049 153
| Depreciation/amerntization charges for non carrent TA and non-current LA 4551 414 4 300
[ Taxes and foes 258 B43 | 38972
| Dither expenses G408 TS & 562 90%
Totad perscemel i 47 004 Tib 54 047 019
Wages and salaries 47 RE0 BEG IR SO0 440
| Other expemses for dependent sttivities 22 500 28 300
Soci] msumnce 11433 531 9 404 TH8
Health insurance 4 471 I8 4 252 287 |
Sockal security 3020 221 i 70733
. 4 643 704 TAIRETE
Prowixion for financial invessraend - 544 585 s
| Fureiyr exchamge losses, of which: 2038 211 7 404 381
Foreign exchange losses as ai the reponing date - 3 0a% 928
Chthver mranerial Dess of Inamce casts, o wikch: ELl J4 497
| Bank chasges 38 070 14470
Cther costs 187% 27
| Expeases of cxtraordinary scope or eccurrence, of which: -

Tt & an Ergleih linguage Eramnlytisn of 1k Shginad Soval Linguage doasnenl,
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9. INCOME TAX
The reconciliation of accounting profit/loss and the income tax bese is presented in the table below:

___Curreat Reporting Period___| Immediately-preceding Reporting Peried
ltem T Tax in
ax Base Tax "% Taz Base Taz Tax in %
Profitlass prior 1o tecation, of which: | 105 526 801 % K % A5 SBR i 1
Theonetical o x|l 32 160 647 sy =) [98T6B33 21
Tax ron-deductible experses 15723 939 3302027 21 2096814 440 21
| Revenues exempt froen taxation 21436 840 -4 501 736 21] -BOGVNBO[ -1 %48 568 _ 21|
!‘:‘:h'n:l of mneoognised defered % . a c
iGN Tax o X
_]'ﬁ: kot carried farwand X X x x .3 ]
Change in the tax rate 1 ]
(xher SITTAER| -9 120 i A 3E 048 | -1 942 235 x
Tl 94 040 117 [T 21 TRESIOATE] 16487 |37 Fi]
Current income e E_ I 385 551 L F 16 &94 TG7 x
Dreferred ingome tax 5 -1 Tik L3 £ -40°7 571 i
Total Income Tax x b aR1 RiR i x 16 487 136 21

10.0OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS

In 2021, the Company did not record any information in off-balance shee? sccounts.

11.OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Corporate social responsibility is a priority for the Company and it considers corporate philanthropy to
be a significant part of its corporate culture. In 2011, the Company established Nadécia ( Foundation) o
support and promaote publicly-beneficial activities, primarily the development of education, science,
training, physical education and sports, the development and protection of spiritual and cultural values
and other activities. In 2021, Naddcia provided contributions to Individuals and legal entities in an
amount exceeding EUR 206 385. In 2021, the Company provided contributions 1o Nadicia ESET (ESET
Foundation) totalling EUR 745 060,

1.  Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Tax returns remain open and may be subject to review over a five-year period. The fact that a certain
period or tax retum related to this period has been subject to review does not eliminate the possibility of
this period being subject to a further review during the five-year period. Accordingly, as at 31 December
2021, the Company's tax returns for 2017 to 2021 remain open and may be subject to review.

The Company leases office and operation premises under an operating lease. In several contracts, the
Company has an option of one-off termination of the contract by the lessse, or is entitled 1o terminaie a
lease contract for any reason or for convenience within a specified notice period. Upon termination of
the contracts, the Company is also required to remove any modifications made and remedy any damage.
Compensations and contrectual penaliies arising from such provisions of the contracts have no
significant effect on the financial statements,

This i anEnghah language esiabon of the angies Foset apuge Soowme
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2. Othber Financial Obligations

The Company has no other financial obligations recorded in the bookkeeping that must be disclosed in
the balance sheet.

8 Litigation
FINJAN Inc.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries were a party 10 three litigations with
FINJAMN, Ing.

. Ina litigation in which ESET, spol. s r.0. and its subsidiary, ESET, LLC arc the deferdant,
FINJAN [nc. tock legal action against both companies for alleged breach of six patents registered
in the US by FINJAN Inc.

2. Ina litigation in which ESET. spol. s r.0. and its subsidiary, ESET Deutschland GmbH, are the
defendant, FINJAN Inc. took legal action against both companies due to an alleged breach of a
patent registered by FINJAN Inc.

3. ESET, spol. s r.0. is involved in litigation as the plaintiff regarding patent invalidity with FTMJIAN
Ing. as the defendant. This is a patent with regard to which FINJAN (oc. 100k legal action due its
breach, in the litigation abowve.

As at 31 December 2021, proceedings continue under paragraph 2, which were suspended in 2018
pending a ruling on the invalidity of the patent of FINJAN Inc. On 13 April 2021, in proceedings under
paragraph 3, the Bundesgerichthof (German Supreme Court) revoked the patent court’s ruling on the
invalidity of the patent of FINJAN Inc. in November 2018 and ruled that the patent remains unchanged.
These proceedings only remain open with respect to the ruling on the amount of the costs of the
procesdings.

In the US litigation (paragraph 1), the proccedings continued with a discovery stage in Febmary 2021,
the fact-related part of which was completed. In March 2021, based on an earlier petition of the
Campany, the court ruled on the invalidity of five of the six patents in these proceedings. At the end of
March, the court permitted FINJAN Ine. to file a motion for reconsideration, via which FINJAN Inc.
seeks a change of the Court’s ruling. The motion was dismissed by a judge in May 2021. FINJAN Inc.
appealed against this decision to the Federal Court of Appeal. In addition, the court ruled on the
scparation of proceedings on the “305 patent from other patents. The proceedings on the “305 patent
were adjourned until a ruling on other patents is issued, including appellate proceedings.

A hearing on the appeal filed by FINJAN Inc. with the Federal Court of Appeals is expected in 2022,
Az none of these litigations meet the conditions for creating provisions under Aricle 19 of the
Accounting Procedures, the Company recorded no provision for potential losses as at 31 December
2021.

Future Time S.r.L
In Jampary 2021, the former ltalian distribuzor, Future Time 5.r.]., exercised its monetary claims by a
letter due to the termination of & distribution contract. As at 31 December 2021, the Company records a

provision for receivables from the debtor Future Time §.r.l. Future Time S.r.1. exercised its claims at the
Court of Arbitration of the Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry.

T s an Ergfinks Leage MEE tabilah o of fhe orgpna! el langeage Bedurmesl.
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In 2021, the Company submitted its comments on the arguments presented by Future Time S0, and
brought its own claims. In autumn 2021, oral hearings were held at the Court of Arbitration of the Slovak
Chamber of Commerce and Industry, at which 1he action was partially withdrawn by Future Time S.r.l.
A cloging hearing was held in December 2021 and the award was delivered to the Company in February
2022. The court dismissed the action of Future Time S.r.L. in its entirety, partially acknowledged our
counterclaims and ordered both parties 1o pay certain costs of the proceedings.

When analysing the impact of the above award on the financial staternents prepared as at 31 December
2021, the Company also reflected the likelihood of the payment of the claims granted based on the
award.

On the basis of the received award, the Company also derecognised a receivable of EUR 715 087 from
Future Time 5.r.l., as the court did not recognise this claim of the Company.

12.INCOME AND BENEFITS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE
STATUTORY BODIES

Mldlmnhﬂ:dmuﬂ Amannt of Inconse, Benefits ol
Members of Former Memberaof
b e
Type of Income, Benefln i

Statulory | Supérvieory Other Stetutory | Seopervisory Diker

Bl ien Bodies Bodics Bodies Bodics Baodics

Pari | - Current Reporting Period ari 1 - Cerrent Reporting Period

Part I - immadiste]y-precoding
; 28 500 N x K i K
e 28 B0 i X K X K
X 1 T6S N X 4 = u
In-kird income 3765 X : - = m
L ! x L] X L)
Mometany advance paymenls = = 3 x x %
, , X X X X x 5
- pay X X i K x E
ichesd % % X K x X
. — A X L X L)
G 3 1 X . ] x X x x
X _-_.l_._ E = E =
I:II x . & b 1 5
x E. 9 K K i L4

The above table in the line “Monetary income™ comprises remuneration paid to the statutory
representatives in relation to their office of the Company’s statutory representatives during the reporting
period. Non-monetary income comprises issued meal vouchers comesponding with the number of
business days in the calendar year.

In 2021, the Company's Board of Directors decided on the payment of dividends to shareholders. All

the Company's statulory representatives are also shareholders. Information about paid dividends is
presented in Vode J6. Changes in Equily.

T i an Cmglinh lmguage ITA0 ST &F Mt original Soval Ingulge Go0RmEnt
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13. ECONOMIC RELATIONS OF THE COMPANY WITH RELATED
PARTIES

The Company carried out transactions with its subsidiaries during the reporting period, which are listed

in the table on the following page:

Comments:
Transaction Type Code:

Sale of merchandise

Purchase of merchandise and services

Revenue from the sale of licences/
expense from the sale of licences

Borrowings
1 Dividends received

1
2
3 Provision of services
5
8
1

The Company performed the following transactions with its subsidiaries during the reporting period:

Thw i s Engiiah e papr Ararabe b ol s o0 ierar] Blosah Mspage Sarumsnt.

Tranzaciion Value
Subsidiary m Cusrent Reportiag |  Iorwedintely-preceding
Period Reperting Peried
x h L d
ESET software spol, 3 1.0, F 75 312 3115
ESET softwan: spol, 5 £.0, 3 452 505 115 THI
Eﬂﬂ;ﬂ!mmﬂ].:rﬂ—hmmmﬂauf 5 37 953 9% 21 341 482
e N Lo FR e s 11533285 10499 139
ESET software spol. s £.0. 11 FHT 458 370 756
ESET software spol. s £.0. [ 04 450
ESET Research Czech Republic sr.o. I BO1E 929 & &4 470
ESET Rewarch Caech W AT 2 149220 )
ESET Resmsarch Czech Republic s.r.o 3 4015
ESET Reszarch Coech Republic s.ro, — Revenue fom the < 84927
sale of Bocnoes
ESET Research Crech Repoblic 5.rp 11 423 Q8T 1 087 653
ESET. 144 I 2 X4 210 2 574 ORZ
ESET. LLC 2 1066953 715
ESET, LLC 3 170937 [16616
ESET, LLC = Rewemee from fhe sale of Boences 5 113 5h6 745 112 964 673
ESET, LLC - Expense from the sale of liconces 5 THal&931 TT 681 164
ESET, LLC il 3 250 135 4212 138
ESET, LLC dar 442
ESET ASIA PTE.LTD. [ 1210401 1 552016
ESET aslA PTE. LTIL 2 M2 Jon
ESET ASIA PTE. LTD. 3 57408 42 503
:iE:;EMPTE- LTD. - Reverue from the sale of 5 28 132 583 26 287 124
EHAﬁIAFTE.LTD--E&:pmﬁwh-m# 5 19 905 552 18 620 925
licences
ESET ASIA PTE. LTD. I &IB 01|
ESET Canasda Ine. 3 4 T 14 32
ESET Cansda Ing. = Revense from the sale of licences ] 13 [&3 (B 12 402 0&7
36
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ESET, spal. £ 7.0,
EEETLMIH.-E:EEM&:HHQHW § T 56E 167 T2 186
ESET Canada Inc. i1 BT aTi 162 148
ESET Canads Recherche lnc. ] | 207 775 | 104 987
ESET Canscla Rechorche Inc. 2 32513 1 B4E
ESET El.ltl:i!:mhﬂﬂ:!n:. 3 - 9 QB3
ESET Carada Rechonche Ing, - Revense from the sale of 5 28 240
licentes
ESET Capada Recherche Inz. i . 163 DGE
ESET DO BRASIL MARKETING LTDA I i 152 918 953 571
ESET DO BRASIL MARKETIMG LTDA 3 3 DR 107 566
FSET DO BRASIL MARKETING LTDA - Revenuve g . L6 608
from the sle of loeroes
ESET DO BRASIL MARKETING LTDA 11 : 11 716
ESET DO BRASIL MARKETING LTDA 2 21 919
ESET DX BRASIL MARKETING LTDA BP 47 950
ESET Polskasp. 2 0.0, I 650 3 BB5 516
ESET Polska sp. 2 0.0, 2 213872 18711
ESET Polska 5. Z 0.0, 3 ] 34 000
ESET Polska 2. 2 0.0, — Reveniee from the sale of licences 5 - 123 971
ESET Polska sp. 2 0.0 I 499473 977 754
ESET Deutschipng Gt i ] -
ESET Deutschisnd Gamb 2 2033 §a0 347
ESET Deantschiand Cambi 3 223 23 A 877
rﬁﬁmdm-mhnhﬂﬂ 5 a6 551 596 43040 654
ﬁﬁ;ﬂm&ﬁﬂm—mﬁmh:ﬁui 5 31 489 351 30 890 B02
ESET Dewtschiand G il ZRE 173 533 dls
ESET Software Ausoralia Fry Lad - 3575
FESET Software Australin Pty Lad 3 7§50 a1
ESET Saftwwrs Al Py 143 - Brvoms st sk - - -
t?rThﬂthﬂqulld—Emﬁnuhnh 5 3517 666 1546 580
(ESET Softure Autralia Fry Lid i 68231 51496
ESET Software Australia Pry Lid r. T8 354
_E?JTT LATINDAMERICA S R.L. 2 B0 406 L L0
ESET LATINDAMERICA 5.R.L. 3 25 670 16113
ESET LATINOAMERICA S RL. 5 - 47 643
ESET RESEARCH UK Limised (DESlock) ] 1 573 837 1293719
ESET RESEARCH UK Limised (DESIock) F 45 |11 LELT
ESET RESEARCH UK Limited {DESIock) 3 J0E 3 589
ESET RESEARCH UK Limited {DESlock) - Revere : 5 e
 Erozn the: sale of licences
ESET RESEARCH LK Limted {1W-5lock ) 1 &8 S 837 432
ESET Romaria 1 T15 581 8 Bal
_ESET Romania F 42 4TE | 83
ESET Ramania 3 0 232583
ESET Romania 5 - 16 387
ESET Romania i 44 493 63 5T
ESET SOFTWARE UK ((NH) 2 174 265 629
ESET SOFTWARE UK (DNH) 3 229 B9 6 700
ﬂE?ErEUFITAHI;UKmHIIyRﬂmhmﬂtﬂk 5 24 863 T30 21 343 158
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ESET, spod. 5 i
EET SOFTWARE UK (QNH) - Expense from the szle s 14 846 275 12 912 063
ESET SOFTWARE UK (QNH) 1 1 278 303 185 §E6
ESET SOFTWARE UK (QNH) I 491 489
ESET Japan Inc. i 2132863 T 455 813
ESET Japan Inc. 3 11937 16047
FSET Japan Inc. 5 - 18 537
ESET Japan Inc. — leierest on bomowing il 9 15672
ESET Japan Ing, - Bormowing peovided BF 193 01 482 132
ESET lapan Ine.. r; 31363
ESET ITALIA Srl. [ - 122 368
ESET ITALIA Sxl. 1 102 o2 15 509
ESET ITALIA S.r.l. 3 42 587 36 659
ESET ITALIA 5.5l = Bevenpe from the sale of heentes 5 20 8% 437 12 972 [=H
ESET ITALIA Sl - Expense from the sale of lsences 5 10719 1719 & 907 536
ESETITALIA S el - Inmeu.‘tmwu! i - 1 903
ESET ITALIA S.r.|.— Bomowing proxided i - 130 000
ESET ITALIA Sx.l. 11 166 162 24473
ESET MEXICO S, deR.L.de C.V. 3 11 208 g
ESET MEXICO S, de R.L.deC.Y. 3 4 169 3410
ESET ME.‘-IIED S deR.L deCV. 5 1 14 494
ESET MEXICO S. de R.L.deC.V. - Inerest on
boricaeiag 8 16 528 14 990
ESET MEXICO §. de R.L. de C.V. — Bomowing provided 8P - 183 381
ESET MEXICD S, deR.L.deC.V. 11 46 108 1195
MNadicia FSET (ESET Foundathon} 3 &l 317 20 323
Madicia ESET LE";EI’ Foundation) r 47 154 B
Medicia ESET (ESET Foundation) dar 700 200 E50 000
PGB 11 13 302 150
14.0THER INFORMATION

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Company

2021 was marked by restrictions and measures related to the continuing COVID-19 pandemic and the

spread of new mutations of the virus.

ESET, spol. & r.o. continued to take preventive measures to provide fully-fledged services, while
protecting the health of its employees and customers. The Company continusd with preventive hygienic

measures supporied by online training courses and home office for most employees of our branches
worldwide, All work activities that did not require the physical presence of employees in the office were

transferred 1o the home office regime.

The Company has a Pandemic Flu Business Continuity Plan in place, which is regularly updated. In linc
with the plen, the Company is ablc to continue to provide its services during a long-term crisis, while
taking into consideration the decisions and regulations of the competent public autherities.

Tri o nghcs lerguage trassaion ot fhe g g nal Sonak lingoage dosumahl
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Liquidation of the subsidiary, PGNB Limited

At the end of 2020, the Company placed into service an acquired share in ESET SOFTWARE UK
Limited (a subsidiary) in the amount of EUR 13 292 000, which arose upon the acquisition of a [00%
share from the former owner PGNB Limited (a subsidiary), with its repistered office at 5th Floor,
Holland House, 20 Oxford Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, United Kingdom. In 2021, the Company took
steps 1o liquidate PGNB Limited. PGNB Limited will be deleted from the UK Companies Register in
2022,

15.EVENTS THAT OCCURRED BETWEEN THE REPORTING DATE
AND THE DATE ON WHICH THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WERE AUTHORISED FOR ISSUE

From 31 December 2021 up to the preparation date of the financial stazements, there were no such
evenis, other than those described below, that would have a significant impact on the Company®s assets
and liabilittes.

[nformation about the Company’s pending litigation is presented in MNote 11 OTHER ASSETS AND
OTHER LIABILITIES.
Establishment of the Company’s Supervisory Board from 1 January 2022

On | January 2022, the Company fulfilled the conditions stipulated in Article 2 (15) {f) of Acl No.
4232015 on Statutory Audit and became an entity subject to oversight (a large corporation)).

On the basis of the fulfilment of the above conditions, the Company became obliged to set up a
supervisory board or an audit committce pursuant to Article 34 (1) of Act No. 42372015 on Statutory
Audit. The Company fulfilled it obligation and established the supervisory boerd as of | January 2022

composed of the following members:

First name and surname Paosition Date of Appointment
Ing. Matej Bodfiak Chairman of the Supervisory Board 1 January 2022 |
Ing. Marod Grund Member of the Supervisory Board | January 2022 |
RMDr. Anton Zajac Member of the Supervizory Board 1 January 2022

Obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS EU)

As of | January 2022, the Company meets the criteria under Article 17a (2) of Act No. 43172002 Coll,
on Accounting and will prepare separate financial statements in accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS EU) as a1 31 December 2022. The accounting
principles used by the ESET Group for financial reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS EL are set
out in the ESET Group's consalidated Mmancial statements.

Thii i am el LImg g Tren 3T 5 P o igprea Uesask Laspusge Soum et
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Military Conflict in Ukraine

The ongoing mililary conflict in Ukraine and the related sanctions targeted against the Russian
Federation may have an impact on the Company. The Company identified revenves from sales o
customers from the Russian Federation and Ukraine and assessed that revenues from these sales to
customers accounted for 5% of net turmover for 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the Company recorded
no assets, liabilities, expenses or revenues denominated in Russian roubles.

In view of the above situation, the Company also ended the sale of products 1o new customers in Russia
and Belarus from & March 2022 to make clear its position and support for Ukraine and its people.

This may result in assumptions and estimates requiring revisions which may lead 1o maierial adjustments
to the camrying amount of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Management expects that this
may affect the assumptions and estimates used when determining the amount of receivables from sales
to customers from the Russian Federation, provisions for long-term employee benefits due to the further
development of actuarizl assumptions and other estimates required to prepare the financial statements.
At this siage, Company management is unable to reliably estimate the impact as events are unfolding
day-by-day.

The long-term impact may also affect trading volumes, cash flows, and profitability.
Other

The Company will recognise any negalive impacts andfor future foreign exchange losses in its
accounting books and financial statements for 2022, Potential losses do not have an impact on the
financial statements as atl 3| December 2021.

i i kanga e trandatan of e or gl ok Lingrage deurmi.
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16.CHANGES IN EQUITY

At a meeting held on 11 June 2021, the Board of Directors of ESET, spol. s r.o. decided on the

of the profitless for the current reporting period in the amourt of EUR 78 164 453, The Board of
Directors decided to transfer the 2020 retained profit in the amount of EUR 78 164 453 to Retained
eamings from previous years,

MNotes to the Financhal Stotements a5 of 31 December 2021
ESET, spal. 5 100,

At ameeting held on 11 June 2021, the Board of Directors decided on the payment of shares in profit in
the amount of EUR 77 830 087 to sharcholders under the Memorandum of Association by 30 Movember
2021. Dividends were paid on 22 Junc 2021 and 28 September 2021.

Current Reporting Period _
SRy DPENAE | Additions | Disposals Travsfers Opening Balxncr
a -] g d £ f

| Regrmcied copital 140 (KR - - C b4 000
| Treasury shawes and bressury stock - - - = %
Amcmati recervable los subsonised
| capitul
| Shar preméus - %
iiher capits] Sands R R =
legal resarie fmad (non-distributable
fi firorm g sl coniribuiinas . . = - =
Revalzamlon seserve e the evalugion
aif amisas sl Babalitics - - - - =
Revalnstion reserve fromn capital

%ﬁmmm

Legal reiare: fared 14 - - - 14 oai
| Statutory Raschs and other funds 2350887 =1028 388 =
| Resaanid saraings of phevious vear 77 T2 ¥9E 127 58% = 138 hed TE 1684 433

A b & &

Profitfinas for ihe cument repoding 78 168 453 | 34 345070 -TB 164 451 B H50T3
Paid dividends = - T BaT

{iher ety i y 3 -

Aol 491 — Sole propristonrs oguity - . .
Totsl 158 352 THE | B4 972761 | - TH 856 675
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Eaquity Ftem

Disposals

Transfers

—

Change in the registered

capital
Amounis receivable for subseribed

| capial
ﬂwzmium

CHiheer capatal funds

Legal reseree fumd (nen-distributable
I!' i

| S} from capital contributions
E:-tmw:_llmmm from the 2

Tevplugtion of avpets and lighilnies
B.tuﬂuu!:n neterve from capizal

|num1hl|.|m
Revalustion réserve from fusions,
mergers and sepatations

[ reserve fund

14 00

Pon-distribaiable fund

Siaiuiory fands amid other fands

4 095 418

=1 P63 431

Retained eamings of previous years

41 155 077

175 900

raTiazl |

Accemulyed lags from previeus

| o
m;mrmnmw'
| pestod

Paid dividends

TE 184 453

=T7 707 ¥

TR 164 453

=40 X¥0 577

40 ¥y 977

Dither equity iems

Account 491 - Sole propriefors
| equity

Total

=i P18 Gl

18 170 |

17.CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 — CASH

FLOW

The cash flow statement is included in Table 1 in the Append:x.
Cash is defined as cash on hand, equivalents of cash equivalenis, cash in current bark accounts, overdrafi

facilities, and part of the balance of the cash-in-fransit.

Cash equivalents are defined as curment financial assets that are readily convertible at an amount of cash
known in advance for which there is no risk of a significant change in their value in the next three months

from the reporting date.

The Company used the indirect method of presenting cash flows from operations.

Thit i #n Englih nguage traealyt o of fu origing hlewak Lopugs fetuftdnl,



Table 1 - Cash Flow Statement

Description Actual amoumnt in EUR
Lo P Linnsg Feporting
Fariod Pericd
Cash (hows from operating achivilies
Z/5 | Profit/logs frem ordinary ciivities before ncomme tax (/=) 103 526 4 631 $iE
[f.l. |Mon-cash brafastiions affecting proflt/loss from ordinary activithe befors Incoms tas (/-] B4E B2E 313
| [Amarmisatin pnd depresiption of nor-cuinent Wanciie andd tangile aswets (+) 91a7a| s w03es
Change |n provvisions for Kpbdies | «f:) 7135 282 e
Changé in provisions for assets [ 4f- ) 14 265 542 | % A 525
L in And revenaes. aocruais -] 1 5¥3 SAs 1 4ir5 GG
it v el ey sha e T T WD)
bo inesevad [-) {25 913} 73 847
Foreign exchange ganioss guantified to cesh nd cash euivalonts o3 Bt the reponting date (-/+] 11 896 153) {198 297)]
[Prefunoss on cales of ron-curent assets except lor those assets considered as cash squivalents [ 4] {2 100} 21 243
|Other non.cath teme {+/1) (33 5a7) 1 1
.. lmwmwhmmmmrmmmum (311486 L 581 427)
[Crarge n recenabies fromn operstions [+ {7 667 6AE {2 636 095)
Chawog in payables Gnpem operiong (4] 4 571 ZH 1%
Change in Inventalies [+/+) {18 159) [EELTEN
n ouTent Snancial ssels o those Incheded b cash and coah eguivalents -+ - {1 3e0)
Cagh fmn-ﬂ;mnﬂ.':tmmwmﬂmmtm%iﬁm il e e
Inienest recssed [+ - 40 119
Tracome tan pakd §-F+3 {19 043 {20 D45 O5%)
Nt cash flow from @ activities II-EEE! 71 741 289
Eagh flew from mitivities L e
[Expenaitures for acquisition of nen-turnent intangibie scosts {-) (3 BDE 013, [L 570 BEF)
Expenditunes for Scquiston of nen-curnent Eangibte aswets (-1 {10 228 S08) {3 340 321)
[Ewpenditunes for acquisimn of lng Larm seounises and sharis n olfey edtns eriept (or telur hed coackdersd
SN SO SOlT R BTHD RENUE TIeEe O S el FRIT Rt G LPawiiete) S [} 196 768} ?m
[FRLOTE O GARlE O NOmN- LR INEEN il SREEts (+) " 164 90
o sade of Aon-ounment e amsets {+ 2 B55 DES =
IPCmes G FapayTrEnt Of AOn-Arrent Doscmassrs proendid by Thir Lomparry 10 AnoAfsie #1Ty 0% 1§ 8 Memoer
pod the comeabdetion group [+] 114 373 00 GG
Intmreet pecesied [+ ) FEETE] ¥y ¥13
is Civulienads and cther prcle ghanng neceved §+) i 055 472 8 8932 Boa
B cash flow from investing actheities {3 7F0 LTy 5292 ga8
0 999 5571
70 599 5 634
" Iﬁ!]
(108 213 91y {18 0630
(104 191 917) 17 Sh4 4
Nt Incremsa ar s TR adh and caal squivslgnts {4 f-) (pggragebs AsB+C) {20 4T 4TS} 60 O¥9 T4E
£ cu:nuﬂﬂnmumh_q?unmm 92 IT4 Db 37 006 051
F WMMHH.JHWWHWWMWWW . IR,
5. . ; date (+/-) 1098 159 198 397
T AITTTL 932 374 056
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